
WTRY Broadcast Schedule Regular Meetings, Wednesday, 6:00 p.m. and 11:00 p.m. Study Meetings, Wednesday, 3:00 p.m. 

 PLANNING COMMISSION 
 MEETING AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING 
 
 

John J. Tagle, Chair, Donald Edmunds, Vice Chair 
Michael W. Hutson, Edward Kempen, Tom Krent, Philip Sanzica 

Gordon Schepke, Robert Schultz and Thomas Strat 
   
January 8, 2013 7:00 P.M. Council Chambers 
   

 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – December 11, 2012 Regular Meeting 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS – For Items Not on the Current Agenda 
 

CONDITIONAL REZONING REQUEST 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARING – CONDITIONAL REZONING APPLICATION (File Number CR 008) – 

Proposed Tim Horton’s Café, Northwest Corner Square Lake and Dequindre, Section 1, 
From NN (Neighborhood Node “N”) to CB (Community Business) District 

 
SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 

 
6. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 

(File Number SU 398) – Proposed Fifth Third Bank, North Side of Big Beaver between 
Lakeview and Alpine (2282 W Big Beaver), Section 20, Currently Zoned BB (Big Beaver) 
District 

 
ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARING – ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number ZOTA 244) – 

Miscellaneous Zoning Ordinance Revisions 
 

SITE CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPMENT 
 
8. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW – Proposed Beachview Estates Site Condominium, 8 

units/lots, West side of Beach Road, 1000’ South of Long Lake, Section 18, Currently Zoned 
R-1A (One Family Residential) District 

  

500 W. Big Beaver 
Troy, MI  48084 
(248) 524-3364 
www.troymi.gov 

planning@troymi.gov 



TROY CITY PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA January 8, 2013 
 
 

WTRY Broadcast Schedule Regular Meetings, Wednesday, 6:00 p.m. and 11: 00 p.m.Study Meetings, Wednesday, 3:00 p.m. 
 

2 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
9. ELECTION OF OFFICERS FOR 2013 
 

10. PUBLIC COMMENTS – For Items on Current Agenda 
 

11. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
NOTICE: People with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk by e-mail at 

clerk@troymi.gov or by calling (248) 524-3317 at least two working days in advance of the meeting.  An attempt will be made to make 
reasonable accommodations. 

mailto:clerk@ci.troy.mi.us�


PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT DECEMBER 11, 2012 
  
 
 

1 
 

Chair Tagle called the Regular meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission to order at 
7:00 p.m. on December 11, 2012 in the Council Chamber of the Troy City Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Donald Edmunds 
Michael W. Hutson 
Edward Kempen 
Tom Krent 
Philip Sanzica 
Gordon Schepke 
Robert Schultz 
Thomas Strat 
John J. Tagle 
 
Also Present: 
R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
Susan Lancaster, Assistant City Attorney 
Ben Carlisle, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
Eric Huang, Student Representative 
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution # PC-2012-12-077 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Schepke 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the Agenda as prepared. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
Resolution # PC-2012-12-078 
Moved by: Edmunds 
Seconded by: Krent 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the November 27, 2012 Special/Study meeting 
as published. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT DECEMBER 11, 2012 
  
 
 

2 
 

Yes: All present (8) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items not on the Agenda 

 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
 

REZONING REQUEST 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING APPLICATION (File Number Z 741) – Proposed 1170 

Woodslee, North of Maple Road between Rochester and Stephenson Highway, Section 
27, From IB (Integrated Industrial and Business) District to RT (One-Family Attached 
Residential) District 
 
Mr. Carlisle gave a brief report on the proposed rezoning application and recommended 
that the Planning Commission recommend to the City Council approval of the proposed 
rezoning. 
 
The petitioner, Alvin Ballard, was present.  Mr. Ballard provided interesting historical 
facts on the property. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
No one was present to speak. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Resolution # PC-2012-12-079 
Moved by: Sanzica 
Seconded by: Schultz 
 

RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council 
that the IB to RT rezoning request, located north of Maple Road between Rochester and 
Stephenson Highway (1170 Woodslee), in Section 27, being approximately 1.02 acres 
in size, be approved. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT DECEMBER 11, 2012 
  
 
 

3 
 

SITE CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPMENT 
 
6. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW – Proposed Bridgewater Estates Site 

Condominium, 27 units/lots, East side of John R between Long Lake and Square Lake 
(5470 John R), Section 12, Currently Zoned R-1C (One Family Residential) District 
 
Mr. Savidant informed the Board that the petitioner held an informational meeting with 
residents in the area of the proposed development with the intent to get input and 
address concerns.  As a result of the meeting, the petitioner revised the site plan to show 
a preservation strip of 15 feet along the northern property line.  Mr. Savidant announced 
the department received a petition signed by 17 residents from the Stoneridge II and 
Long Lake Meadows subdivisions asking for a 20 foot greenbelt.  In addition, Mr. 
Savidant gave an explanation of a “site condominium” development. 
 
Mr. Carlisle said his initial review of the proposed development, dated December 5, 
addressed a few items.  Since that time, the petitioner submitted revised plans of which 
a subsequent review was prepared and is dated December 10.  Mr. Carlisle reported the 
revised site plan submission is in conformance with all Zoning Ordinance requirements.  
He recommends approval of the application with the conditions that the 15 foot buffer 
and treatment of the southern road stub are noted on the final site plan. 
 
The petitioner, Gary Tadian, Andy Milia of Franklin Property Corporation and James 
Butler of Professional Engineering Associates were present. 
 
Mr. Milia addressed stormwater drainage and rear yard dimensions, both of which were 
considered in the determination to provide a 15 foot buffer for the adjacent neighbors.  
He indicated the 15 foot buffer would be maintained by the homeowners and governed 
by the subdivision Bylaws and Master Deed.  Mr. Milia said the full brick single family 
homes would be in the mid to high $300,000-$400,000 price range. 
 
Mr. Butler noted the stormwater on this property flows east to west, toward the 
storm/sewer system on John R. 
 
There was discussion on the following: 
• 15 foot buffer -vs- 20 feet as requested by adjacent neighbors. 

o Stormwater drainage. 
o Marketability of home as relates to size of back yard. 
o Trees within 15 foot buffer to remain; trees outside buffer to be removed. 
o Estimation of 100-150 trees within 15 foot buffer. 
o Petitioner willingness to work with residents’ on reasonable, feasible solution. 
o Depths of lots going east; petitioner will consider to modify depth of buffer where/if 

possible. 
• Retention basin; more creativity, aesthetically pleasing. 
• Sweet Street treatment; i.e., landscaping, walkway, tie into John R. 
• Potential future development to south; negotiation stage only at this time. 
• Internal parks. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT DECEMBER 11, 2012 
  
 
 

4 
 

Chair Tagle opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Rachelle Jenneker of 2172 Michele was present.  Ms. Jenneker addressed concerns with 
the loss of trees, aesthetic beauty, wildlife and homes values.  She encouraged the City to 
adopt a tree preservation plan.  Ms. Jenneker asked that the buffer be extended to 20 feet 
and consideration be given to a park area. 
 
Ann Bieke of 2140 Michele was present.  Ms. Bieke asked for consideration of an 18 foot 
buffer from her property. 
 
Chair Tagle said he appreciated the comments made and is sympathetic to the neighbors’ 
concerns.  He stated the Board has no legal standing to force a property owner to save 
trees.  Chair Tagle said neighbors have had the enjoyment of that environment for years 
and the petitioner is willing to compromise. 
 
Chair Tagle closed the floor for public comment. 
 
Mr. Milia said they would continue to work with the neighbors.  He indicated they would 
look at lots 13, 14, 15 and 16 to see if it is viable to increase the buffer to 20 feet, and in 
good faith, would save as many trees as possible; i.e., look at trees case by case. 
 
Mr. Schultz noted the City took steps to adopt a wetlands/tree preservation in the past, 
and Troy residents voiced opposition at that time.  Mr. Schultz said a property owner has 
the right to cut down trees on his property; and the Board has no power to request a 
buffer, and yet this developer has offered to compromise and provide one. 
 
Mr. Hutson commended the petitioner on his offer to provide a buffer. 
 
Resolution # PC-2012-12-080 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Schepke 
 

RESOLVED, That Preliminary Site Condominium Approval, pursuant to Article 8 and 
Section 10.02 of the Zoning Ordinance, as requested for Bridgewater Estates Site 
Condominium, 27 units/lots, east of John R, between Long Lake and Square Lake, 
Section 12, within the R-1C (One Family Residential) District, be granted. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT DECEMBER 11, 2012 
  
 
 

5 
 

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
7. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 979) – Proposed Galleria of Troy, 

North side of Big Beaver between Wilshire and I-75, Section 21, Currently Zoned BB (Big 
Beaver) District 
 
Mr. Carlisle reported that the site plans were not submitted in time to provide a full site 
plan review.  The petitioner is here this evening to get preliminary comments from the 
Board.  Mr. Carlisle gave a brief background of the proposed development. 
 
James Butler of Professional Engineering Associates and Elizabeth Abernethy of 
Bloomin’ Brands, Tampa, Florida, were present. 
 
The following was discussed: 
• Phase 1 (3 restaurants), Phase 2 (hotel). 
• Building design/architecture, aesthetics, cohesiveness. 
• Urban feel. 
• Crucial location; gateway to Troy. 
• Plaza, common ties with lighting and hardface. 
• Eye catching features. 
• Patio elements. 
• Center pad; greater height and mass; an anchor; a draw. 
• Outdoor features; fountain, water, art, public display. 
• Parking lot; provide landscaping, other elements to break up asphalt. 
• Dumpster locations. 
• ‘Sound’ studies; buffer traffic noise. 
• Stormwater mitigation. 
• Hotel layout. 
• Future submission: 

o Examples/photographs of both restaurant brands at an existing site. 
o Complete photographs/display boards of whole project, not individual restaurants. 

 
 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
8. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items on Current Agenda 

 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT DECEMBER 11, 2012 
  
 
 

6 
 

 
9. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 

 
Brief discussion followed on: 
• Transit Center groundbreaking. 
• Rochester Hills proposed Master Plan amendments. 
 
Holiday wishes wished by all. 
 
 

The Regular meeting of the Planning Commission adjourned at 8:36 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
       
John J. Tagle, Chair 
 
 
 
 
       
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
G:\Planning Commission Minutes\2012 PC Minutes\Draft\2012 12 11 Regular Meeting_Draft.doc 
 



PC 2013.01.08 
  Agenda Item # 5 
 

 
 
DATE: January 4, 2013 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: PUBLIC HEARING – CONDITIONAL REZONING APPLICATION (File 

 Number CR 008) – Proposed Tim Horton’s Café, Northwest Corner 
 Square Lake and Dequindre, Section 1, From NN (Neighborhood Node “
 N”) to CB (Community Business) District 

 
The applicant, Troy-Dequindre Properties, LLC, seeks a conditional rezoning of the 
subject parcel from NN (Neighborhood Node) to CB (Community Business) District.  
The parcel is approximately 0.68 acres in area.  The applicant proposes a Tim Horton’s 
Restaurant and Café (with drive-through) on the site.   
 
The Master Plan classifies this area as Neighborhood Node (Node “N”).  A description 
of this classification is attached.   
 
The Planning Commission discussed this item informally at the May 22, 2012 
Special/Study meeting. 
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. (CWA), the City’s 
Planning Consultant, summarizes the conditional rezoning request.  CWA prepared the 
report with input from various City departments including Planning, Engineering, Public 
Works and Fire.  City Management supports the findings of fact contained in the report 
and agrees with the recommendation.   
 
Please be prepared to discuss this item at the January 8, 2013 Planning Commission 
Regular meeting.  
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps 
2. City of Troy Master Plan (excerpt) 
3. Report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc., dated January 2, 2013 
4. Report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc., dated May 10, 2012 
5. Letter to Burt Kassab, subject “Modification of Regulating Plan”, dated April 10, 

2012 
6. Minutes from Planning Commission meeting of May 22, 2012 
7. Letters of opposition (2) 

 
 
G:\Conditional Rezoning\CR-008  Tim Hortons Cafe  Sec 02\PC Memo 01 08 2013.doc 



PROPOSED RESOLUTION 
 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – CONDITIONAL REZONING APPLICATION (File Number CR 008) 
– Proposed Tim Horton’s Café, Northwest Corner Square Lake and Dequindre, Section 
1, From NN (Neighborhood Node “N”) to CB (Community Business) District 
 
Proposed Resolution # PC-2013-01- 
Moved by: 
Seconded by: 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council 
that the NN to CB conditional rezoning request, as per Section 16.04 of the City of 
Troy Zoning Ordinance, located on the northwest corner of Square Lake and 
Dequindre, within Section 1, being approximately 0.68 acres in size, be granted, for 
the following reasons:  
 ) or 
 
(denied, for the following reasons:  ) or 
 

1. The proposed rezoning is inconsistent with the City of Troy Master Plan. 
2. The proposed use does not meet the Special Use standards of Section 9.03 of 

the Zoning Ordinance. 
3. The proposed use does not meet the Drive-Through use standards of Section 

6.10 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
4. The small property area, coupled with the proposed drive-through use and 

corner lot location, creates a number of site design issues. 
5. The site does not meet minimum parking requirements, and the applicant has 

not provided sufficient reasons for granting a parking space reduction.  
 
(postponed, for the following reasons:  ) 
 

 
Yes: 
No: 
 
MOTION PASSED / FAILED 
 

 
 
G:\Conditional Rezoning\CR-008  Tim Hortons Cafe  Sec 02\Proposed PC Resolution 2013 01 08.doc 



CONDITIONAL REZONING, TIM HORTON'S

11/16/2012

Legend

1: 749

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

620125 125Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

Road Centerline
Major Road
Industrial Road
Local Road

Ponds and Basins
Streams and Creeks
Parcels
Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:    Band_1
Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



CONDITIONAL REZONING, TIM HORTON'S

11/16/2012

Legend

1: 749

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

620125 125Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

Road Centerline
Major Road
Industrial Road
Local Road

Current Zoning Ordinance
(PUD) Planned Unit Development
(CF) Community Facilities District
(EP) Environmental Protection District
(BB) Big Beaver Road (Form Based)
(MRF) Maple Road (Form Based)
(NN) Neighborhood Nodes (A-U)
(CB) Community Business
(GB) General Business
(IB) Integrated Industrial Business District
(O) Office Building District
(OM) Office Mixed Use
(P) Vehicular Parking District
(R-1A) One Family Residential District
(R-1B) One Family Residential District
(R-1C) One Family Residential District
(R-1D) One Family Residential District
(R-1E) One Family Residential District
(RT) One Family Attached Residential District
(MR) Multi-Family Residential
(MHP) Manufactured Housing
(UR) Urban Residential
(RC) Research Center District
(PV) Planned Vehicle Sales

Ponds and Basins
Streams and Creeks
Parcels
Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:    Band_1
Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

155

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsTable of Contents Figures & Maps TablesZoning Map

Map 5.06.1: Neighborhood Node District Regulating Plan (Continued)

Node K Node L

Node M Node N

http://www.troymi.gov/Planning/AdoptedZoningMap2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

158

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsTable of Contents Figures & Maps TablesZoning Map

Table 5.06.C-1
Use Groups Permitted

Use Group
(Table 5.03-1)

Site Type NN:A Site Type NN:B

Street Type NN:A
Arterials

Street Type NN:B
Local and Connectors

Street Type NN:A
Arterials

Street Type NN:B
Local and Connectors

1
Residential NP NP NP NP

2
Residential/Lodging P1 P1 P P

3
Office/Institution P P P P

4
Auto/Transportation S S NP NP

5
Retail/Entertainment/

Service
P P P P

6
Misc. Commercial S S NP NP

7
Industrial NP NP NP NP

1 Permitted on upper floors only.

P - Permitted Use Groups
S - Special Use Approval Groups
NP - Prohibited Use Groups

Table 5.06.C-2
Building Forms Permitted

Building Forms
Site Type NN:A Site Type NN:B

Street Type NN:A
Arterials

Street Type NN:B
Local and Connectors

Street Type NN:A
Arterials

Street Type NN:B
Local and Connectors

A: Small, single-purpose, 
out buildings P P P P

B: Small, multi-tenant 
commercial with mixed 

use
P P P P

C: Attached residential 
or live/work S S P P

D: Multi-story mixed use, 
medium density P P S S

E: Large format com-
mercial P S NP NP

F: Large format mixed-
use P S NP NP

P - Permitted Building Form
S - Special Approval Building Form
NP - Prohibited Building Form

http://www.troymi.gov/Planning/AdoptedZoningMap2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

107

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsTable of Contents Figures & Maps TablesZoning Map

Planning Commission as to whether or not the proposed use is similar to a use 
permitted as of right, permitted in upper stories only, or permitted as a special 
use.

g. If a site is adjacent to two (2) different street types, the more intense street type 
shall control for the purpose of determining allowable use groups.

 
TABLE 5.03-A-1

USE GROUPS BY CATEGORY

PRINCIPAL USE
Use Group 1
Residential Uses:
One-Family dwellings
Two-Family dwellings
Use Group 2
Residential/Lodging Uses:
One-Family attached dwellings
Multiple-Family dwellings
Live/Work units
Senior assisted/independent living
Child care centers
Use Group 3
Office/Institution:
General office
Professional and medical office
Hospitals
Medical office
Primary/secondary schools (private)
Post-secondary schools
Places of worship
Data centers
Technology centers / Office research
Publicly owned/operated office and service facilities
Funeral homes
Veterinary clinics or hospitals
Use Group 4
Auto/Transportation Uses:
Vehicle sales
Vehicle service station
Vehicle repair station
Vehicle body repair
Vehicle wash

http://www.troymi.gov/Planning/AdoptedZoningMap2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

108

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsTable of Contents Figures & Maps TablesZoning Map

Use Group 5
Retail, Entertainment, and Service Uses:
Financial institutions
General retail
Retail, large-format
Shopping centers
Fitness, gymnastics, and exercise centers
Theatres and places of assembly
Indoor commercial recreation establishments
Restaurant
Personal services
Business services
Use Group 6
Miscellaneous Commercial Uses:
Building & lumber supply
Garden centers, nurseries
Outdoor commercial recreation
Indoor commercial recreation
Self-Storage
Commercial kennels / pet day care
Drive-through facilities
Use Group 7
Industrial Uses:
Contractor’s equipment storage
Food products
Commercial outdoor storage
Manufacturing, processing, etc.
Metal plating
Plastics
Printing
Tool & die, gauge & machine shops
Truck/trailer rental
Warehousing/wholesale
Experimental research & testing labs

B. Building Form Standards.

1. The form-based districts permit a series of potential building forms, dependant 
on the site’s location. The six building forms, set forth in Tables 5.03.B.1 through 6, 
are established in this section as follows:

a. Building Form A. Small, generally single purpose buildings for retail, office, 
restaurant, or service uses.  Typically situated in an out lot of a larger 

http://www.troymi.gov/Planning/AdoptedZoningMap2011.pdf


93

CITY OF TROY MASTER PLAN

CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Neighborhood Nodes: 

The Economic Neighborhood

Located at intersections of the City’s main • 
roads.
Work together with Social Neighborhoods to • 
create a more livable community.
Mixed use.• 
Provide neighborhood gathering places.• 
Accommodate the daily needs of residents.• 

Neighborhood Nodes are the concentrated, 

commercial and mixed-use centers situated 

at major intersections of Troy thoroughfares 

that serve as the center of the City’s Economic 

Neighborhoods.  The nodes are specifi cally 
identifi ed on pages 95 and 96.  Economic 
Neighborhoods are destinations created as 
“go to” places that take on a social role, serving 
both as a place to meet basic needs of the 
community and as 21st century village centers.  
The attributes of Economic Neighborhoods 
are described in more detail in the fi nal 
section of this Chapter, and the urban design 
characteristics of Neighborhood Nodes will be 
described in depth in Chapter 10.  The nodes 
will typically permit a mix of commercial, offi  ce, 
and high-density residential, although the 
predominant uses in any Neighborhood Node 
development must be in keeping with the 
node characteristics described on pages 95 and 

96.  Industrial uses will not be permitted in the 
Neighborhood Nodes. 

The Economic Neighborhoods of Troy also 
center on the square mile grid system.  Unlike 
the social neighborhood, the Economic 

Neighborhoods are centered on major road 

intersections where commercial and offi  ce 

development occurs.  When destinations are 
created, these nodes become a “go to” place 
and take on a social role.  Each of these nodes 
serves four quadrants of the overlapping social 
neighborhoods and has the ability to bring 
residents of four neighborhoods together.  

These Economic Neighborhood nodes 
are destinations that draw people, visually 
distinguished from the balance of corridor strips 
through greater density and scale.  Variation in 
building height will often be used to separate 
the node from the surrounding area, but will 
not be so extreme as to visually overpower 
abutting neighborhoods.  The separation of 
building heights at intersections with the 
“between” segments of corridors stimulates the 
visual concept of “pulsing” development and 
sets up a system of visual anchors.   

Moderately dense residential environments 
may be encouraged within some nodes to 
provide steady activity for longer periods of the 
day.  In these cases, residences may be mixed 
with offi  ces on upper fl oors or be developed 
immediately adjacent to the commercial areas.  
Connections between the commercial activity 
and residences must be directly and seamlessly 
integrated.  

During the course of the planning process, the 
Planning Commission closely analyzed the need 
for additional neighborhood nodes throughout 
the City.  The City will continue to consider 
the demand for additional nodes as part of 
subsequent plan revisions.

NEIGHBORHOOD NODES



94 CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

DESIGN CONCEPT
These nodes are within a fi fteen • 
minute walking distance of residential 
neighborhoods to permit alternative modes 
of transportation.  

Development will be denser and taller than • 
the surrounding area, encouraging visual 
prominence to signal a gathering space.

Nodes should be generally confi ned to a • 
1,000 foot radius from a major intersection.

The nodes provide uses and spaces that • 
attract and welcome neighborhood 
residents.  

SITE DESIGN ATTRIBUTES
Buildings should be separated from the • 
right-of-way line by a landscaped greenbelt, 
one lane of off -street parking or a pedestrian 
walk, or a combination of these.  

Primary parking areas will be located within • 
rear or interior side yards.

Off -street parking should be screened from • 
the public right-of-way by a knee wall or low 
decorative fence with a hedge of plantings.

Walks will connect adjacent developments • 
and the public sidewalks.

Well-defi ned crosswalks with timed • 
signalization will permit safe crossings.

Flexible use of space allowing modest • 
outdoor gathering spaces, such as plazas, 
will be encouraged.

BUILDING DESIGN ATTRIBUTES
Buildings should be between two and three • 
stories, although one–story structures 
accommodating gas stations or other 
special situations may be permitted.  

One-story buildings should have a minimum • 
exterior height of sixteen feet.

A ground level story should have a • 

minimum height of twelve feet from 
fi nished fl oor to fi nished ceiling.  

Facades facing major thoroughfares will • 
be treated as fronts and should have a 
minimum of half transparent glass and 
special architectural design treatments.  

Fenestration (the arrangement of windows • 
and doors) should be highlighted through 
the use of awnings, overhangs or trim 
detailing.  

Lighting will be carefully managed so as not • 
to encroach on adjacent residential areas.

The following pages contain a table 
describing the primary intended uses and 

character of the Neighborhood Nodes designated 
on the Future Land Use Map.  Individual Nodes are 
numbered and identifi ed on the Economic Nodes 

Map following the table.



95

CITY OF TROY MASTER PLAN

CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Node/Intersection Primary Uses and Character

A 14 Mile and 
Dequindre Road

Non-residential uses catering to the day-to-day needs of the workforce in the 
surrounding industrial area.  Restaurants and convenience needs integrated with 
banks and other service uses in compact developments would suit the needs of this 
area.

B Maple Road and 
Dequindre Road

The unique neighborhood node is home to a collection of uses serving the local 
Polish population.  Uses complementary to the cultural center and bank which help 
this area serve as a gathering place and focus area for the neighborhood could 
include limited housing, service uses, or specialty retail and dining.

C John R. Road and 
Maple Road

The node would best serve the area with a predominantly commercial mix of uses 
catering to the immediate residential area coming and going from their homes. The 
node should serve as a transition to the more intense commercial development to 
the south.

D Big Beaver Road and 
Dequindre Road

This area should be a high-intensity, high-density, compact area that serves as a 
notable entry point to the community.  Development may include residential, retail, 
office, and service-oriented uses, but should be designed to create a very noticeable 
“gateway” into Troy with its complex, high-density, mixed-use character.

E Wattles Road and 
Dequindre Road

The predominant use in this node should be offices, both medical and professional.  
Limited commercial service uses designed to complement the main focus of the 
area as an office node serving this area of the City may also be permissible, if clearly 
secondary to the primary office character of the area.

F John R Road and 
Wattles Road

This node may include all uses from high-density residential in combination with 
restaurants, limited office, and retail.  Development at this intersection should include 
at least two of these uses in any one development, in order to better complement 
and strengthen the already mixed-use character of the node.

G Rochester Road and 
Wattles Road

A careful blend of commercial uses and office uses, effectively transitioned into the 
adjoining residential neighborhoods, should be the main uses at this intersection.  
Recent residential development in the area has taken pedestrian access to the 
intersection into consideration with effective pathways and sidewalks, and any new 
development at the intersection must continue this positive trend.

H Livernois Road and 
Wattles Road 

This lower-intensity area is characterized by single-family residential directly abutting 
the southwest corner of the intersection, and uses which generate only sporadic 
activity, such as churches and day care.  This node contains the Troy Museum and 
Historic Village. New development or redevelopment at this node must be especially 
considerate of the adjoining residential and low-intensity uses and should not 
include any retail or restaurant uses.  Office and other uses similar to the existing uses 
would likely provide the best combination here.

I Crooks Road and 
Wattles Road

Development at this location should be low-impact and provide a high benefit to 
the neighborhood using the least amount of land.  Compact, walkable mixed use 
development with a combination of uses serving the immediate surroundings would 
be an ideal fit.  Integrated compact development which would allow a user to park 
once and meet several daily needs would be a positive contribution to the node. The 
City also recognizes that expansion of the White Chapel Cemetery into the northeast 
corner of this node would be appropriate.

J Dequindre Road and 
Long Lake Road

Predominantly commercial, catering to both local needs and regional traffic, 
new development and redevelopment should be mostly commercial, identifying 
opportunities for small office mixed-use and variations in floor area to allow for 
a wide range of commercial types.  Pedestrian access to the adjoining area and 
effective screening should be primary areas of focus during the site design process.



96 CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Node/Intersection Primary Uses and Character

K John R Road and 
Long Lake Road

Like Crooks Road and Wattles Road, compact, walkable mixed use development with 
a combination of uses serving the immediate surroundings would be an ideal fit.  
Integrated compact development which would allow a user to park once and meet 
several daily needs would be a positive contribution to the node.

L Rochester Road and 
Long Lake Road

Intersections L, M, and U and should remain, predominantly commercial, catering 
to local needs and regional traffic, new development and redevelopment should be 
mostly commercial and should serve to further enhance this successful commercial 
area.  Opportunities for integrated residential or office development should be 
considered only when clearly secondary to commercial development.

M Livernois Road and 
Long Lake Road

Intersections L, M, and U and should remain, predominantly commercial, catering 
to local needs and regional traffic, new development and redevelopment should be 
mostly commercial and should serve to further enhance this successful commercial 
area.  Opportunities for integrated residential or office development should be 
considered only when clearly secondary to commercial development.

N Dequindre Road and 
Square Lake Road

Low-intensity commercial uses should remain, but redevelopment should include an 
integrated compact residential component, live/work units, or small office.  Service-
oriented use development in combination with new residential development would 
provide a unique setting here.

O John R Road and 
Square Lake Road

Near a known heron rookery, this node must be careful to respect this important 
natural resource.  New development or redevelopment should complement the 
churches and limited commercial uses in the area, and should incorporate above-
average landscaping, natural buffers, and conscientious site design to enhance the 
known natural features in the area.

P Rochester Road and 
Square Lake Road

Major commercial uses dominate and should continue to provide a foundation for 
this neighborhood node.  While uses in the area may cater to regional traffic, service 
uses, retail, and limited office uses designed to provide service to the immediate 
residential neighborhood should be incorporated into any new development or 
redevelopment plans.

Q Livernois Road and 
Square Lake Road

Development in this area should be especially considerate of the remaining historic 
asset of the neighborhood.  Adaptive use of existing historic structures must be 
considered before demolition or relocation of these resources.  Low-intensity uses 
working in conjunction with one another to form a central neighborhood village, 
walkable and accessible, would create an ideal complement to the predominantly 
residential surroundings.

R John R Road and 
South Boulevard

Small local commercial uses and office uses should be the focus of this node, to 
complement the large scale office development across the City’s boundary to the 
north, within the City of Rochester Hills.

S Rochester Road and 
South Boulevard

This neighborhood node provides a suitable mix of uses to cater to the daily needs 
of the immediate residential area, while also providing a unique opportunity for 
specialty retailers, compact walkable residential development, and small-scale office 
development in an integrated, mixed-use setting.

T Livernois Road and 
South Boulevard

Limited local commercial and housing for seniors in a dense development pattern 
should remain the primary focus of this neighborhood node.

U Crooks Road and 
South Boulevard

Intersections L, M, and U and should remain, predominantly commercial, catering 
to local needs and regional traffic, new development and redevelopment should be 
mostly commercial and should serve to further enhance this successful commercial 
area.  Opportunities for integrated residential or office development should be 
considered only when clearly secondary to commercial development.

 



 
 
  

 Date: January 2, 2013 
 

Conditional Rezoning, Special Use Permit and 
Preliminary Site Plan Review 

For 
City of Troy, Michigan 

 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Applicant Burt Kassab 
 
Project Name: Dequindre- Tim Hortons Cafe  
 
Plan Date: November 14, 2012 
 
Location: Northwest corner of Square Lake and Dequindre 
 
Zoning: Neighborhood Node N  
 
Action Requested: Planning Commission review and recommendation to the City Council 

for Conditional Rezoning, Special Use Permit, and Preliminary Site Plan.   
 
Required Information:          Deficiencies noted. 
 
 

SUMMARY OF DEVELOPMENT AND PROCEDURE 
 
The 0.68 acre parcel is located in form-based district Neighborhood Node N and regulated as a Site Type 
B.  The proposed restaurant/café is permitted in Site Type B; however a drive-through use is not 
permitted.  In early April, Mr. Kassab requested a site reclassification to Site Type A, which does allow a 
drive-through in a neighborhood node through a Special Use.  The reclassification of Site Types can be 
considered by the Zoning Administrator as outlined in Section 5.02.G.  In considering the requested 
reclassification, the Zoning Administrator found that the application did not meet the reclassification 
standards outlined in Section 5.02.G.1-5.  It appears that the only limitation to the applicant of the 
Neighborhood Node zoning is the prohibition of the drive-through.   
 
Subsequent to the reclassification denial, the applicant has requested to conditionally rezone the 
property to CB, Community Business in order to construct a Tim Hortons Café and Bake Shop with a 
drive-through.   Drive-through uses are permitted by Special Use in the CB District.   The requested 



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

2 

conditional rezoning was informally and conceptually considered by the Planning Commission on May 
22, 2012.  Please see the attached minutes for more details.  
 
While we support the development of the site as a commercial use, find that a drive-thru use 
predicated on a conditional rezoning would not advance the Master Plan intent of Neighborhood Node 
N at this location.  Most importantly, there are numerous site planning issues created by the limited size 
of the property.    
 
There is an appropriate relationship between the safety and impact of drive-throughs and the size and 
configuration of a site.  A minimum lot size is necessary to ensure safe ingress/egress, sufficient space 
for on-site for circulation, reduction of conflict between vehicular and pedestrians, and provision of 
buffering to reduce potential impact upon adjacent properties.   Current ordinance standards require 
each site must be considered on a site- by-site basis when a drive-through is proposed.  
 
The subject parcel is approximately 0.678 acres in area and a relatively small site for a drive-through 
restaurant.  As a comparison, the existing Tim Horton’s (with drive-through) on Rochester Road is 
approximately 0.961 acres, and has only one curb cut. The Tim Horton’s (with drive-through) recently 
approved on Maple Road is approximately 0.746 acres, and has only one curb cut.  These parcels are 
both larger than the subject parcel and have only one point of ingress/egress, and therefore fewer 
potential traffic conflicts.  The small size results in a number of potential turning conflicts between 
stacking cars, cars entering or leaving parking spaces, and cars entering or leaving the site. These 
potential turning conflicts, in addition to increasing potential vehicular and pedestrian conflicts, could 
negatively impact maneuverability and safety both on the site and in the immediate area.  In addition to 
the relatively small size of this site, a proposed restaurant use in combination with the corner location 
also present hindrances for a drive-through.  Quick serve restaurants and cafes are the largest parking 
generator on a square foot basis.   Thus even a small restaurant requires a significant amount of 
parking.  Secondly, a corner lot location allows for two points of ingress/egress, which adds additional 
access and circulation conflict points.   
 
The small property square footage, coupled with the proposed restaurant use and corner lot location 
creates the following specific site planning issues: 

• Deficiency of eight (8) required parking spaces; 
• At least one (1) drive-through stacking space protrudes into the drive-aisle;  
• Disjointed parking area;  
• Potential deficiency in overall landscaped area;  
• Impact on the residential property to the west;  
• Access and internal traffic circulation at peak period times;   
• Internal pedestrian circulation from the parking lot located behind the drive-through to the 

building;  
• Internal pedestrian circulation due to location of the preview menu and menu and speaker;  
• Lack of a snow storage location;  
• High visibility on Square Lake Road of the proposed dumpster enclosure;  
• Significant traffic movements and conflict points on a small site; and 
• Unknown findings of a future traffic study. 

 
See the site plan review section for more detail.  The applicant is seeking a conditional rezoning with a 
condition being the submitted site plan. Because of the site planning issues we encourage the applicant 
to either:  



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

3 

Neighborhood Node “N” Zoning Map  

1. Add the entire parcel or portions of the parcel to the north.  By adding additional area to the 
site, a drive-thru use might be feasible because issues of pedestrian and automobile conflict, 
tight circulation, and encroachment and impact upon adjacent properties can be mitigated.   
Adding the parcel to the north would allow the zoning administrator to potentially reclassify the 
site to Site Type A which permits drive-through as a special use.   

2. Maintain the retail use but eliminate the drive-through.  By eliminating the drive-through the 
proposed use is by-right within the underlying NN district, and the applicant would be only 
required to go through a site plan review.  This could be approved by the Planning Commission 
at one meeting.  

3. Consider an alternative use of the site.  
 

 
The proposed development requires the following:  
 
1. Conditional rezoning from Neighborhood Node N to CB.  Conditions of approval include the 

submitted site plan including:  
o The site will be used a restaurant/coffee shop; 
o The configuration of the drive thru lane will be as shown on the Site Plan; 
o The location of the building will be the front corner of the site, as shown on the Site Plan; 
o The patio area layout will be as shown on the attached Site Plan (i.e. continuously 

connected with and accessible from the sidewalks/plaza like area in the front corner of the 
site); 

o The type/location of the bicycle rack will be as shown on the Site Plan; and 
o The façade of the building will be as shown on the enclosed elevations.   

2. Preliminary Site Plan approval.  



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

4 

3. Special Use for drive-thru. 

PART 1: CONDITIONAL REZONING 
 
Master Plan 
 
Neighborhood nodes are the concentrated, commercial and mixed-use centers situated at major 
intersections.  The Master Plan for this node calls for:  
 

Neighborhood Node N: Low-intensity commercial uses should remain, but redevelopment should 
include an integrated compact residential component, live/work units, or small office.  Service-
oriented development in combination with new residential development would provide a unique 
setting here.   

 
The proposed use as commercial (without a drive-through) is appropriate and encouraged. A 
commercial use, built to the form-based district design standards outlined in the Zoning Ordinance, fits 
the intent of this node and would greatly enhance and serve the adjacent neighborhood well.  However, 
due to site planning issues (most specifically the small size of the parcel), the intent to develop more 
urban form buildings and pedestrian-oriented areas, and the character of the surrounding 
neighborhood (see Neighborhood Node N section below), a drive-through use on this parcel was not 
considered or intended in the Master Plan. 
 
Zoning Background 
 
Site Type B in neighborhood nodes permits a number of uses including attached and multiple family 
residential, office/institution, service, and retail uses such as a Tim Hortons.  However, a drive-thru 
within Site Type B in any neighborhood node is not permitted.   In early April, Mr. Kassab requested a 
site reclassification to Site Type A, which does allow a drive-thru in a neighborhood node through a 
Special Use.  In considering the requested reclassification, the Zoning Administrator applies the 
standards outlined in Section 5.02.G.1-5.  It was the Zoning Administrator’s finding and our concurrence 
that the application did not meet the standards for reclassification, and thus the reclassification was 
denied.   Please see attached letter from the Zoning Administrator for more details.   
 
Considerations for Rezoning from Neighborhood Node N to CB, Community Business 
 
Neighborhood nodes are located at major intersections adjacent to residential neighborhoods.  These 
nodes are intended to serve as commercial and mixed use centers serving as places to meet the basic 
needs of the neighborhoods, as well as the community as a whole.  The key parcels within the 
neighborhood nodes are the corner parcels at these major intersections.  Because the parcel in question 
is a corner parcel, its importance to develop under the regulations of Site Type B and the design 
standards outlined in the Neighborhood Node is a key to the future development and the 
implementation of Neighborhood Node N.  A potential rezoning of this parcel to CB, especially in 
consideration of a drive-through, could limit the remaining parcels in the node to develop under the 
Neighborhood Node N - Site Type B regulations.   This is especially true for the parcel to the north, 
which would be an isolated Neighborhood Node N parcel surrounded by differentiating zoning districts.   
 
The applicant has done a nice job of attempting to adhere to the building placement requirements of 
the Neighborhood Node.  However, due to site planning restrictions, a rezoning of this parcel with a 



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

5 

drive-through use would greatly limit the implementation of the Neighborhood Node N as envisioned in 
the Master Plan.    
 
SECTION 16.04.C.3 
 
The Zoning Ordinance identifies five (5) findings that the Plan Commission should evaluate when 
considering a Conditional Rezoning petition (Section 16.04.C).  A Conditional Rezoning may only be 
approved upon a finding and determination that all of the following are satisfied: 
 

a) The conditions, proposed development, and/or proposed use of the land are designed or 
proposed for public health, safety, and welfare purposes. 
 
The site is only 0.68 acres in area.  The site appears too tight for adequate circulation for a 
drive-through use and creates the potential for both automobile and pedestrian conflicts.   
Furthermore, the size limitation of the site does not allow for adequate buffering from 
adjacent residential uses.   

 
b) The conditions, proposed development and/or proposed use are not in material conflict with 

the Master Plan, or, if there is material conflict with the Master Plan, such conflict is due to one 
of the following: 

I. A change in City policy since the Master Plan was adopted. 
II. A change in conditions since the Master Plan was adopted. 

III. An error in the Master Plan. 
 

The form-based district permits a wide range of uses with site type B.  Use groups 2 
(residential/lodging), 3 (office/institution) and 5 (retail/entertainment/service) are all 
permitted by right within site type B (see Table 5.06.C-1).  There do not appear to be any 
reasons that would preclude the site being used for any of these purposes, nor does your 
application mention any.   
 
A drive-through use on this site would be a significant deviation from the Master Plan, which 
calls for the following in Node N: “Low-intensity commercial uses should remain, but 
redevelopment should include an integrated compact residential component, live/work units, 
or small office. 
 
Service-oriented use development in combination with new residential development would 
provide a unique setting here”. The drive-through component is more intense and less 
compact than what is planned for this particular node. 

 
The proposed use as commercial (without a drive-through) is appropriate and encouraged. A 
commercial use, built to the form-based district design standards outlined in the Zoning 
Ordinance, fits the intent of this node and would greatly enhance and serve the adjacent 
neighborhood well.  However, due to site planning issues (most specifically the small size of 
the parcel), the intent to develop more urban form buildings and pedestrian-oriented areas, 
and the character of the surrounding neighborhood (see Neighborhood Node N section 
below), a drive-through use on this parcel was not considered or intended in the Master Plan. 

 



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

6 

c) The conditions, proposed development and/or proposed use are in accordance with all terms 
and provisions of the zoning district to which the land is to be rezoned, except as otherwise 
allowed in the Conditional Rezoning Agreement. 

 
If the applicant were able to address the identified site planning issues, the proposed 
conditions are in accordance with all terms of the CB zoning districts.   
 

d) Public services and facilities affected by a proposed development will be capable of 
accommodating service and facility loads caused by use of the development.  
 
In regards to utilities, the site is adequately served.  However, the Engineering Department 
has asked for a traffic study to determine any necessary on-site and/or public road 
improvements.  The applicant has requested that a traffic study be provided at a later date 
(see Traffic section, below) 

 
e) The conditions, proposed development and/or proposed use shall insure compatibility with 

adjacent uses of land. 
 

While a restaurant/café use would serve the adjacent neighborhood, the size limitation of the 
site does not allow for adequate buffering of the drive-through from adjacent residential 
uses.   

 

PART 2: SITE PLAN 
 
Traffic, Access, and Circulation 
 
Traffic 
 
Parking, traffic, and circulation for this site must be carefully examined.  The Engineering Department 
has requested a traffic study to review the need for a deceleration lane on Square Lake, internal 
circulation, and potential for restricting left turns in and out of the site.  The other Tim Horton locations 
that have been built in Troy have been on higher volume roads including Big Beaver and Rochester 
(both 6-lane boulevards) and Maple (5-lane road which required that they provide a right turn lane or at 
least infill the one that stopped short of the existing site).  In addition, Dequindre is a County border 
road, so any work in the Dequindre ROW or impact from the development on Dequindre may need 
input/permits from Sterling Heights/Macomb County/Oakland County. 
 
The applicant has noted that they do not want to incur the expense of conducting a traffic study 
without some assurance from the City that the project will be approved.  However, because this is a 
Conditional Rezoning where a condition is the submitted site plan, findings of the traffic study may 
affect site layout.    If the Planning Commission is inclined to approve the project we recommend that 
applicant provide a traffic study prior to a recommendation of the conditional rezoning and preliminary 
site plan approval.   If the Planning Commission was to recommend approval and the traffic study 
requires site plan changes, the applicant would be required to revise the conditional rezoning request.   
 
 
 
 



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

7 

Access: 
 
Access to the site will be via a curb cut off Square Lake and a curb cut off Dequindre.  The Engineering 
Department notes that both approaches are irregularly shaped.  The applicant should try to reconfigure 
the approaches so that they enter the property perpendicular to the property line and then provide the 
necessary radii to match up to the parking lot.  This would result in a more typical parking lot layout. 
  
Circulation: 
 
The proposed building would be located at the corner of the site, with all parking spaces located to the 
side and rear.  A proposed drive-through lane is located within the parking lot to the rear of the 
building.  The small size of the lot does not allow for an escape lane.  The width of the stacking lane is 13 
feet; however the width may be reduced to 10 feet.   As noted, the tenth car stacking space protrudes 
into the drive-aisle creating a circulation issue.    
 
While the site will be provided with sidewalks along Square Lake and Dequindre, internal pedestrian 
circulation is difficult.  Access to the building from the parking lot behind the drive-through will require 
pedestrians to cross the drive-through lane.  In addition, the applicant will need to move the location of 
the preview menu and menu board and speakers as they are located in the middle of the pedestrian 
sidewalk.   There must be at least a clear 5-foot wide walkway.  The applicant should address pedestrian 
conflict issues.   
 
There is a significant amount of traffic movements and conflict points.  
 
Items to be Addressed: 1).  Provide traffic study prior to Planning Commission recommendation of 
Conditional Rezoning and Preliminary Site Plan approval; 2). Reconfigure the approaches so that they 
enter the property perpendicular to the property line; 3). Reduce drive-through width to 10 feet;  and 4). 
Reconfigure layout so that the tenth required stacking space does not protrude into drive-aisle.  
 
Parking 
 
Section 13.06 provides the following parking requirements:  
 
 Required Provided Compliance 
Tim Hortons: 
1 space per 70 net sq/ft 

28 spaces 20 spaces Non-Compliant 

Stacking Spaces 10  9 Non-Compliant 

    
Barrier Free 1 2 Compliant 
Bicycle Parking 2 2 Complaint 
Loading 0 0 Compliant 
 
The applicant is deficient by eight (8) parking spaces.  The Planning Commission may reduce the 
required parking provided that the applicant provide evidence that such parking is not necessary.   The 
approved Maple Road Tim Hortons was exactly the same square footage and provided 22 spaces.   
 



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

8 

Items to be Addressed: Provide 8 additional spaces, or provide evidence that providing only 18 
spaces is sufficient to address site parking needs.  
 
Area, Width, Height, and Setbacks 
 
Section 4.13 establishes the dimensional requirements for the CB District.  Though rezoned to CB to 
allow for the drive-through, the applicant has attempted to construct the site plan in accordance to site 
orientation requirements of the Neighborhood Node Form-Based District.  We have included 
Neighborhood Node Form Based Requirements for information only.  The requirements and the 
proposed dimensions are as follows: 
 

 
Applicant shall confirm that they have provided the necessary landscaped area.  
 
Items to be Addressed: Provide landscape area information. 
 
Photometric Plan 
 
The applicant did not provide a Photometric Plan, as required.  
  
Items to be Addressed: Provide a Photometric Plan in compliance with Article 13. 
 
 
 
 

 CB Required: 
Neighborhood Node 

Required:  
Provided: 

Compliance to 
CB 

Front (Square Lake) 10’ minimum 
setback 

0’ build-to-line 10 feet Complies 

Front (Dequindre) 10’ minimum 
setback 

0’ build-to-line (may be 
increased by the 

Planning Commission to 
30 foot with inclusion of 

plaza) 

23.6 feet Complies 

Side (West) 20’  minimum 
setback 

0’ 160 feet Complies 

Side (North) 20’ minimum 
setback 

0’ 35.5 feet Complies 

Building Height Maximum 2 stories, 
30’ 

Maximum 3 stores, 45 
feet. 

20 feet Complies 

Minimum Distance 
from a residential 

building 

75’ Not Applicable Over 160’ Complies 

Lot Coverage Not Applicable 30 percent 21.1% Not applicable 
for CB district 

Landscape Open 
Space 

20 percent 20 percent Information 
Not Provided 

Information 
Not Provided 



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

9 

Landscaping Plan 
 
The application includes a landscape plan.   
 

 Required: Provided: Compliance: 

Greenbelt: 10 feet in width along Square 
Lake Road and Dequindre Road  
 
 

10 feet 10 feet Compliant  

Street Trees: The Ordinance requires that 
the greenbelt shall be landscaped with a 
minimum of one (1) deciduous tree for 
every thirty (30) lineal feet, or fraction 
thereof, of frontage abutting a public road 
right-of-way.   

Square Lake: 8 
deciduous 
 
 
Dequindre: 5 
deciduous  

Square Lake: 5 
deciduous and 3 
ornamental  
 
Dequindre: 5  
street trees 

Replace 
ornamental trees 
with deciduous  

Site landscaping: A minimum of twenty 
percent (20%) of the site area shall be 
comprised of landscape material. 

20% Information not 
provided 

Provide required 
information    

Parking Lot Landscaping:  1 tree for every 
8 parking spaces.  Trees may be located 
adjacent to parking lot with planning 
commission approval.   

4 trees  3 trees Provide one 
additional tree 

Screening Between Land Uses: 80% 
opacity 
 

80% opacity 
with one of 
three options 

Alternative 3: mix 
of large and 
narrow evergreen 
trees 

Compliant 

 
Based on a 0.68 acre site, the applicant is required to provide 592 sq/ft of landscaped area.  The 
applicant should confirm if they are have met this requirement.  The applicant should indicate on site 
plan where snow storage is proposed.  Lastly, the applicant should provide trash enclosure details; the 
applicant is encouraged to match the enclosure materials with the masonry of the building.   
 
Items to be Addressed: 1.) Provide overall landscaping calculation; 2.) Replace ornamental trees with 
deciduous ones along Square Lake; and 3). Provide one (1) additional parking lot tree; 4). Indicate on-site 
snow storage; and 5).  Provide trash enclosure detail.   
 
DESIGN STANDARDS 
 
A condition of the Conditional Rezoning is the compliance of the facades to the Neighborhood Nodes 
Form Based design standards. 
 
Building Orientation and Entrance 
 

a. Primary Entrance:  The primary building entrance shall be clearly identifiable and useable and 
located in the front façade parallel to the street.  Complies 
 



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

10 

b. Recessed Doorways.  Where the building entrance is located on or within five (5) feet of a lot 
line, doorways shall be recessed into the face of the building.  Not applicable  
 

c. Residential Dwellings.  Entrances for all residential dwellings shall be clearly defined by at least 
one (1) of the following: 

I. Projecting or recessed entrance.  A recessed entrance is required if the building entrance 
is located on or within five (5) feet of the lot line. 

II. Stoop or enclosed or covered porch. 
III. Transom and/or side light window panels framing the door opening. 
IV. Architectural trim or unique color treatments framing the door opening 

 
 Not Applicable  
 
Ground Story Activation 
 

a. The first floor of any front façade facing a right-of-way shall be no less than fifty (50) percent 
windows and doors, and the minimum transparency for facades facing a side street, side yard, or 
parking area shall be no less than 30 percent of the façade.  Transparency alternatives are 
permitted up to 80% of the 50% total along the front of buildings, and up to 100% of the sides of 
buildings.  The minimum transparency requirement shall apply to all sides of a building that abut 
an open space, including a side yard, or public right-of-way.  Transparency requirements shall 
not apply to sides which abut an alley. 

 
It appears that the applicant is deficient in meeting the fifty (50) percent transparency 
requirements along Square Lake and Dequindre and the 30% facing the parking area.    
 

Transitional Features 
 

a. Transitional features are architectural elements, site features, or alterations to building massing 
that are used to provide a transition between higher intensity uses and low- or moderate-density 
residential areas.  These features assist in mitigating potential conflicts between those uses.  
Transitional features are intended to be used in combination with landscape buffers or large 
setbacks. 

 
Through the use of setbacks, and landscaping, the applicant has met this requirement.  

 
Site Access and Parking 
 

a. Required Parking.  Off-street parking shall be provided in accordance with the standards set 
forth in Article 13, Site Design Standards.    
 
The applicant has not provided the necessary parking.   See parking section.    
  

b. Location. 
I. When parking is located in a side yard (behind the front building line) but  fronts on the 

required building line, no more than fifty (50) percent of the  total site’s linear feet along 
the required building line or one hundred (100) feet, whichever is less, shall be occupied 
by parking.    



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

11 

 
Not Applicable  
 

II. For a corner lot, shall be no more than fifty (50) percent of the site’s cumulative linear 
feet along the required building lines or one hundred (100) feet, whichever is less, shall 
be occupied by parking.  The building shall be located in the corner of the lot adjacent to 
the intersection.  
 
Complies 

 
III. For a double frontage lot or a lot that has frontage on three (3) streets, the  cumulative 

total of all frontages occupied by parking shall be no more  than sixty-five (65) percent of 
the total site’s linear feet along a required  building line or one hundred and twenty-five 
(125) feet, whichever is less.  
 
Not Applicable  

 
IV. Where off-street parking is visible from a street, it should be screened in accordance 

with the standards set forth in Section 13.02.C.   
 
The applicant has screened their parking lot in compliance with section 13.0.2.C. 

  
Items to be Addressed:  None   
 

STANDARDS 
 
 
Special Use Standards of Approval 
 
In the OM District, restaurants with drive-through service are permitted as a special use. For any special 
use, according to Section 9.02.D, the Planning Commission shall “…review the request, supplementary 
materials either in support or opposition thereto, as well as the Planning Department’s report, at a 
Public Hearing established for that purpose, and shall either grant or deny the request, table action on 
the request, or grant the request subject to specific conditions.”  Section 9.03 states that before 
approving any requests for Special Use Approval, the Planning Commission shall consider: 
 
1. Compatibility with Adjacent Uses. The Special Use shall be designed and constructed in a manner 

harmonious with the character of adjacent property and the surrounding area. In determining 
whether a Special Use will be harmonious and not create a significant detrimental impact, as 
compared to the impacts of permitted uses.   

 
The site is only 0.68 acres in area.  The site appears too tight for adequate circulation for a 
drive-through use and creates the potential for both automobile and pedestrian conflicts.   
Furthermore, the size limitation of the site does not allow for adequate buffering from 
adjacent residential uses.  The special use as designed and constructed is not harmonious 
with the character of adjacent property and the surrounding area.   
 



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

12 

 
2. Compatibility with the Master Plan. The proposed Special Use shall be compatible and in accordance 

with the goals and objectives of the City of Troy Master Plan and any associated sub-area and 
corridor plans.  

 
The proposed use as commercial (without a drive-through) is appropriate and encouraged. A 
commercial use, built to the form-based district design standards outlined in the Zoning 
Ordinance, fits the intent of this node and would greatly enhance and serve the adjacent 
neighborhood well.  However, due to site planning issues (most specifically the small size of 
the parcel), the intent to develop more urban form buildings and pedestrian-oriented areas, 
and the character of the surrounding neighborhood (see Neighborhood Node N section 
below), a drive-through use on this parcel was not considered or intended in the Master Plan. 

 
 
3. Traffic Impact. The proposed Special Use shall be located and designed in a manner which will 

minimize the impact of traffic, taking into consideration: pedestrian access and safety; vehicle trip 
generation (i.e. volumes); types of traffic, access location, and design, circulation and parking design; 
street and bridge capacity and, traffic operations at nearby intersections and access points. Efforts 
shall be made to ensure that multiple transportation modes are safely and effectively accommodated 
in an effort to provide alternate modes of access and alleviate vehicular traffic congestion.  

 
The subject parcel is a relatively small site for a drive-through restaurant, at a corner location 
with two points of access.  This small size results in a number of potential turning conflicts 
between stacking cars, cars entering or leaving parking spaces, and cars entering or leaving 
the site. These potential turning conflicts, in addition to increasing potential vehicular and 
pedestrian conflicts, could negatively impact maneuverability and safety both on the site and 
in the immediate area.   

 
4. Impact on Public Services. The proposed Special Use shall be adequately served by essential public 

facilities and services, such as: streets, pedestrian or bicycle facilities, police and fire protection, 
drainage systems, refuse disposal, water and sewage facilities, and schools. Such services shall be 
provided and accommodated without an unreasonable public burden.  

 
The proposed use should not produce any additional impact on other public services, such as 
police or utilities, beyond what would normally be experienced for other uses in the district.  
However, based on findings of the traffic study, additional site plan changes and public street 
improvements may be necessary.   

 
5. Compliance with Zoning Ordinance Standards. The proposed Special Use shall be designed, 

constructed, operated and maintained to meet the stated intent of the zoning districts and shall 
comply with all applicable ordinance standards.  

 
The applicant is deficient, or potentially deficient in several zoning ordinance standards.  The 
applicant should either seek the required relief or amend site plan as noted.   

 
The Planning Commission is also required to generally consider the following for any special use 
application:  
 



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

13 

1. The nature and character of the activities, processes, materials, equipment, or conditions of 
operation; either specifically or typically associated with the use.  

 
The small size results in a number of potential turning conflicts between stacking cars, cars 
entering or leaving parking spaces, and cars entering or leaving the site. These potential 
turning conflicts, in addition to increasing potential vehicular and pedestrian conflicts, could 
negatively impact maneuverability and safety both on the site and in the immediate area.   

 
2. Vehicular circulation and parking areas.  
 

The proposed site plan presents circulation and parking area issues.   
 
3. Outdoor activity, storage and work areas.  
 

The proposed use does not include any outdoor activity, storage, or work areas, thus this 
standard is not applicable.   

 
4. Hours of operation. 
   

While, the proposed use is in an area where similar uses provide service to neighborhood 
from early morning to evening, the use is proposed for 24-hours. A 24-hour drive-through use 
may impact the adjacently western property, specifically queuing cars and the noise of the 
menu board speaker.   

 
5. Production of traffic, noise vibration, smoke, fumes odors, dust, glare and light.  
 

A 24-hour drive-through use may impact the adjacently western property, specifically noise of 
the menu board speaker and noise, and fumes from queuing cars.   

 
Drive-Through 
 
Use Standards 
 
Section 6.10 provides specific use requirements for drive-through facilities.   
 
A. Ingress and egress to drive-through facilities shall be part of the internal circulation of the site and 

integrated with the overall site design. Clear identification and delineation between the drive-
through facility and the parking lot shall be provided. Drive-through facilities shall be designed in a 
manner which promotes pedestrian and vehicular safety. 

 
The subject parcel is approximately 0.678 acres in area. This is a relatively small site for a 
drive-through restaurant, particularly one on a corner, with two curb cuts. This small size 
results in a number of potential turning conflicts between stacking cars, cars entering or 
leaving parking spaces, and cars entering or leaving the site. These potential turning conflicts, 
in addition to increasing potential vehicular and pedestrian conflicts, could negatively impact 
maneuverability and safety both on the site and in the immediate area. 

 



Dequindre Tim Hortons - Conditional Rezoning, Special Use, and Site Plan Review.   

14 

B. Single-lane drive-throughs may be located at the side of a building. Multiple-lane drive-throughs 
shall be located in a manner that will be the least visible from a public thoroughfare. Canopy design 
shall be compatible with the design of the principal building and incorporate similar materials and 
architectural elements. 

 
Compliant 
 

C.  Each drive-through facility shall provide stacking space meeting the following standards: 
 

1. Each stacking lane shall be one-way, and each stacking lane space shall be a minimum 
of ten (10) feet in width and twenty (20) feet in length. 

2.  If proposed, an escape lane shall be a minimum of twelve (12) feet in width to allow 
other vehicles to pass those waiting to be served. 

3. The number of stacking spaces per service lane shall be provided for the uses listed 
below. When a use is not specifically mentioned, the requirements for off-street 
stacking space for the use with similar needs, as determined at the discretion of the 
Zoning Administration, shall apply. 

 
 Table 6.10 
Use Stacking Space Per Service Lane 
Banks, Pharmacy, Photo Service, and Dry Cleaning 4 
Restaurants with Drive-Through 10 
Auto Washes (Self-Service) 
   Entry 2 
   Exit 1 
Auto Washes (Automatic) 
   Entry 8 
   Exit 2 

 
The applicant has not provided adequate stacking area.  The tenth car stacking space 
protrudes into the drive-aisle creating a circulation issue.    

 
Sincerely,  
 
 

 



 

     

605 S. Main Street, Ste. 1 
Ann Arbor, MI  48104 
 
(734) 662-2200 
(734) 662-1935 Fax 

Neighborhood Node “N” Zoning Map  

 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 City of Troy Planning Commission  
 
FROM: Ben Carlisle, AICP 
 
DATE: May 10, 2012 
 
RE: Neighborhood Node N –Requested Conditional Rezoning  
 
 
Burt Kassab, owner of a 0.68 acre vacant parcel at the northwest corner of Square Lake Road and Dequindre 
Road, has requested the Planning Commission consideration of a conditional rezoning.  The parcel is located in 
form-based district Neighborhood Node N and regulated as a Site Type B.  The conditional rezoning process is 
outlined in Section 16.04 of the Zoning Ordinance.   The applicant is requesting to conditional rezone the 
property to CB, Community Business in order to construct a Tim Hortons Café and Bake Shop with a drive-
through.  A drive-through use is not permitted in Site Type B in any neighborhood node.    Drive-through uses 
are permitted by Special Use in the CB District.   

 
 



Neighborhood Node N 
May 10, 2012 
 

Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
2  P a g e  

Master Plan 
 
Neighborhood nodes are the concentrated, commercial and mixed-use centers situated at major intersections.  
The Master Plan for this node calls for:  
 

Neighborhood Node N: Low-intensity commercial uses should remain, but redevelopment should 
include an integrated compact residential component, live/work units, or small office.  Service-oriented 
development in combination with new residential development would provide a unique setting here.   

 
The proposed use as commercial is appropriate and encouraged. A commercial use, built to the form-based 
district design standards outlined in the Zoning Ordinance, fits the intent of this node and would greatly 
enhance and serve the adjacent neighborhood well.  However, due to site planning issues, the intent to 
develop more urban form buildings and pedestrian-oriented areas, and the character of the surrounding 
neighborhood (see Neighborhood Node N section below), a drive-through use on this parcel was not 
considered or intended in the Master Plan. 
 
Zoning Background 
 
Site Type B in neighborhood nodes permits a number of uses including attached and multiple family 
residential, office/institution, service, and retail uses such as a Tim Hortons.  However, a drive-thru within Site 
Type B in any neighborhood node is not permitted.   There is a rational relationship as to why drive-throughs 
are not permitted in Site Type B in neighborhood nodes including 1). the proximity of single-family residential 
lots can create negative impacts (lighting, noise, emissions, etc);  2). the importance of maintaining 
neighborhood character; and 3). size limitations of parcels can impede safe traffic circulation and create 
pedestrian and automobile conflicts.    
  
In early April, Mr. Kassab requested a site reclassification to Site Type A, which does allow a drive-thru in a 
neighborhood node through a Special Use.  The reclassification of Site Types can be considered by the Zoning 
Administrator as outlined in Section 5.02.G.  In considering the requested reclassification, the Zoning 
Administrator applies the standards outlined in Section 5.02.G.1-5.  In a letter April 10, 2012, Mr. Savidant 
outlined his findings of the standards as follows:   
 

5.02.G.1:  The applicant’s property cannot be used for the purpose permitted in the form-based district. 
 
The form-based district permits a wide range of uses with site type B.  Use groups 2 (residential/lodging), 
3 (office/institution) and 5 (retail/entertainment/service) are all permitted by right within site type B (see 
Table 5.06.C-1).  There do not appear to be any reasons that would preclude the site being used for any 
of these purposes, nor does your application mention any.   

 
5.02.G.2: Area has been added to or deleted from the subject property in question, requiring the 
modification 
 
Area has not been added or deleted from this property.   

 
5.02.G.3: The proposed modification and resulting development will not alter the essential character of 
the area. 
 
The other three corners are commercial in nature. Commercial development on the subject site would 
not alter the essential character of the area. However a drive-through could potentially negatively alter 
the character of the area, based on the relatively small parcel size. 



Neighborhood Node N 
May 10, 2012 
 

Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
3  P a g e  

 
The subject parcel is approximately 0.678 acres in area. This is a relatively small site for a drive-through 
restaurant, particularly one on a corner, with two curb cuts. This small size results in a number of 
potential turning conflicts between stacking cars, cars entering or leaving parking spaces, and cars 
entering or leaving the site. These potential turning conflicts, in addition to increasing potential vehicular 
and pedestrian conflicts, could negatively impact maneuverability and safety both on the site and in the 
immediate area. 
 
As a comparison, the existing Tim Horton’s (with drive-through window) on Rochester Road is 
approximately 0.961 acres, and has only one curb cut. The Tim Horton’s (with drive-through) recently 
approved on Maple Road is approximately 0.746 acres, and has only one curb cut.  These parcels are 
both larger than the subject parcel and have only one point of ingress/egress, and therefore fewer 
potential traffic conflicts. 
 
5.02.G.4: The proposed modification meets the intent of the district 

 
A drive-through use on this site would be a significant deviation from the Master Plan, which calls for the 
following in Node N: “Low-intensity commercial uses should remain, but redevelopment should include 
an integrated compact residential component, live/work units, or small office. 
 
Service-oriented use development in combination with new residential development would provide a 
unique setting here”. The drive-through component is more intense and less compact than what is 
planned for this particular node. 
 
5.02.G.5: Existing streets have been improved and/or new streets constructed that may result in the 
modification of specific site type or street type.   

 
Existing streets have not been improved or constructed recently. 

 
It was Mr. Savidant’s finding and our concurrence that the application did not meet the standards for 
reclassification, and thus the reclassification was denied.   Please see attached letter from Mr. Savidant for 
more details.  We met with the Mr. Kassab and Tim Horton’s representative on April 19th to discuss our 
findings and offer further considerations for the applicant’s consideration.    
 
Proposed Conditional Rezoning 
 
Since our April 19th meeting, Mr. Kassab has requested that the Planning Commission consider a conditional 
rezoning from Neighborhood Node N to CB, Community Business in order to construct a Tim Hortons with a 
drive-through.   Drive-through uses are permitted by Special Use in the CB District.  Conditional Rezoning are 
allowed to be considered by the Planning Commission under Section 16.04.  Conditions are voluntarily 
submitted by the applicant.     
 
The applicant has submitted a site plan; however has not submitted any specific conditions.  The applicant did 
note that the proposed general conditions are that the site would be developed as a Tim Horton's in 
accordance the proposed site plan.  If the Planning Commission wishes to further consider the conditional 
rezoning to CB, Community Business, the applicant should list their proposed conditions as part of their 
application.  
 
 
 



Neighborhood Node N 
May 10, 2012 
 

Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
4  P a g e  

Considerations for Rezoning from Neighborhood Node N to CB, Community Business 
 
Neighborhood nodes are located at major intersections adjacent to residential neighborhoods.  These nodes 
are intended to serve as commercial and mixed use centers serving as places to meet the basic needs of the 
neighborhoods, as well as the community as a whole.  The key parcels within the neighborhood nodes are the 
corner parcels at these major intersections.  Because the parcel in question is a corner parcel, its importance 
to develop under the regulations of Site Type B and the design standards outlined in the Neighborhood Node 
is a key to the future development and the implementation of Neighborhood Node N.  A potential rezoning of 
this parcel to CB could limit the remaining parcels in the node to develop under the Neighborhood Node N - 
Site Type B regulations.   This is especially true for the parcel to the north, which would be an isolated 
Neighborhood Node N parcel surrounded by differentiating zoning districts.  A rezoning of this parcel would 
greatly limit the implementation of the Neighborhood Node N as envisioned in the Master Plan.    
 
Specifically looking at this parcel, the intent of the Neighborhood Nodes is to develop urban building forms at 
these major intersections.  These urban building forms are predicated on buildings placed on the street, and 
the incorporation of architectural details, most notably ground floor story activation.  The CB, Community 
Business requires a ten-foot setback from the front property line and does not require the architectural details 
as outlined in the neighborhood nodes.   
 
As noted in Mr. Savidant’s letter to the applicant, the site is only 0.68 acres in area.  As can be seen in the 
submitted site plan, the site appears too tight for adequate circulation for a drive-through use and creates the 
potential for both automobile and pedestrian conflicts.   Furthermore, the size limitation of the site does not 
allow for adequate buffering from adjacent residential uses.   
 
Considerations for the Planning Commission  
 
We strongly encourage the development of a Tim Hortons or associated commercial use, and we applaud Mr.  
Kassab’s attempt to turn a vacant, dilapidated site into a viable commercial development.  However, we find 
that a drive-thru use predicated on a conditional rezoning would not advance the Master Plan intent of 
Neighborhood Node N at this location.  Rezoning this parcel to CB, would weaken the ability to implement the 
building form and uses intended for Neighborhood Node N, especially the adjacent parcel to the north.  Most 
importantly, while we have not done a complete review, the site plan submitted by the applicant appears too 
tight for adequate circulation for a drive-through use, and creates the potential for both automobile and 
pedestrian conflicts.   
 
Alternatively, we encourage the applicant to either:  

1. Add the entire parcel or portions of the parcel to the north.  By adding additional area to the site, a 
drive-thru use might be feasible because issues of pedestrian and automobile conflict, tight 
circulation, and encroachment and impact upon adjacent properties can be mitigated.   

2. Maintain the retail use but eliminate the drive-through.  By eliminating the drive-through the 
proposed use is by-right and the applicant would be only required to go through a site plan review, 
which could be approved by the Planning Commission at one meeting.  

 
I look forward to addressing any comments and questions from the Planning Commission. 
 

 
  
 
 





Burt S. Kassab, Liberty Group Holdings, LLC  Page 2 
Modification of Regulating Plan 
 

 
3. The proposed modification and resulting development will not alter the essential character of the 

area. 
 
The other three corners are commercial in nature.  Commercial development on the subject site 
would not alter the essential character of the area.  However a drive-through could potentially 
negatively alter the character of the area, based on the relatively small parcel size. 
 
The subject parcel is approximately 0.678 acres in area.  This is a relatively small site for a drive-
through restaurant, particularly one on a corner, with two curb cuts.  This small size results in a 
number of potential turning conflicts between stacking cars, cars entering or leaving parking 
spaces, and cars entering or leaving the site.  These potential turning conflicts, in addition to 
increasing potential vehicular and pedestrian conflicts, could negatively impact maneuverability 
and safety both on the site and in the immediate area.  
 
As a comparison, the existing Tim Horton’s (with drive-through window) on Rochester Road is 
approximately 0.961 acres, and has only one curb cut.  The Tim Horton’s (with drive-through) 
recently approved on Maple Road is approximately 0.746 acres, and has only one curb cut.  
These parcels are both larger than the subject parcel and have only one point of ingress/egress, 
and therefore fewer potential traffic conflicts.   

 
4. The proposed modification meets the intent of the district. 

 
A drive-through use on this site would be a significant deviation from the Master Plan, which calls 
for the following in Node N: “Low-intensity commercial uses should remain, but redevelopment 
should include an integrated compact residential component, live/work units, or small office.  
Service-oriented use development in combination with new residential development would provide 
a unique setting here”.  The drive-through component is more intense and less compact than what 
is planned for this particular node. 

 
5. Existing streets have been improved and/or new streets constructed that may result in the 

modification of a specific site type or street type. 
 
Existing streets have not been improved or constructed recently. 

 
The application fails to meet all five (5) of the standards of Section 5.02.G.  Therefore the request to 
modify the Regulating Plan for Node N by modifying the site type from type B to type A is denied. 
 
If you have further questions, please do not hesitate to call. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
R. Brent Savidant, AICP, PCP 
Planning Director 
 
Attachments: 
1. Map 5.06.1 from City of Troy Zoning Ordinance (excerpt)  
2. Table 5.06.C-1 from City of Troy Zoning Ordinance 
3. Table 5.03-A-1 from City of Troy Zoning Ordinance 
4. City of Troy Master Plan, pages 93-96 
 
G:\Modification of Regulating Plan\NW Corner Square Lake - Dequindre.doc 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – FINAL MAY 22, 2012 
  
 
 

1 
 

9. POTENTIAL CONDITIONAL REZONING APPLICATION – Northwest corner of Square 
Lake and Dequindre, Section 1, From NN Neighborhood Node to CB Community 
Business 
 
Mr. Carlisle presented a report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, inc., which 
summarizes the rezoning request.  The report referenced a memo to the applicant, 
prepared by the Planning Director, which denied the applicant’s request to modify the 
Site Type from Type B to Type A.  The applicant sought feedback from the Planning 
Commission on this matter, and provided a sketch of the potential development. 
 
Mr. Hutson stated he would not support a rezoning, as the application was not compliant 
with the Master Plan. 
 
There was general consensus that the applicant made a strong attempt to comply with 
the intent of the Neighborhood Node by placing the building close to the corner and 
providing outside seating between the building and Dequindre Road.  Most members 
recognized the challenge of developing the subject site and indicated they could support 
a conditional rezoning. 
 
The Planning Commission made some suggestions related to potential site design and 
operations.  These included the following: 

• Hours of operation 
• Buffer between the subject property and the property to the west 
• Potential for connection with property to the north 
• Location of speaker box 
• Size and location of dumpster 

 



From: Lauren Savaya
To: Planning
Subject: Tim Horton"s Cafe
Date: Wednesday, January 02, 2013 5:17:08 PM

Dear The Planning Commission of the City of Troy,
We do not want a Tim Horton's Cafe at the location of Northwest Corner of Square Lake and Dequindre.

Thank you

mailto:lsavaya101@yahoo.com
mailto:planning@troymi.gov


From: tom dombrowski
To: Planning
Subject: CR 008 TimHorton"s Cafe
Date: Thursday, January 03, 2013 9:22:40 PM

Dear Planning Commission Members, My wife and I are writing to you to voice our strong
opposition to the Conditional Rezoning request to rezone Parcel No: 88-20-01-476-032
(Northwest Corner of Square Lake and Dequindre) from NN district to a CB district. Our
objection is, to the proposed construction of a Tim Horton's Cafe with a drive through
format. Such an establishment with a drive through would not comport with the neighborhood
setting of our family friendly subdivision. As you are aware, the current City Master Plan
does not allow an establishment with a drive through format. Simply put, a drive through
with scores of cars lining up generating exhaust fumes, the sound of food orders being
confirmed over loud speakers, the smell of garbage in the summer, the sight of litter, bright
signs at early morning and at night, a huge increase in traffic near our subdivision entrance
and School bus stop and a huge increase in the number of strangers in the area of where our
children play, would have a huge negative effect on  the quality of life our subdivision
enjoys. Finally, there is little doubt that such an establishment with a large drive through
would have the effect of decreasing property values. I am a 1978 Troy High School graduate
and a Troy resident/property owner since 1989 and a proud Troy resident.  There are several
establishments that could be constructed at the subject site that would not interfere with our
neighborhood quality of life. A fast food restaurant with a large drive through is not one of
them. Please vote to deny the rezoning request from Neighborhood Node "N" district to a
"CB" district. Thank you, Thomas and Linda Dombrowski, 2900 Briarwood Ct., Troy, Mi.
48085 cell# 248-515-6653

mailto:tjdombrow@yahoo.com
mailto:planning@troymi.gov


N

N

Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.



N

Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

N
SITE AREA 0.68 AC (29,488 SF)

ZONING NN

LAND USE DRIVE-THRU RESTAURANT

SITE DEVELOPMENT DATA REQUIRED PROPOSED

BUILDING
SETBACKS

FRONT 10 FT (MIN) 10 FT

SIDE 0 FT 64 FT

REAR 30 FT (MIN) 160 FT

BUILDING
INFORMATION

HEIGHT 14 FT (MIN);
45 FT (MAX) 20 FT - 4 IN

STORIES 1 (MIN); 3 (MAX) 1

G.F.A. N/A 1,953 SQ FT

COVERAGE
BUILDING N/A 6.6%

OPEN SPACE 30% 21.1%

PARKING

TOTAL SPACES 28 (MIN) 20

LENGTH 17 FT / 19 FT 17 FT / 19 FT

WIDTH 9.5 FT 9.5 FT

AISLE 24 FT 24 FT

ADA SPACES 1 2

LOADING 0 0

STACKING 10 10



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

N



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

N



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

N



coffee  donuts  espresso  muffins  latte  bagels  cappuccino

coffee  donuts  espresso  muffins  bagels  cappuccino

© 2012 SHREMSHOCK ARCHITECTS, INC.
PROHIBITION OF REUSE:  THESE DRAWINGS AND SPECS
WERE PREPARED FOR USE ON A SPECIFIC SITE
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY WITH THEIR ISSUE DATE.  THEY
ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE ON A DIFFERENT PROJECT
SITE OR AT A LATER TIME.  REUSE OF THESE DRAWINGS
AND SPECS, OR ANY REPRODUCTION THEREOF, ON
ANOTHER PROJECT IS PROHIBITED AND CONTRARY TO
LAW UNLESS EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED IN WRITING BY
SHREMSHOCK ARCHITECTS, INC.

LAST DESIGN BULLETIN

1LAMP DETAIL
SCALE: 1-1/2" = 1'-0"

ASIDE ELEVATION
1/4" = 1'-0"

BFRONT ELEVATION
1/4" = 1'-0"

2RAIL DETAIL
3/4" = 1'-0"



© 2012 SHREMSHOCK ARCHITECTS, INC.
PROHIBITION OF REUSE:  THESE DRAWINGS AND SPECS
WERE PREPARED FOR USE ON A SPECIFIC SITE
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY WITH THEIR ISSUE DATE.  THEY
ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE ON A DIFFERENT PROJECT
SITE OR AT A LATER TIME.  REUSE OF THESE DRAWINGS
AND SPECS, OR ANY REPRODUCTION THEREOF, ON
ANOTHER PROJECT IS PROHIBITED AND CONTRARY TO
LAW UNLESS EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED IN WRITING BY
SHREMSHOCK ARCHITECTS, INC.

LAST DESIGN BULLETIN

ASIDE ELEVATION
1/4" = 1'-0"

BREAR ELEVATION
1/4" = 1'-0"



COOLER

116

PUBLIC
AREA

101

27.5

1.1

1.1

74

4949 49

49 49 49

4949 49

49 49 49

70

REFERENCE
NORTH

FREEZER

115

BREAK
ROOM

113

© 2012 SHREMSHOCK ARCHITECTS, INC.
PROHIBITION OF REUSE:  THESE DRAWINGS AND SPECS
WERE PREPARED FOR USE ON A SPECIFIC SITE
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY WITH THEIR ISSUE DATE.  THEY
ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE ON A DIFFERENT PROJECT
SITE OR AT A LATER TIME.  REUSE OF THESE DRAWINGS
AND SPECS, OR ANY REPRODUCTION THEREOF, ON
ANOTHER PROJECT IS PROHIBITED AND CONTRARY TO
LAW UNLESS EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED IN WRITING BY
SHREMSHOCK ARCHITECTS, INC.

LAST DESIGN BULLETIN

1/4" = 1'-0"



  PC 2013.01.08 
  Agenda Item # 6 
 

 
 
 
 
DATE: January 4, 2013 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN 

 REVIEW (File Number SU 398) – Proposed Fifth Third Bank, North Side of Big 
 Beaver between Lakeview and Alpine (2282 W Big Beaver), Section 20, Currently 
 Zoned BB (Big Beaver) District 

 
 
The petitioner Atwell submitted the above referenced Special Use Approval and Preliminary Site 
Plan Approval application for the proposed Fifth Third Bank.  The existing bank will be 
demolished and a new bank with drive thru will be constructed.   
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. (CWA), the City’s Planning 
Consultant, summarizes the application.  CWA prepared the report with input from various City 
departments including Planning, Engineering, Public Works and Fire.  City Management 
supports the findings of fact contained in the report and recommends approval of the project, as 
noted. 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps 
2. Report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 

 
cc: Applicant 
 File/ SU 398 
 
G:\SPECIAL USE\SU 398  Fifth Third Bank  Sec 20\PC Memo 01 08 13.docx 



PROPOSED RESOLUTION 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN 
REVIEW (File Number SU 398) – Proposed Fifth Third Bank, North Side of Big Beaver 
between Lakeview and Alpine (2282 W Big Beaver), Section 20, Currently Zoned BB (Big 
Beaver) District 
 
Resolution # PC-2013-01- 
Moved by: 
Seconded by: 
 
RESOLVED, That Special Use Approval and Preliminary Site Plan Approval for the 
proposed Fifth Third Bank, located on the north side of Big Beaver between Lakeview and 
Alpine (2282 W Big Beaver), Section 20, currently zoned BB (Big Beaver) District, be 
granted. 
 
Yes: 
No: 
Absent: 
 
MOTION CARRIED / FAILED 
 
 
 
G:\SPECIAL USE\SU 398  Fifth Third Bank  Sec 20\Proposed Resolution 2013 01 08.doc 



Fifth Third Bank, File Number SU 398

12/3/2012

Legend

1: 762

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

630127 127Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75
Road Centerline

Major Road
Industrial Road
Local Road

Ponds and Basins
Streams and Creeks
Parcels
Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:    Band_1
Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



Fifth Third Bank, File Number SU 398

12/3/2012

Legend

1: 1,429

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1190238 238Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75
Road Centerline

Major Road
Industrial Road
Local Road

Current Zoning Ordinance
(PUD) Planned Unit Development
(CF) Community Facilities District
(EP) Environmental Protection District
(BB) Big Beaver Road (Form Based)
(MRF) Maple Road (Form Based)
(NN) Neighborhood Nodes (A-U)
(CB) Community Business
(GB) General Business
(IB) Integrated Industrial Business District
(O) Office Building District
(OM) Office Mixed Use
(P) Vehicular Parking District
(R-1A) One Family Residential District
(R-1B) One Family Residential District
(R-1C) One Family Residential District
(R-1D) One Family Residential District
(R-1E) One Family Residential District
(RT) One Family Attached Residential District
(MR) Multi-Family Residential
(MHP) Manufactured Housing
(UR) Urban Residential
(RC) Research Center District
(PV) Planned Vehicle Sales

Ponds and Basins
Streams and Creeks
Parcels
Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:    Band_1
Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



 

Richard K. Carlisle, President   R. Donald Wortman, Vice President   Douglas J. Lewan, Principal   John L. Enos, Principal   David Scurto, Principal 
Benjamin R. Carlisle, Associate  Sally M. Elmiger, Associate  Brian Oppmann, Associate 

 

 Date:  December 19, 2012 
 
 

Special Use Review and  
Preliminary / Site Plan Review 

For 
Troy, Michigan 

 
 
 
 
Applicant Doug Brinker, Atwell  
 
Project Name: Fifth Third Bank 
 
Plan Date: November 19, 2012 
 
Location: 2282 Big Beaver Road 
 
Zoning: Big Beaver Form-Based   
 
Action Requested: Special Use Permit and Preliminary Site Plan.   
 
Required Information:          Deficiencies noted. 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
The applicant proposes to demolish the existing building and redevelop the site with a drive-through 
facility at the existing 0.64 acre site.   Access to the site will remain from the existing single curb-cut off 
Big Beaver Road. The site redevelopment will bring the building into compliance with the form based 
requirements of Big Beaver.   
 
Based on a recommendation of the Planning Commission, the City Council recently adopted a zoning 
text amendment that permits drive-throughs for financial institutions as a special use.   
 
 
 
   
 
 



Fifth Third Bank  
December 19, 2012 
 

2 

Location of Subject Property: 
2282 Big Beaver Road.  North side of Big Beaver adjacent to the City of Troy Fire Station #3 
 
Size of Subject Property: 
0.64 acres in area. 
 
Proposed Uses of Subject Parcel: 
The applicant proposes to redevelop as Fifth Third Bank with a drive-through 
 
Current Use of Subject Property: 
The subject property is currently improved with a bank. 
 
Current Zoning: 
The property is currently zoned Big Beaver Form Based Code, site type C. 
 
 

 
 
Surrounding Property Details 
 

Direction Zoning Use 
North Big Beaver Form Base, site type A Vacant 
South Big Beaver Form Base, site type B Commercial, Bank 
East Big Beaver Form Base, site type C Detroit Edison Utility 
West Big Beaver Form Base, site type C Troy Fire Station #3 

 
 



Fifth Third Bank  
December 19, 2012 
 

3 

SPECIAL USE STANDARDS 
 
Special Use Standards of Approval 
 
In the Big Beaver Form Based District, banks with drive-through service are permitted as a 
special use. For any special use, according to Section 9.02.D, the Planning Commission shall 
“…review the request, supplementary materials either in support or opposition thereto, as well 
as the Planning Department’s report, at a Public Hearing established for that purpose, and shall 
either grant or deny the request, table action on the request, or grant the request subject to 
specific conditions.”  Section 9.03 states that before approving any requests for Special Use 
Approval, the Planning Commission shall consider: 
 

1. Compatibility with Adjacent Uses. The Special Use shall be designed and constructed in a 
manner harmonious with the character of adjacent property and the surrounding area. 
In determining whether a Special Use will be harmonious and not create a significant 
detrimental impact, as compared to the impacts of permitted uses. The proposed use is 
located in an area intended for high traffic with similar auto-oriented uses.  Due in 
part to the number of other banks with drive-throughs on Big Beaver and the 
commercial nature of the corridor, the proposed use will not have any detrimental 
impact upon adjacent.  
 

2. Compatibility with the Master Plan. The proposed Special Use shall be compatible and in 
accordance with the goals and objectives of the City of Troy Master Plan and any 
associated sub-area and corridor plans. The use is common to a regional commercial 
area, and complies with the Master Plan. 
 

3. Traffic Impact. The proposed Special Use shall be located and designed in a manner 
which will minimize the impact of traffic, taking into consideration: pedestrian access 
and safety; vehicle trip generation (i.e. volumes); types of traffic, access location, and 
design, circulation and parking design; street and bridge capacity and, traffic operations 
at nearby intersections and access points. Efforts shall be made to ensure that multiple 
transportation modes are safely and effectively accommodated in an effort to provide 
alternate modes of access and alleviate vehicular traffic congestion. The proposed site 
plan has adequate circulation for a drive-through use and will not cause any traffic 
conflicts.   With the nature of the use as one that does not have acute peak traffic 
times for very large populations, and which is located in a high-intensity area, this 
condition is satisfied. 
 

4. Impact on Public Services. The proposed Special Use shall be adequately served by 
essential public facilities and services, such as: streets, pedestrian or bicycle facilities, 
police and fire protection, drainage systems, refuse disposal, water and sewage facilities, 
and schools. Such services shall be provided and accommodated without an 
unreasonable public burden. The proposed use should not produce any additional 
impact on other public services, such as police or utilities, beyond what would 
normally be experienced for other uses in the district.  



Fifth Third Bank  
December 19, 2012 
 

4 

 
5. Compliance with Zoning Ordinance Standards. The proposed Special Use shall be 

designed, constructed, operated and maintained to meet the stated intent of the zoning 
districts and shall comply with all applicable ordinance standards. The applicant has 
addressed all applicable ordinance standards.  The redevelopment of the site brings 
the site into greater compliance of the zoning ordinance.   

 
The Planning Commission is also required to generally consider the following for any special 
use application:  
 

1. The nature and character of the activities, processes, materials, equipment, or conditions 
of operation; either specifically or typically associated with the use. The proposed use is 
located in an area intended for high traffic with similar auto-oriented uses.  Due to 
building orientation and drive-through layout, the proposed use will not have any 
detrimental impact and will add a valuable service to the immediate commercial 
corridor.  The proposed use is appropriate for the character and nature of the areas.  
 

2. Vehicular circulation and parking areas. The proposed site plan has adequate 
circulation for a drive-through use and does not cause any traffic conflicts.   The total 
number of parking spaces exceeds the total number of parking spaces allowed.  
However through evidence presented by the applicant the proposed parking increase 
is appropriate for the use.   
 

3.  Outdoor activity, storage and work areas. The proposed use does not include any 
outdoor activity, storage, or work areas, thus this standard is not applicable.   
 

4. Hours of operation. The proposed use is in an area where similar uses provide service 
to regional commercial customers from early morning to evening.  This is a high-
intensity area and automobile service uses are common in such areas. 
 

5. Production of traffic, noise vibration, smoke, fumes odors, dust, glare and light. There is 
no anticipated secondary impacts after initial construction in this regard. 

 
 
SITE ARRANGEMENT 
 
Buildings located in the Big Beaver Form Based district are predicated on buildings placed on the street, 
and the incorporation of architectural details, most notably ground floor story activation.  As required 
by the ordinance, the applicant has placed the building to the 10’ build-to-line along Big Beaver Road 
with parking located to the side and rear of the building.   Primary customer parking is located on the 
east and north side of the building.  Secondary customer parking and primary employee parking is 
located adjacent to the drive-through lane.  The building and parking placement complies with the form 
based district requirements.  The drive-through component of the site is detached from the building 
and located in the rear of the site.  The drive-through kiosks are and served by air-vacuum tubes.    
 



Fifth Third Bank  
December 19, 2012 
 

5 

Items to be Addressed:   None 
 
AREA, WIDTH, HEIGHT, SETBACKS 
 
Required and Provided Dimensions: 
 
The site is being developed as Building Form A, which is a permitted building form for Site Type C.  Table 
5.03.B1 establishes the dimensional requirements for the building form A: 
 

 
Items to be Addressed: None   
 
SITE ACCESS AND CIRCULATION 
 
Vehicular access and Circulation: 
 
Access to the site will remain via the existing single-curb cut off Big Beaver Road.   The 12.5’ wide drive-
aisle on the east side of the drive through is intended to be one-way.   The applicant has provided on-
site signage to direct circulation.   
 
Pedestrian access:  
 
An existing 8-foot sidewalk exists on Big Beaver.    A pedestrian plaza directly connects this sidewalk to 
the building.   Where the building is adjacent to the parking lot, the applicant has provided a 7-foot wide 
sidewalk.  Internal to the site, the applicant has provided a sidewalk along a 7-foot wide sidewalk 
adjacent to customer parking area.  This customer parking area is provided with a crosswalk to a 
landscaped island.  This provides a safe transition from the parking lot to a sidewalk around the 
building.   
 
Items to be Addressed:  None  
 

  Required Provided Compliance 
Front (Big Beaver) 10 foot build-to-

line 
10 feet Complies 

Rear 30 foot minimum 180 feet Complies 

Side  NA 2.2 feet Complies 

Landscape Area 20 percent 25% Complies 

Open Space 30 percent 30.6 % Complies 

Building Height Minimum 14 feet 
Maximum 45 feet 

18 feet Complies 

Parking Not located in 
front yard and 

screening 

Not located in 
front yard and 

screened 

Complies 



Fifth Third Bank  
December 19, 2012 
 

6 

PARKING 
 
Section 13.06.G of the Zoning Ordinance requires: 
 

 Required Provided 
Banks (1 space per 200 square 
feet of gross feet area) 

3,400 sq.ft / 200 = 17 19 spaces   

   
Barrier Free 1 1 
Bicycle Parking 2 2 
Total 17 automobile + 2 bicycle 19 automobile + 2 

bicycle 
 
The applicant has provided sufficient parking.   
 
Items to be Addressed:  None 
 
LANDSCAPING 
 
The applicant has provided a landscape plan.  The plan provides all necessary calculations regarding 
greenbelt, street trees, and parking lot landscaping requirements.   
 

 Required: Provided: Compliance: 

Greenbelt: 10 feet in width along Big 
Beaver Road  
 
 

10 feet 10 feet Compliant  

Street Trees: The Ordinance requires that 
the greenbelt shall be landscaped with a 
minimum of one (1) deciduous tree for 
every thirty (30) lineal feet, or fraction 
thereof, of frontage abutting a public road 
right-of-way.   

 4  4 
 

Compliant  

Site landscaping: A minimum of twenty 
percent (20%) of the site area shall be 
comprised of landscape material. 

20% 21.1% Compliant   

Parking Lot Landscaping:  1 tree for every 
8 parking spaces.  Trees may be located 
adjacent to parking lot with planning 
commission approval.   

3 trees  3 trees Compliant 

Screening Between Land Uses: 80% 
opacity 
 

80% opacity 
with one of 
three options 

Alternative 2: mix 
of large and 
narrow evergreen 
trees 

Compliant 

 
The applicant has provided the necessary site landscaping.   
 



Fifth Third Bank  
December 19, 2012 
 

7 

Fence: 
 
The applicant is proposing an 8’ high opaque tan vinyl screen fence along the western property line.   
The applicant provided landscape screening along the northern property line.   
  
Trash Enclosure: 
 
The applicant shows one (1) new trash enclosure in the northwest corner of the site.  The applicant 
notes the trash enclosure material will match the materials of the building.   
 
Items to be Addressed: None    
 
PHOTOMETRICS 
 
The applicant has provided a lighting (photometric) plan.  The applicant proposes one (3) wall mounted 
building light, three (3) canned lights, and eight (8) pole parking lot lights.  In addition, the applicant is 
proposing canned lighting for the drive-through canopy.   The applicant has submitted light fixture cut 
sheets to confirm that all fixtures are a full cut-off fixture or a fully shielded fixture, downward directed 
with a flat lens to prevent glare.  All photometric requirements have been met.  
 
Items to be Addressed:  None 
 
DESIGN STANDARDS 
 
Developments within neighborhood nodes must comply with Design Standards outlined in section 
5.04.E.   
 
Building Orientation and Entrance 
 

a. Primary Entrance:  The primary building entrance shall be clearly identifiable and useable and 
located in the front façade parallel to the street.  Complies 
 

b. Recessed Doorways.  Where the building entrance is located on or within five (5) feet of a lot 
line, doorways shall be recessed into the face of the building.  Not applicable  
 

c. Residential Dwellings.  Entrances for all residential dwellings shall be clearly defined by at least 
one (1) of the following: 

I. Projecting or recessed entrance.  A recessed entrance is required if the building entrance 
is located on or within five (5) feet of the lot line. 

II. Stoop or enclosed or covered porch. 
III. Transom and/or side light window panels framing the door opening. 
IV. Architectural trim or unique color treatments framing the door opening 

 
 Not Applicable  
 
 
 
 



Fifth Third Bank  
December 19, 2012 
 

8 

Ground Story Activation 
 

a. The first floor of any front façade facing a right-of-way shall be no less than fifty (50) percent 
windows and doors, and the minimum transparency for facades facing a side street, side yard, or 
parking area shall be no less than 30 percent of the façade.  Transparency alternatives are 
permitted up to 80% of the 50% total along the front of buildings, and up to 100% of the sides of 
buildings.  The minimum transparency requirement shall apply to all sides of a building that abut 
an open space, including a side yard, or public right-of-way.  Transparency requirements shall 
not apply to sides which abut an alley. 

 
Through the use of windows as well as changes in horizontal and vertical scaling, variations 
in material, pattern, and color, the applicant complies with this standard.  The applicant has 
submitted full sized elevations with material use indicated as well as a colored rendering.   

 
Transitional Features 
 

a. Transitional features are architectural elements, site features, or alterations to building massing 
that are used to provide a transition between higher intensity uses and low- or moderate-density 
residential areas.  These features assist in mitigating potential conflicts between those uses.  
Transitional features are intended to be used in combination with landscape buffers or large 
setbacks. 

 
Through the use of setbacks, and landscaping the applicant has met this requirement.  

 
Site Access and Parking 
 

a. Required Parking.  Off-street parking shall be provided in accordance with the standards set 
forth in Article 13, Site Design Standards.    
 
The applicant has met the required parking and complies with all standards set forth in 
Article 13.  See parking section.    
  

b. Location. 
I. When parking is located in a side yard (behind the front building line) but  fronts on the 

required building line, no more than fifty (50) percent of the  total site’s linear feet along 
the required building line or one hundred (100) feet, whichever is less, shall be occupied 
by parking.    
 
Not Applicable  
 

II. For a corner lot, shall be no more than fifty (50) percent of the site’s cumulative linear 
feet along the required building lines or one hundred  (100) feet, whichever is less, shall 
be occupied by parking.  The building shall be located in the corner of the lot adjacent to 
the intersection.  
 
Not Applicable  

 



Fifth Third Bank  
December 19, 2012 
 

9 

III. For a double frontage lot or a lot that has frontage on three (3) streets, the  cumulative 
total of all frontages occupied by parking shall be no more  than sixty-five (65) percent of 
the total site’s linear feet along a required  building line or one hundred and twenty-five 
(125) feet, whichever is less.  
 
Not Applicable  

 
IV. Where off-street parking is visible from a street, it should be screened in accordance 

with the standards set forth in Section 13.02.C.   
 
The applicant has screened their parking lot in compliance with section 13.0.2.C. 

  
Items to be Addressed:  None   
 
DRIVE-THROUGH STANDARDS 
 
As recently adopted by the City Council, drive-throughs for financial institutions as a special use 
provided that the following requirements are met:  
 

a. A drive-through and associated structure cannot be a primary use of principal building.   
 
The drive-through is a secondary component of the use of the property as a bank.  
 

b. Ingress and egress to drive-through facilities shall be part of the internal circulation of the site 
and integrated with the overall site design. Clear identification and delineation between the 
drive-through facility and the parking lot shall be provided. Drive-through facilities shall be 
designed in a manner which promotes pedestrian and vehicular safety. 
 
Though striping, the drive-through facility is clearly delineated from site internal circulation.  
Internal to the site, the applicant has provided a sidewalk along a 7-foot wide sidewalk 
adjacent to customer parking area.  This customer parking area is provided with a crosswalk 
to a landscaped island.  This provides a safe transition from the parking lot to a sidewalk 
around the building.   

 
c. Drive-throughs must be located behind facade opposite Big Beaver Road or detached from 

principal structure and shall be located in a manner that will be the least visible from a public 
thoroughfare.  

i. If detached, the point-to-point tube transport system (pneumatic tubes) must be located 
underground to serve the drive-through kiosk or canopy. 

ii. Canopy design shall be compatible with the design of the principal building and 
incorporate similar materials and architectural elements.   
 
The drive-through is detached from the building and served with a point-to-point tube 
transport system. The canopy design is compatible with the design of the principal 
building and incorporated similar materials and architectural elements.   
 

d. Each drive-through facility shall provide stacking space meeting the following standards: 



Fifth Third Bank  
December 19, 2012 
 

10 

i. Each stacking lane shall be one-way, and each stacking lane space shall be a minimum 
of ten (10) feet in width and twenty (20) feet in length. 
 
Compliant  
 

ii. If proposed, an escape lane shall be a minimum of twelve (12) feet in width to allow 
other vehicles to pass those waiting to be served. 
 
Compliant 
 

iii. Four (4) stacking spaces per drive-through lane. 
 
Compliant 
 

iv. All stacking lanes must be clearly delineated through the use of striping, landscaping, 
curbs, or signage  
 
Compliant 
 

e. A drive-through aisle shall not be directly accessed from or exit onto Big Beaver Road. 
 

 The drive-through aisle is not directly accessed from or exit onto Big Beaver.  
 
SUMMARY 
 
We support the proposed project and believe the project meets the form-based requirements of Big 
Beaver.  We recommend special use and preliminary site plan approval.   
 

 
 



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

©

11002545SP-1.0-CV

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

SHEET NO.

FILE CODE: SP-1

CAD FILE:

JOB #:11002545

PROJECT MANAGER: EL

CHECKED BY:DB

DRAWN BY: EM

SP-

DATE

NOVEMBER 19, 2012

SUBMITTALS / REVISIONS

F
I
F

T
H

 
T

H
I
R

D
 
B

A
N

K

F
T

E
M

 
-
 
T

R
O

Y

2
2
8
2

 
W

.
 
B

I
G

 
B

E
A

V
E

R

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
T

R
O

Y

O
A

K
L
A

N
D

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
M

I
C

H
I
G

A
N

11-26-2012

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

S
E

C
T

I
O

N
 
2
0

T
O

W
N

 
2
 
N

O
R

T
H

,
 
R

A
N

G
E

 
1
1
 
E

A
S

T

ENGINEER'S SEAL

01-03-2013

CITY SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS

C
O

V
E

R
 
S

H
E

E
T

1.0








SP-1.0 COVER SHEET
SP-2.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN
SP-3.0 LAYOUT & PAVING PLAN
SP-4.0 PRELIMINARY GRADING PLAN
SP-5.0 PRELIMINARY UTILITY PLAN
SP-6.0 PRELIMINARY STORMWATER PLAN
SP-7.0 LANDSCAPE PLAN
SP-8.0 LIGHTING PLAN

ATTACHED PLANS
ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATIONS
ARCHITECTURAL FLOOR PLAN

SHEET INDEX

PROJECT NARRATIVE
THE PROPOSED SCOPE OF THE PROJECT IS TO DEMOLISH THE
EXISTING FINANCIAL INSTITUTION AND REDEVELOP THE PROPERTY
WITH A NEW ±2,885 SQUARE FOOT FINANCIAL INSTITUTION WITH A
DETACHED DRIVE-THRU FACILITY PROVIDING ONE (1) TELLER LANE AND
ONE (1) ATM LANE. NORMAL BANKING HOURS SHALL BE 9:00 AM - 5:00
PM MONDAY THROUGH WEDNESDAY, 9:00 AM - 6:00 PM THURSDAYS &
FRIDAYS, 9:00 AM - 1:00 PM ON SATURDAYS, AND CLOSED ON SUNDAYS.

ZONING
BB (BIG BEAVER DISTRICT)

NEAREST WATERCOURSE
LONG DRAIN

WETLANDS
NO JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS WITHIN THE LIMITS OF THIS PROJECT

FLOOD PLAIN





ATWELL, LLC
TWO TOWNE SQUARE, SUITE 700
SOUTHFIELD, MI 48076
PHONE: (248) 447-2000
FAX: (248) 447-2001
CONTACT: ERIC LORD

CIVIL ENGINEER

DEVELOPMENT TEAM








ARCHITECT

FRANCHISE UTILITY CONTACTS
GAS ELECTRIC TELEPHONE

PROGRAM MANAGER/DEVELOPER
CBRE

111 LYON STREET

GRAND RAPIDS, MI 49503

PHONE: (616) 653-5560

CONTACT: JEFF JACOBS

VICINITY MAP - NOT TO SCALE

PUBLIC UTILITY CONTACTS







WATER & SEWER

STORM SEWER



















OWNER
FIFTH THIRD BANK

MAIL DROP RMOBBA, 111 LYON STREET, NW

GRAND RAPIDS, MI 49503

PHONE:  (616) 653-5561

CONTACT: TOM VAN GESSEL



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

©

11002545SP-2.0-EC

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

SHEET NO.

FILE CODE: SP-1

CAD FILE:

JOB #:11002545

PROJECT MANAGER: EL

CHECKED BY:DB

DRAWN BY: EM

SP-

DATE

NOVEMBER 19, 2012

SUBMITTALS / REVISIONS

F
I
F

T
H

 
T

H
I
R

D
 
B

A
N

K

F
T

E
M

 
-
 
T

R
O

Y

2
2
8
2

 
W

.
 
B

I
G

 
B

E
A

V
E

R

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
T

R
O

Y

O
A

K
L
A

N
D

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
M

I
C

H
I
G

A
N

11-26-2012

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

S
E

C
T

I
O

N
 
2
0

T
O

W
N

 
2
 
N

O
R

T
H

,
 
R

A
N

G
E

 
1
1
 
E

A
S

T

ENGINEER'S SEAL

01-03-2013

CITY SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
C

O
N

D
I
T

I
O

N
S

 
P

L
A

N

2.0

SCALE: 1" = 20'

0 10 20



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

©

11002545SP-3.0-L

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

SHEET NO.

FILE CODE: SP-1

CAD FILE:

JOB #:11002545

PROJECT MANAGER: EL

CHECKED BY:DB

DRAWN BY: EM

SP-

DATE

NOVEMBER 19, 2012

SUBMITTALS / REVISIONS

F
I
F

T
H

 
T

H
I
R

D
 
B

A
N

K

F
T

E
M

 
-
 
T

R
O

Y

2
2
8
2

 
W

.
 
B

I
G

 
B

E
A

V
E

R

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
T

R
O

Y

O
A

K
L
A

N
D

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
M

I
C

H
I
G

A
N

11-26-2012

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

S
E

C
T

I
O

N
 
2
0

T
O

W
N

 
2
 
N

O
R

T
H

,
 
R

A
N

G
E

 
1
1
 
E

A
S

T

ENGINEER'S SEAL

01-03-2013

CITY SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS

L
A

Y
O

U
T

 
&

 
P

A
V

I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

3.0

SCALE: 1" = 20'

0 10 20



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

©

11002545SP-4.0-G

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

SHEET NO.

FILE CODE: SP-1

CAD FILE:

JOB #:11002545

PROJECT MANAGER: EL

CHECKED BY:DB

DRAWN BY: EM

SP-

DATE

NOVEMBER 19, 2012

SUBMITTALS / REVISIONS

F
I
F

T
H

 
T

H
I
R

D
 
B

A
N

K

F
T

E
M

 
-
 
T

R
O

Y

2
2
8
2

 
W

.
 
B

I
G

 
B

E
A

V
E

R

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
T

R
O

Y

O
A

K
L
A

N
D

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
M

I
C

H
I
G

A
N

11-26-2012

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

S
E

C
T

I
O

N
 
2
0

T
O

W
N

 
2
 
N

O
R

T
H

,
 
R

A
N

G
E

 
1
1
 
E

A
S

T

ENGINEER'S SEAL

01-03-2013

CITY SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS

P
R

E
L

I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
G

R
A

D
I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

4.0

SCALE: 1" = 20'

0 10 20




NOTE:

ALL ADA ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACES, RAMPS, AND ROUTES SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN COMPLIANCE WITH LOCAL, STATE, AND NATIONAL ADA STANDARDS AND

REQUIREMENTS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SURVEY, DESIGN OR CONSTRUCTION REQUIRED TO REPAIR OR

REPLACE AREAS OF NONCOMPLIANCE. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND ENGINEER IF THERE ARE ANY QUESTIONS RELATED TO THE

CONSTRUCTION OF ADA ACCESSIBLE AREAS AND/OR UNFORESEEN CIRCUMSTANCES ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION

*CONTRACTOR TO CONFIRM ADA ROUTE TO THE BUILDING ENTRANCE, BUILDING EMERGENCY EGRESS, AND THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY. ANY QUESTIONS SHOULD BE

SUBMITTED IN WRITING TO THE ENGINEER.



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

©

11002545SP-5.0-R

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

SHEET NO.

FILE CODE: SP-1

CAD FILE:

JOB #:11002545

PROJECT MANAGER: EL

CHECKED BY:DB

DRAWN BY: EM

SP-

DATE

NOVEMBER 19, 2012

SUBMITTALS / REVISIONS

F
I
F

T
H

 
T

H
I
R

D
 
B

A
N

K

F
T

E
M

 
-
 
T

R
O

Y

2
2
8
2

 
W

.
 
B

I
G

 
B

E
A

V
E

R

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
T

R
O

Y

O
A

K
L
A

N
D

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
M

I
C

H
I
G

A
N

11-26-2012

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

S
E

C
T

I
O

N
 
2
0

T
O

W
N

 
2
 
N

O
R

T
H

,
 
R

A
N

G
E

 
1
1
 
E

A
S

T

ENGINEER'S SEAL

01-03-2013

CITY SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS

P
R

E
L

I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
S

T
O

R
M

W
A

T
E

R
 
P

L
A

N

5.0

SCALE: 1" = 20'

0 10 20



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

©

11002545SP-6.0-U

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

SHEET NO.

FILE CODE: SP-1

CAD FILE:

JOB #:11002545

PROJECT MANAGER: EL

CHECKED BY:DB

DRAWN BY: EM

SP-

DATE

NOVEMBER 19, 2012

SUBMITTALS / REVISIONS

F
I
F

T
H

 
T

H
I
R

D
 
B

A
N

K

F
T

E
M

 
-
 
T

R
O

Y

2
2
8
2

 
W

.
 
B

I
G

 
B

E
A

V
E

R

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
T

R
O

Y

O
A

K
L
A

N
D

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
M

I
C

H
I
G

A
N

11-26-2012

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

S
E

C
T

I
O

N
 
2
0

T
O

W
N

 
2
 
N

O
R

T
H

,
 
R

A
N

G
E

 
1
1
 
E

A
S

T

ENGINEER'S SEAL

01-03-2013

CITY SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS

P
R

E
L

I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
U

T
I
L

I
T

Y
 
P

L
A

N

6.0

SCALE: 1" = 20'

0 10 20



Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

©

11002545SP-7.0-LS

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

SHEET NO.

FILE CODE: SP-1

CAD FILE:

JOB #:11002545

PROJECT MANAGER: EL

CHECKED BY:DB

DRAWN BY: EM

SP-

DATE

NOVEMBER 19, 2012

SUBMITTALS / REVISIONS

F
I
F

T
H

 
T

H
I
R

D
 
B

A
N

K

F
T

E
M

 
-
 
T

R
O

Y

2
2
8
2

 
W

.
 
B

I
G

 
B

E
A

V
E

R

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
T

R
O

Y

O
A

K
L
A

N
D

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
M

I
C

H
I
G

A
N

11-26-2012

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

S
E

C
T

I
O

N
 
2
0

T
O

W
N

 
2
 
N

O
R

T
H

,
 
R

A
N

G
E

 
1
1
 
E

A
S

T

ENGINEER'S SEAL

01-03-2013

CITY SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS

L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
 
P

L
A

N

7.0

SCALE: 1" = 20'

0 10 20





3'-4" 20'-6" 3'-4"

4'-0" 11'-0" 3'-4"

5
'
-
4

"
1

0
'
-
0

"

24'-0"

15'-0"

CANE BOLT

LATCH LOCK PAINTED TO

MATCH METAL GATE

CORRUGATED STEEL GATE INSERT.

PAINT TO MATCH BUILDING COLOR

1
 
1

/
2

"
4

 
1

/
2

"

5
'
-
6

"
6

"

PROVIDE GALV. PIPE

SLEEVE SET IN CONC. SLAB

(FOR CANE BOLT)

2" SQ. STL. TUBE GATE

FRAME -WELD CORNERS

& PAINT

HINGES - (3)

PER SIDE

4 x 4 STL.

TUBE POST

ELEV= 6'-8"

T.O. MASONRY

ELEV= 0'-0"

FIN. FLOOR

4" CAST STONE CAP

1'-0"

8" CMU BLOCK

5" CONC. SLAB

4
"

4" BRICK VENEER

TO MATCH BUILDING

VENEER

ELEV= 6'-8"

T.O. MASONRY

ELEV= 0'-0"

FIN. FLOOR

1/4" = 1'-0"

3

EAST ELEVATION

F
T

E
M

 
-
 
T

R
O

Y
 
R

E
B

U
I
L

D

2
2

8
2

 
W

E
S

T
 
B

I
D

 
B

E
A

V
E

R
 
R

D
.

T
R

O
Y

,
 
M

I
C

H
I
G

A
N

 
4

8
0

8
4

2
8

8
5

 
E

l
e

v
a

t
i
o

n
s
 
v
1

:
 

1
0

/
0

1
/
1

2

2
8

8
5

 
E

l
e

v
a

t
i
o

n
s
 
v
2

B
:

1
0

/
0

9
/
1

2

2
8

8
5

 
E

l
e

v
a

t
i
o

n
s
 
v
7

:
0

1
/
0

3
/
1

3

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 
N

U
M

B
E

R
:

6
2

-
4

0
1

1
5

-
1

5

C
B

R
E

 
N

U
M

B
E

R
:

7
4

7
0

8

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:
 
M

A
M

R
E

V
I
E

W
E

D
 
B

Y
:
 
B

M
S

C
o

l
u

m
b

u
s
,
 
O

h
i
o

 
 
4

3
2

2
9

-
1

5
4

7

p
h

o
n

e
 
 
6

1
4

.
8

9
8

.
7

1
0

0

f
a

x
 
 
6

1
4

.
8

9
8

.
7

5
7

0

m
s
 
c
o
n
s
u
l
t
a
n
t
s
,
 
i
n
c
.

e
n
g
i
n
e
e
r
s
,
 
a
r
c
h
i
t
e
c
t
s
,
 
p
l
a
n
n
e
r
s

2
2

2
1

 
S

c
h

r
o

c
k
 
R

o
a

d

C
o
n
s
u
l
t
a
n
t
:

f
a

x
 
 
6

1
4

.
8

9
8

.
7

5
7

0

1/4" = 1'-0"

1

NORTH ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"

2

TRASH ENCLOSURE

1/4" = 1'-0"

4

ENCLOSURE SECTION



RF-2

EF-1

EF-2

EF-3

EF-3

SF-1

PT-1

EF-1

EF-3

RF-2

SF-1

EF-3

EF-2

PT-1

ms consultants, inc.
engineers, architects, planners
2221 Schrock Road
Columbus, Ohio 43229
phone (614) 898-7100
fax (614) 898-7570

SHEET

SHEET TITLE

SCALE

ISSUE DATE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

B
A

N
K

IN
G

 C
E

N
T

E
R

 F
O

R
:

PROJECT NO.:

F
IL

E
 N

A
M

E

REVISION

??/??/?? PERMIT REVISIONS

As indicated

22
82

 W
E

S
T

 B
ID

 B
E

A
V

E
R

 R
D

.
T

R
O

Y
, M

IC
H

IG
A

N
 4

80
84

1/
3/

20
13

 3
:1

9:
05

 P
M

COLOR EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

R2.0

62-40115-15

Author

Issue Date

Checker

F
T

E
M

 - 
T

R
O

Y
 R

E
B

U
IL

T

# DATE DESCRIPTION

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE:
ITEM

STANDING SEAM
METAL ROOF PANELS

MANUFACTURER INFORMATION

ATAS INTERNATIONAL -OR- BERRIDGE MANUFACTURING
COLOR: TO MATCH BERRIDGE "SIERRA TAN"

STOREFRONT KAWNEER FRAMING SYSTEMS
COLOR: BONE WHITE

ITEM

CAST STONE

MANUFACTURER INFORMATION

CONTINENTAL CAST STONE
COLOR: "ST. THOMAS TAN 1103"

BRICK BORAL BRICK, INC., BELL GLADE

STUCCO STO CORPORATION, STO POWERWALL NEXT STUCCO
COLOR/FINISH: #32137 CANVAS, FINE SAND FINISH

SIDING & TRIM COLOR PAINT: SHERWIN WILLIAMS DURATION
COLOR: SW7070 SITE WHITE

RF-2

PT-1

EF-1

EF-2

EF-3

SF-1



ms consultants, inc.
engineers, architects, planners
2221 Schrock Road
Columbus, Ohio 43229
phone (614) 898-7100
fax (614) 898-7570

SHEET

SHEET TITLE

SCALE

ISSUE DATE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

B
A

N
K

IN
G

 C
E

N
T

E
R

 F
O

R
:

PROJECT NO.:

F
IL

E
 N

A
M

E

REVISION

??/??/?? PERMIT REVISIONS

 12" = 1'-0"

22
82

 W
E

S
T

 B
ID

 B
E

A
V

E
R

 R
D

.
T

R
O

Y
, M

IC
H

IG
A

N
 4

80
84

1/
3/

20
13

 3
:1

9:
08

 P
M

3D RENDERED VIEW

R3.0

62-40115-15

Author

Issue Date

Checker

F
T

E
M

 - 
T

R
O

Y
 R

E
B

U
IL

T

# DATE DESCRIPTION



Luminaire Type:
Catalog Number
(autopopulated):

GOTHAM ARCHITECTURAL DOWNLIGHTING  |  1400 Lester Road Conyers GA 30012  |  P 800.315.4982  |  gothamlighting.com

© 2010-2012 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Rev. 07/02/12. Specifications subject to change without notice.PAGE 1 OF 3

EVO-ALED-8-OPEN

Gotham Architectural Downlighting
LED Downlights

8” Evo®

A-Series LED, Open Reflector

Solid-State Lighting

FEATU
RES

ORDERIN
G IN

FORM
ATION

N
OTES

OPTICAL SYSTEM
•	 Self-flanged semi-specular, matte-diffuse or specular lower reflector
•	 Patented Bounding Ray™ optical design (U.S. Patent No. 5,800,050) 
•	 45° cutoff to source and source image
•	 Top-down flash characteristic
MECHANICAL SYSTEM
•	 16-gauge galvanized steel construction; maximum 1-1/4” ceiling thickness
•	 Telescopic mounting bars maximum of 32” and minimum of 15”, preinstalled, 

4” vertical adjustment
•	 Toolless adjustments post installation
•	 Junction box capacity: 8 (4 in, 4 out ) 12AWG rated for 90°C
•	 Light engine and driver accessible through aperture

ELECTRICAL SYSTEM
•	 Fully serviceable and upgradeable LED light engine 
•	 70% lumen maintenance at 50,000 hours based on IESNA LM-79-2008
•	 120-277VAC, 50/60hz power supply with 0-10V dimming (10-100%); rated for 

50,000-hour life
•	 Overload and short circuit protected
LISTINGS
•	 Fixtures are CSA certified to meet US and Canadian standards; wet location, 

covered ceiling
WARRANTY
•	 5-year limited warranty. Complete warranty terms located at: 

www.acuitybrands.com/CustomerResources/Terms_and_conditions.aspx

EXAMPLE: ALED 35/18 8AR 120

Series Color temperature Nominal lumen values Aperture/Trim color Finish Voltage Driver

ALED 27/ 2700 K
30/ 3000 K
35/ 3500 K
41/ 4100 K

18 1800 lumens
22 2200 lumens
29 2900 lumens

8AR Clear
8PR Pewter
8WTR Wheat
8GR Gold
8WR1 White

(blank) Semi-specular 
LD Matte diffuse
LS Specular

120
277
347

(blank)2 0-10V dimming driver. 
Minimum dimming 
level 10%

ECOS33 Lutron Hi-Lume® dim-
ming driver. Minimum 
dimming level 1%

Options

SF Single fuse
LRC Lithonia Reloc® system
NSD4 Sensor Switch nLight™ dimming relay
TRW5 White painted flange

TRBL Black painted flange
ELR6 Emergency battery pack with remote test switch
CP Chicago plenum

ACCESSORIES order as separate catalog numbers (shipped separately)

SCA8 Sloped ceiling adapter. Degree of slope must be specified (10D, 15D, 20D, 25D, 30D). Ex: SCA8 10D. Refer to TECH-190.
CTA4-8YK Ceiling thickness adapter (extends mounting frame to accommodate ceiling thickness up to 2”).
GVRT Vandal-resistant trim accessory. Refer to TECH-200.
ISD BC 0-10V wallbox dimmer. Refer to ISD-BC.

ORDERING NOTES

1. Not available with finishes.
2. Refer to TECH-240 for compatible dimmers.
3. CSA certified for US and Canada.
4. One 5A relay with one 0-10 VDC dimming output, shipped installed. Requires 

additional nLight bus power supply (nPS80).

5. Not available with white reflector.
6. For dimensional changes, refer to TECH-140.

http://www.gothamlighting.com
http://www.acuitybrands.com/Libraries/Terms_and_Conds/ABL_LED_Indoor_Warranty_5_year.sflb.ashx
http://www.acuitybrandslighting.com/library/GAL/documents/OtherDocuments/TECH-190.pdf
http://www.acuitybrandslighting.com/library/GAL/documents/OtherDocuments/TECH-200.pdf
http://www.acuitybrandslighting.com/library/SYN/documents/SpecSheets/ISD_BC.pdf
http://www.acuitybrandslighting.com/library/GAL/documents/OtherDocuments/TECH-240.pdf
http://www.acuitybrandslighting.com/library/GAL/documents/OtherDocuments/TECH-140.pdf


GOTHAM ARCHITECTURAL DOWNLIGHTING  |  1400 Lester Road Conyers GA 30012  |  P 800.315.4982  |  gothamlighting.com

© 2010-2012 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Rev. 07/02/12. Specifications subject to change without notice. PAGE 2 OF 3

EVO-ALED-8-OPEN

DIM
EN

SION
AL DATA  

8” EVO
A-Series LED, Open Reflector
Solid-State Lighting

PH
OTOM

ETRY

All dimensions are inches (centimeters) unless otherwise noted.

85
8  [22.0]

14 3
16  [36.0]

15 7
8  [40.3]

Aperture: 7-7/8 (20.1)
Ceiling Opening: 8-7/8 (21.5)
Overlap Trim: 9-1/4 (23.5)

http://www.gothamlighting.com


GOTHAM ARCHITECTURAL DOWNLIGHTING  |  1400 Lester Road Conyers GA 30012  |  P 800.315.4982  |  gothamlighting.com

© 2010-2012 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Rev. 07/02/12. Specifications subject to change without notice.PAGE 3 OF 3

EVO-ALED-8-OPEN

ALED 35/18 8AR LS INPUT WATTS: 34.6, DELIVERED LUMENS: 1910.1, LM/W=55.2, 1.0 S/MH, TEST NO. LTL21102

PH
OTOM

ETRY

Distribution Curve Distribution Data Output Data Coefficient of Utilization Illuminance: Single Luminaire 30” Above Floor

8” EVO
A-Series LED, Open Reflector

Solid-State Lighting

PHOTOMETRY NOTES

•	 Tested in accordance with IESNA LM-79-08.
•	 Tested to current IES and NEMA standards under stabilized laboratory conditions.
•	 Actual performance may differ as a result of end-user environment and application.
•	 Actual wattage may differ by +/- 10% when operating between 120-277V +/- 10%.
•	 CRI: 83 typical.
•	 Consult factory or IES file for microgroove baffle, black cone or other photometric reports.

ALED 35/22 8AR LS INPUT WATTS: 39.3, DELIVERED LUMENS: 2470.3, LM/W=62.9, 1.0 S/MH, TEST NO. LTL21112

ALED 35/29 8AR LS INPUT WATTS: 48.6, DELIVERED LUMENS: 3094.8, LM/W=63.7, 1.0 S/MH, TEST NO. LTL21108

0°  20°

 40°

 60°

 80°

800

1600

Ave Lumens
0
5
15
25
35
45
55
65
75
85
90

1840
1957
1929
1379
660
168
3
1
1
0
0

191
535
623
414
137
8
1
1
0

Zone Lumens % Lamp
0° - 30°
0° - 40°
0° - 60°
0° - 90°

90° - 180°
0° - 180°

1349.0
1762.7
1908.3
1910.1

0.0
1910.1

70.6
92.3
99.9
100.0
0.0

*100.0
*Efficiency

%02fp
pc 80% 70% 50%
pw 50% 30% 10% 50% 30% 10% 50% 30% 10%
0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

119
111
103
96
90
84
79
74
70
66
62

119
108
99
91
84
78
73
68
64
60
56

119
106
96
87
80
74
69
64
60
56
52

116
109
101
95
89
83
78
73
69
65
62

116
106
98
90
84
78
72
68
63
60
56

116
104
95
87
80
74
68
64
59
56
52

111
105
98
92
87
81
77
72
68
64
61

111
103
95
88
82
77
72
67
63
59
56

111
101
93
85
79
73
68
63
59
56
52

R
C

R

50% beam -
52.8°

10% beam -
78.9°

Mounting
Height

Inital FC
Center
Beam Diameter FC Diameter FC

8.0
10.0
12.0
14.0
16.0

60.8
32.7
20.4
13.9
10.1

5.5
7.4
9.4
11.4
13.4

30.4
16.4
10.2
7.0
5.0

9.0
12.3
15.6
18.9
22.2

6.1
3.3
2.0
1.4
1.0

0°  20°

 40°

 60°

 80°

1000

2000

Ave Lumens
0
5
15
25
35
45
55
65
75
85
90

2463
2584
2486
1785
851
215
4
1
1
0
0

250
690
808
534
176
10
1
0
0

Zone Lumens % Lamp
0° - 30°
0° - 40°
0° - 60°
0° - 90°

90° - 180°
0° - 180°

1748.6
2282.9
2469.0
2470.3

0.0
2470.3

70.8
92.4
99.9
100.0
0.0

*100.0
*Efficiency

%02fp
pc 80% 70% 50%
pw 50% 30% 10% 50% 30% 10% 50% 30% 10%
0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

119
111
103
96
90
84
79
74
70
66
62

119
108
99
91
84
78
73
68
64
60
56

119
106
96
87
80
74
69
64
60
56
53

116
109
101
95
89
83
78
73
69
65
62

116
106
98
90
84
78
72
68
64
60
56

116
104
95
87
80
74
68
64
60
56
52

111
105
98
92
87
81
77
72
68
64
61

111
103
95
88
82
77
72
67
63
59
56

111
101
93
85
79
73
68
63
59
56
52

R
C

R

50% beam -
52.0°

10% beam -
78.4°

Mounting
Height

Inital FC
Center
Beam Diameter FC Diameter FC

8.0
10.0
12.0
14.0
16.0

81.4
43.8
27.3
18.6
13.5

5.4
7.3
9.3
11.2
13.2

40.7
21.9
13.6
9.3
6.8

9.0
12.2
15.5
18.8
22.0

8.1
4.4
2.7
1.9
1.4

0°  20°

 40°

 60°

 80°

1200

2400

Ave Lumens
0
5
15
25
35
45
55
65
75
85
90

3052
3142
3026
2245
1096
285
4
1
0
0
0

302
842
1016
687
232
13
1
0
0

Zone Lumens % Lamp
0° - 30°
0° - 40°
0° - 60°
0° - 90°

90° - 180°
0° - 180°

2160.1
2847.6
3093.1
3094.8

0.0
3094.8

69.8
92.0
99.9
100.0
0.0

*100.0
*Efficiency

%02fp
pc 80% 70% 50%
pw 50% 30% 10% 50% 30% 10% 50% 30% 10%
0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

119
111
103
96
90
84
79
74
69
65
62

119
108
99
91
84
78
73
68
63
59
56

119
106
96
87
80
74
68
63
59
55
52

116
109
101
95
88
83
78
73
69
65
61

116
106
98
90
83
77
72
67
63
59
56

116
104
95
86
79
73
68
63
59
55
52

111
105
98
92
86
81
76
72
68
64
60

111
103
95
88
82
76
71
67
62
59
55

111
101
92
85
78
73
67
63
59
55
52

R
C

R

50% beam -
52.4°

10% beam -
79.1°

Mounting
Height

Inital FC
Center
Beam Diameter FC Diameter FC

8.0
10.0
12.0
14.0
16.0

100.9
54.3
33.8
23.1
16.7

5.4
7.4
9.3
11.3
13.3

50.4
27.1
16.9
11.5
8.4

9.1
12.4
15.7
19.0
22.3

10.1
5.4
3.4
2.3
1.7

http://www.gothamlighting.com


DOWNLIGHTING DOM8_LED_OPEN

D   M8 LED 
 8" OPEN

LED

o

DOM8 LED

Series Lumen output1 Color temperature Voltage Reflector Options

DOM8 LED 1200L
1500L

35K 3500K
40K 4000K

120
277
3472

 

D08 White open3

D08A Clear diffuse open
D08AZ Semi-specular open
D08MW Matte white3

TRW White flange with anodized reflectors
TRBL Black flange with anodized reflectors
DIM 0-10V dimming driver, 10% min. light output
ELR Emergency battery pack with remote test switch 100% lumen output at 

90 minutes 
NSD Sensor Switch nLightTM dimming relay; must be ordered with DIM option4

ORDERING INFORMATION Lead times will vary depending on options selected.  Consult with your sales representative. Example: DOM8 LED 1200L 35K 120 D08

FEATURES & SPECIFICATIONS
INTENDED USE — Recessed downlight that provides volumetric lighting by filling the entire volume of 
space with light, delivering the ideal amount of light to walls, cubicles, work surfaces and people. Typical 
applications include corridors, lobbies, conference rooms and private offices. The system maintains 70% 
lumen output at more than 50,000 hours. 

CONSTRUCTION — 16-gauge galvanized steel mounting/plaster frame with torsion springs to mount 
open conical shape reflector. 

Rugged, one-piece, die-cast housing with white interior dome reflector.

LED light source shielded from direct view.

Vertically adjustable mounting brackets that use 16-gauge flat bar hangers (included), 1/2" conduit or C 
channel T bar fasteners. Provides 3-3/4" total adjustment. 

Post installation adjustment possible from above or below the ceiling.

Galvanized steel junction box with bottom-hinged access covers and spring latches. Two combination 
1/2"-3/4" and three 1/2" knockouts for straight-through conduit runs. Capacity: 8 (4 in, 4 out) No. 12 AWG 
conductors, rated for 90°C.

Fixture height of 5-3/4" allows installation in shallow plenum applications.

Secondary housing adjustment system for precise, final ceiling-to-flange alignment.

Maximum 1-1/2" ceiling thickness. 

ELECTRICAL — Utilizes high-brightness LEDs mounted to a metal core circuit board, ensuring cool-running 
operation, 3500K, CRI > 80.

Thermal control ensures cool-running LEDs.

Thermal protection provided against improper insulation use.

High-efficiency, electronic LED driver mounted in the junction box.

Luminaire should be installed in applications where ambient temperatures do not exceed 50°C. Ambient 
temperatures that exceed 50°C will result in reduced lamp life and will void warranty.

Input wattage for 1200L is 27.5W. Input wattage for 1500L is 35.8W.

The DOM8 LED with DIM option operates with all 0-10V dimming switches. The following dimming switches 
have been confirmed to dim to 10% output:

Synergy® model number: ISD BC 120/277

Leviton® model number: IP710-DLX

Lutron® model number: NTFTV-WH. For on/off control, this switch requires a power pack. Consult Lutron 
for more information.

LISTINGS — CSA Certified to US and Canadian safety standards. Damp location listed.

Energy Star® qualified.

WARRANTY — Five-year limited warranty. Complete warranty terms located at:  
www.acuitybrands.com/CustomerResources/Terms_and_conditions.aspx.

Note: Specifications subject to change without notice.

15
(38.1)

5-3/4
(14.6)

9-3/8
(23.7)

8-3/4
(22.2)

Notes

1 Total system delivered lumens; power factor > 0.90.

2 Not available with ELR and ELRB722

3 White integral flange.

4 One 5A relay with one 0-10 VDC dimming output, shipped installed. 
Requires additional nLight bus power supply.

Accessories: Order as separate catalog number.

ISD BC 120/277 WH Synergy white switch
ISD BC 120/277 IV Synergy ivory switch

All dimensions are inches (centimeters) unless otherwise specified.

Specifications

Aperture:  8-3/4 (22.2)

Ceiling opening:  8-3/4 (22.2)

Overlap trim:   9-3/8 (23.7)

Height:   5-3/4 (14.6)

Length:  13 (33.0)

Standard width:  15 (38.1)

Catalog  
Number

Notes

Type

http://www.acuitybrandslighting.com/library/SYN/documents/SpecSheets/ISD_BC.pdf


 DOM8_LED_OPEN

 

DOWNLIGHTING:    One Lithonia Way  Conyers, GA 30012    Phone:  800.315.4935    Fax: 770-860-3129 www.lithonia.com © 2009-2012 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc.   All rights reserved.   Rev. 02/22/12

DOM8 LED   8" OPEN LED

PHOTOMETRICS
DOM8 1500L DO8; 1505 delivered lumens, input watts: 35.8, Test No. LTL 17190, tested in accordance with IESNA LM-79-2008

DOM8 1200L DO8; 1174 delivered lumens, input watts: 27.5, Test No. LTL 17214, tested in accordance with IESNA LM-79-2008

Coefficients of Utilization
pf 20%
pc 80% 70% 50%
pw 50% 30% 50% 30% 50% 30%

R
C

R

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

119
106
93
83
73
66
59
54
49
45
42

119
102
87
75
65
57
51
45
41
37
34

116
104
91
81
72
65
58
53
48
44
41

116
100
86
74
64
57
50
45
41
37
34

111
99
88
78
70
63
57
51
47
43
40

111
97
83
72
63
55
49
44
40
36
33

Zonal Lumen Summary
Zone Lumens % Lamp

*
*Total Efficiency

0° - 30°
0° - 40°
0° - 60°
0° - 90°

90° - 180°
0° - 180°

451.2
743.6
1290.6
1505.3

0.0
1505.3

30.0
49.4
85.7
100.0
0.0

100.0

Polar Plot

0°  10°  20°

 30°

 40°

 50°

 60°

 70°

 80°

90°
0

40

120

200

280

360

440

520

Intensity Distribution
Horizontal Angle

Vertical Angle Lumens
0
5
10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50
55
60
65
70
75
80
85
90

55

157

239

292

298

249

159

48

8

Coefficients of Utilization
pf 20%
pc 80% 70% 50%
pw 50% 30% 50% 30% 50% 30%

R
C

R

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

119
106
93
82
73
66
59
54
49
45
42

119
102
87
75
65
57
51
45
41
37
34

116
104
91
81
72
65
58
53
48
44
41

116
100
86
74
64
57
50
45
41
37
34

111
99
88
78
70
63
57
51
47
43
40

111
97
83
72
63
55
49
44
40
36
33

Zonal Lumen Summary
Zone Lumens % Lamp

*
*Total Efficiency

0° - 30°
0° - 40°
0° - 60°
0° - 90°

90° - 180°
0° - 180°

352.9
580.7
1005.6
1174.3

0.1
1174.4

30.0
49.4
85.6
100.0
0.0

100.0

Polar Plot

0°  10°  20°

 30°

 40°

 50°

 60°

 70°

 80°

 90°0
100°110°120°130°140°150°160°170°180°

40

120

200

280

360

440

Intensity Distribution
Horizontal Angle

Vertical Angle Lumens
0
5
15
25
35
45
55
65
75
85
90
95
105
115
125
135
145
155
165
175
180

43
123
187
228
231
194
124
39
6

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Notes
 ● Actual performance may differ as a result of end-user environment and application.

 ● Actual wattage may differ by +/-5% when operating between 120-347V +/-10%.



Catalog Number

Notes Type

FEATURES & SPECIFICATIONS
CONSTRUCTION — Weldable-grade, hot-rolled, commercial-quality carbon
steel tubing with a minimum yield of 55,000 psi (11-gauge), or 50,000 psi (7-
gauge). Uniform wall thickness of .125" or .188". Shaft is one-piece with a full-
length longitudinal high-frequency electric resistance weld. Uniformly
square in cross-section with flat sides, small corner radii and excellent
torsional qualities. Available shaft widths are 4, 5 and 6 inches.
Anchor base is fabricated from hot-rolled carbon steel plate conforming to
ASTM A36, that meets or exceeds a minimum-yield strength of 36,000 psi. Base
plate and shaft are circumferentially welded top and bottom. Base cover is
finished to match pole.
A handhole having nominal dimensions of 3" x 5" for all shafts. Included is a
cover with attachment screws.
Top cap provided with all drill-mount poles.
Fasteners are high-strength galvanized, zinc-plated or stainless steel.
Finish: Must specify finish.
Grounding: Provision located immediately inside handhole rim. Grounding
hardware is not included (provided by others).
Anchor Bolts: Top portion of anchor bolt is galvanized per ASTM A-153.
Made of steel rod having a minimum yield strength of 55,000 psi.

Anchor Base Poles

SSS
SQUARE STRAIGHT STEEL

Outdoor Sheet #: Pole-SSS               PL-320

Lead times will vary depending on options selected. Consult with your sales representative.
Example: SSS 20 5C DM19 DDB

ORDERING INFORMATION

NOTES:
1 When ordering tenon mounting and drill mounting for the same

pole, follow this example: DM28/T20.  The combination includes a
required extra handhole.

2 The drilling template to be used for a particular luminaire depends
on the luminaire that is used. Refer to the Technical Data Section
of the Outdoor Binder for Drilling Templates.

3 Insert "1" or "2" to designate fixture size; e.g. DM19AST2.
4 Specify location and orientation when ordering option.

For 1st "x": Specify the height in feet above base of pole.
Example:  5ft = 5 and 20ft = 20

For 2nd "x": Specify orientation from handhole (A,B,C,D)
Refer to the Handhole Orientation diagram above.

5 Horizontal arm is 18" x 2-3/8" O.D. tenon standard.
6 Combination of tenon-top and drill mount includes extra handhole.
7 Additional colors available; see www.lithonia.com/archcolors or

Architectural Colors brochure (Form No. 794.3). Powder finish
standard.

SSS

Series

SSS

Nominal fixture
mounting height

10 – 39 feet
(see back page.)

Nominal shaft base size/
wall thickness

(See back page.)

Mounting1

Tenon mounting
PT Open top

T20 2-3/8" O.D. (2" NPS)
T25 2-7/8" O.D. (2-1/2"

NPS)
T30 3-1/2" O.D. (3" NPS)
T35 4" O.D. (3-1/2" NPS)

Drill mounting2

DM19 1 at 90°
DM28 2 at 180°

DM28PL 2 at 180° with one
side plugged

DM29 2 at 90°
DM39 3 at 90°
DM49 4 at 90°

AERIS™/OMERO™ Drill mounting2

DM19AS 1 at 90°
DM28AS 2 at 180°
DM29AS 2 at 90°
DM39AS 3 at 90°
DM49AS 4 at 90°

AERIS™ Suspend drill mounting2,3

DM19AST_ 1 at 90°
DM28AST_ 2 at 180°
DM29AST_ 2 at 90°
DM39AST_ 3 at 90°
DM49AST_ 4 at 90°

OMERO™ Suspend drill
mounting2,3

DM19MRT_ 1 at 90°
DM28MRT_ 2 at 180°
DM29MRT_ 2 at 90°
DM39MRT_ 3 at 90°
DM49MRT_ 4 at 90°

Options

Shipped installed
L/AB Less anchor bolts

VD Vibration damper
TP Tamper proof

H1-18Sxx Horizontal arm bracket
(1 fixture)4,5

FDLxx Festoon outlet less
electrical4

CPL12 xx 1/2" coupling4

CPL34 xx 3/4" coupling4

CPL1 xx 1" coupling4

NPL12 xx 1/2" threaded nipple4

NPL34 xx 3/4" threaded nipple4

NPL1 xx 1" threaded nipple4

EHHxx Extra handhole4,6

Finish7

Standard colors
DDB Dark bronze

DWH White
DBL Black

DMB Medium bronze
DNA Natural aluminum

GALV Galvanized finish
Classic colors

DSS Sandstone
DGC Charcoal gray
DTG Tennis green
DBR Bright red
DSB Steel blue

Architectural colors
(powder finish)7

HANDHOLE ORIENTATION

A
Handhole

B

C

D



Lithonia Lighting
Outdoor
One Lithonia Way, Conyers, GA 30012
Phone: 770-922-9000 Fax: 770-918-1209
www.lithonia.com

SSS  Square Straight Steel Poles

IMPORTANT:
• These specifications are intended for general purposes only. Lithonia reserves the
right to change material or design, without prior notice, in a continuing effort to
upgrade its products.

IMPORTANT INSTALLATION NOTES:
• Do not erect poles without having fixtures installed.
• Factory-supplied templates must be used when setting anchor bolts. Lithonia
Lighting will not accept claim for incorrect anchorage placement due to failure to use
Lithonia Lighting factory templates.
• If poles are stored outside, all protective wrapping must be removed immediately
upon delivery to prevent finish damage.
• Lithonia Lighting is not responsible for the foundation design.

TECHNICAL INFORMATION
EPA (ft2) with 1.3 gust

Nominal Wall Approximate
Catalog shaft Pole Shaft Thickness 80 Max. 90 Max. 100 Max. Bolt Circle Bolt Size ship weight
Number length (feet) Size (in x ft) (inches) Gauge mph weight mph weight mph weight (inches) (in. x in. x in.) (pounds)
SSS 10 4C 10 4.0 x 10.0 0.125 11 30.6 765 23.8 595 18.9 473 8--9 3/4 x 18 x 3 75

SSS 12 4C 12 4.0 x 12.0 0.125 11 24.4 610 18.8 470 14.8 370 8--9 3/4 x 18 x 3 90

SSS 14 4C 14 4.0 x 14.0 0.125 11 19.9 498 15.1 378 11.7 293 8--9 3/4 x 18 x 3 100

SSS 16 4C 16 4.0 x 16.0 0.125 11 15.9 398 11.8 295 8.9 223 8--9 3/4 x 18 x 3 115

SSS 18 4C 18 4.0 x 18.0 0.125 11 12.6 315 9.2 230 6.7 168 8--9 3/4 x 18 x 3 125

SSS 20 4C 20 4.0 x 20.0 0.125 11 9.6 240 6.7 167 4.5 150 8--9 3/4 x 18 x 3 140

SSS 20 4G 20 4.0 x 20.0 0.188 7 14.0 350 11.0 275 8.0 200 8--9 3/4 x 30 x 3 198

SSS 20 5C 20 5.0 x 20.0 0.125 11 17.7 443 12.7 343 9.4 235 10--12 1 x 36 x 4 185

SSS 20 5G 20 5.0 x 20.0 0.188 7 28.1 703 21.4 535 16.2 405 10--12 1 x 36 x 4 265

SSS 25 4C 25 4.0 x 25.0 0.125 11 4.8 150 2.6 100 1.0 50 8--9 3/4 x 18 x 3 170

SSS 25 4G 25 4.0 x 25.0 0.188 7 10.8 270 7.7 188 5.4 135 8--9 3/4 x 30 x 3 245

SSS 25 5C 25 5.0 x 25.0 0.125 11 9.8 245 6.3 157 3.7 150 10--12 1 x 36 x 4 225

SSS 25 5G 25 5.0 x 25.0 0.188 7 18.5 463 13.3 333 9.5 238 10--12 1 x 36 x 4 360

SSS 30 4G 30 4.0 x 30.0 0.188 7 6.7 168 4.4 110 2.6 65 8--9 3/4 x 30 x 3 295

SSS 30 5C 30 5.0 x 30.0 0.125 11 4.7 150 2.0 50 -- -- 10--12 1 x 36 x 4 265

SSS 30 5G 30 5.0 x 30.0 0.188 7 10.7 267 6.7 167 3.9 100 10--12 1 x 36 x 4 380

SSS 30 6G 30 6.0 x 30.0 0.188 7 19.0 475 13.2 330 9.0 225 11--13 1 x 36 x 4 520

SSS 35 5G 35 5.0 x 35.0 0.188 7 5.9 150 2.5 100 -- -- 10--12 1 x 36 x 4 440

SSS 35 6G 35 6.0 x 35.0 0.188 7 12.4 310 7.6 190 4.2 105 11--13 1 x 36 x 4 540

SSS 39 6G 39 6.0 x 39.0 0.188 7 7.2 180 3.0 75 -- -- 11--13 1 x 36 x 4 605

BASE DETAIL

B

18"

©1994-2010 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All rights reserved. Rev. 11/11/10Sheet #: Pole-SSS

A

C

Pole Data
Shaft Bolt Bolt Anchor bolt
base circle projection Base Template Anchor bolt and template
size A B square description description number

4"C 8-1/2" 2-3/4"–4" 8" ABTEMPLATE PJ50004 AB18-0 ABSSS-4C
4"G 8-1/2" 2-3/4"–4" 8" ABTEMPLATE PJ50004 AB30-0 ABSSS-4G
5" 10"–12" 3-3/8"–4" 11" ABTEMPLATE PJ50010 AB36-0 ABSSS-5
6" 11"–13" 3-3/8"–4" 12-1/2" ABTEMPLATE PJ50011 AB36-0 N/A



DSX1 LED

  Series Light Engines Performance Package 1 Distribution Voltage Mounting Options Finish (required) 

DSX1 LED 1 One engine
(30 LEDs)

2 Two engines
(60 LEDs)

530 mA options:
30B530/30K 3000K
30B530/40K 4000K
30B530/50K 5000K

700 mA options:
30B700/30K 3000K
30B700/40K 4000K
30B700/50K 5000K

SR2 Type II

SR3 Type III

SR4 Type IV
SR5 Type V
FT Forward 

throw

MVOLT 2

120 2

208 2

240 2

277 2

347 3

480 3

Shipped included
SPA Square pole 

mounting
RPA Round pole 

mounting
WBA Wall bracket 

Shipped installed
PER NEMA twist-lock receptacle only (no controls) 
DMG 0-10V dimming driver (no controls) 4

DCR Dimmable and controllable via ROAM® (no controls) 5

HS House-side shield 6

SF Single fuse (120, 277, 347V) 7

DF Double fuse (208, 240, 480V) 7

WTB Utility terminal block
TLS Tool-less entry trigger latch

DDBXD Dark bronze
DBLXD Black
DNAXD Natural 

aluminum
DWHXD White
DDBTXD Textured dark 

bronze
DBLBXD Textured black
DNATXD Textured natural 

aluminum
DWHGXD Textured white

D-Series Size 1
LED Area Luminaire

Specifications

Ordering Information EXAMPLE: DSX1 LED 2 30B700/40K SR3 MVOLT SPA DDBXD

NOTES

1	 Configured	with	4000K	(/40K)	provides	the	shortest	lead	
times.	Consult	factory	for	3000K	(/30K)	and	5000K	(/50K)	
lead	times.

2	 MVOLT	driver	operates	on	any	line	voltage	from	120-
277V.	Specify	120,	208,	240	or	277	options	only	when	
ordering	with	fusing	(SF,	DF	options).

3	 Not	available	with	with	single	board,	530	mA	product		
(1	30B530).

4	 Not	available	with	347	or	480V.	
5	 Specifies	a	ROAM®	enabled	luminaire	with	0-10V	

dimming	capability;	PER	option	required.	Not	available	
with	347	or	480V.		Additional	hardware	and	services	
required	for	ROAM®	deployment;	must	be	purchased	
separately.	Call	1-800-442-6745	or	email:	sales@
roamservices.net.

6	 Also	available	as	a	separate	accessory;	see	Accessories	
information	at	left.

7	 Single	fuse	(SF)	requires	120,	277	or	347	voltage	option.	
Double	fuse	(DF)	requires	208,	240	or	480	voltage	
option.

8	 Requires	luminaire	to	be	specified	with	PER	option.	
Ordered	and	shipped	as	a	separate	line	item.

D
ri

lli
ng

Catalog 
Number

Notes

Type

Introduction

The modern styling of the D-Series is striking 
yet unobtrusive - making a bold, progressive 
statement even as it blends seamlessly with its 
environment. 

The D-Series distills the benefits of the latest in 
LED technology into a high performance, high 
efficacy, long-life luminaire. The outstanding 
photometric performance results in sites with 
excellent uniformity, greater pole spacing and 
lower power density. It is ideal for replacing 100 – 
400W metal halide in pedestrian and area lighting 
applications with typical energy savings of 65% 
and expected service life of over 100,000 hours.

A
cc

es
so

ri
es

O
rd

er
ed

 a
nd

 s
hi

p
p

ed
 s

ep
ar

at
el

y.
 

DSS124N 1.5 TJJE U Photocell - SSL twist-lock (120-277V) 8

REN277-NM1 U ROAM® node (277V) 8

SC U Shorting cap 8

DSX1 LED 1 HS U House-side shield (for one light engine)

DSX1 LED 2 HS U House-side shield (for two light engines)

For more control options, visit DTL and ROAM online.

Controls & Shields

	 Tenon	O.D. Single	Unit 2	at	180° 2	at	90° 3	at	120° 3	at	90° 4	at	90°

2-3/8” AST20-190 AST20-280 AST20-290 AST20-320 AST20-390 AST20-490

2-7/8” AST25-190 AST25-280 AST25-290 AST25-320 AST25-390 AST25-490

4” AST35-190 AST35-280 AST35-290 AST35-320 AST35-390 AST35-490

Tenon Mounting Slipfitter *

* For round pole mounting (RPA) only.

EPA: 0.8 ft2

(0.07 m2)

Length: 33”
(83.8 cm)

Width: 13”
(33.0 cm)

Height: 7-1/2”
(19.0 cm)

Weight 
(max):

27 lbs
(12.2 kg)

Top of Pole

0.563”

2.650”

1.325”
0.400”
(2 PLCS)

Visit Lithonia Lighting’s POLES CENTRAL to see our wide selection of poles, 
accessories and educational tools.

DSX1 shares a unique drilling pattern with the AERIS™ family. Specify this drilling 
pattern when specifying poles, per the table below. 

	 DM19AS	 Single unit  DM29AS	 2 at 90°	
	 DM28AS	 2 at 180°		 DM39AS	 3 at 90°
	 DM49AS	 4 at 90° DM32AS	 3 at 120°	*

Example:	SSA 20 4C DM19AS DDBXD

One Lithonia Way  •  Conyers, Georgia 30012  •  Phone: 800.279.8041  •  Fax: 770.918.1209  •  www.lithonia.com
© 2011 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc.  All rights reserved. 

Template #8

Hit the Tab key or mouse over the page to see all interactive elements.

W

L

H

L

H

W

L

H

W

http://www.lithonia.com/Micro_Webs/NightTimeFriendly/
http://www.lithonia.com/commercial/DSX1.html?pt=Outdoor
http://www.lithonia.com/Micro_Webs/ArchitecturalColors/
http://www.darktolight.com
http://www.roamservices.net
http://www.lithonia.com/commercial/Txx-ASTxx.html?pt=Outdoor
http://www.acuitybrandslighting.com/library/LL/documents/SpecSheets/TD-drill-8.pdf
http://www.designlights.org
http://polescentral.acuitybrands.com/Homepage.aspx
http://www.lithonia.com
http://www.lithonia.com
http://www.lightingfacts.com/default.aspx?cp=content/products


Light 
Engines

Drive 
Current 

(mA)

Performance 
Package

System 
Watts

Dist.
Type

40K
(4000K, 67 CRI)

50K
(5000K, 67 CRI)

Lumens B U G LPW Lumens B U G LPW

1

(30 LEDs)

530 30B530/--K 55 W

SR2 4634 1 0 1 84 5056 1 0 1 92

SR3 4695 1 0 2 85 5123 1 0 2 93

SR3 HS 3425 0 0 1 61 3737 0 0 1 68

SR4 4694 1 0 2 85 5122 1 0 2 93

SR4 HS 3459 0 0 1 62 3774 0 0 2 69

SR5 4696 3 0 1 85 5124 3 0 1 93

FT 4694 1 0 1 85 5122 1 0 2 93

700 30B700/--K 73 W

SR2 5679 1 0 1 77 6223 2 0 2 85

SR3 5835 1 0 2 79 6394 2 0 2 88

SR3 HS 4239 0 0 2 58 4645 0 0 2 64

SR4 5798 1 0 2 79 6354 1 0 2 87

SR4 HS 4294 0 0 2 58 4706 0 0 2 64

SR5 5769 3 0 1 79 6322 3 0 2 87

FT 5820 1 0 2 79 6378 1 0 2 87

2

(60 LEDs)

530 30B530/--K 106 W

SR2 9109 2 0 2 86 9929 2 0 2 93

SR3 9257 2 0 2 87 10,010 2 0 3 94

SR3 HS 6717 0 0 2 64 7302 0 0 2 69

SR4 9204 2 0 2 87 10,010 2 0 2 94

SR4 HS 6800 0 0 2 64 7446 0 0 2 70

SR5 9223 4 0 2 87 10,198 4 0 2 96

FT 9183 2 0 2 87 10,020 2 0 2 95

700 30B700/--K 143 W

SR2 11,170 2 0 2 78 12,312 3 0 3 86

SR3 11,391 2 0 3 80 12,462 2 0 3 87

SR3 HS 8285 0 0 2 58 9047 0 0 2 63

SR4 11,332 2 0 2 79 12,368 2 0 3 86

SR4 HS 8318 0 0 2 58 9149 0 0 2 64

SR5 11,723 4 0 2 82 12,455 4 0 2 87

FT 11,662 2 0 3 82 12,531 2 0 3 87

Lumen	values	are	from	photometric	tests	performed	in	accordance	with	IESNA	LM-79-08.	Data	is	considered	to	be	representative	
of	the	configurations	shown,	within	the	tolerances	allowed	by	Lighting	Facts.	Actual	performance	may	differ	as	a	result	of	end-
user	environment	and	application.	Contact	factory	for	performance	data	on	any	configurations	not	shown	here.

To	see	complete	photometric	reports	or	download	.ies	files	for	this	product,	visit	Lithonia	Lighting’s	DSX1	homepage.	

Performance Data

Photometric Diagrams

FEATURES & SPECIFICATIONS

 INTENDED USE
The sleek design of the D-Series Size 1 reflects the embedded high performance LED technology. It 
is ideal for many commercial and municipal applications, such as parking lots, plazas, campuses, and 
streetscapes.

 CONSTRUCTION
Single-piece die-cast aluminum housing has integral heat sink fins to optimize thermal 
management through conductive and convective cooling. Modular design allows for ease of 
maintenance and future light engine upgrades. The LED driver is mounted in direct contact with 
the casting to promote low operating temperature and long life. Housing is completely sealed 
against moisture and environmental contaminants (IP65). Low EPA (0.8 ft2) for optimized pole wind 
loading.

 FINISH
Exterior parts are protected by a zinc-infused Super Durable TGIC thermoset powder coat finish 
that provides superior resistance to corrosion and weathering. A tightly controlled multi-stage 
process ensures a minimum 3 mm thickness for a finish that can withstand extreme climate 
changes without cracking or peeling. Available in both textured and non-textured finishes.

 OPTICS
Precision-molded proprietary acrylic lenses are engineered for superior area lighting distribution, 
uniformity, and pole spacing. Light engines are available in standard 4000K (67 CRI) or optional 
3000K (80 CRI) or 5000K (67 CRI) configurations. The D-Series Size 1  has zero uplight and qualifies 
as a Nighttime FriendlyTM product, meaning it is consistent with the LEED® and Green GlobesTM 
criteria for eliminating wasteful uplight.

 ELECTRICAL
Light engine(s) consist of 30 high-efficacy LEDs mounted to a metal-core circuit board to 
maximize heat dissipation and promote long life (100,000 hrs at 40°C, L87). Class 1 electronic 
driver has a power factor >90%, THD <20%, and has an expected life of 100,000 hours with 
<1% failure rate. Easily-serviceable surge protection device meets a minimum Category C 
Low for 120-277V operation (per ANSI/IEEE C62.41.2).

 INSTALLATION
Included mounting block and integral arm facilitate quick and easy installation. Stainless 
steel bolts fasten the mounting block securely to poles and walls, enabling the D-Series Size 1 
to withstand up to a 2.0 G vibration load rating per ANSI C136.31. The D-Series Size 1 utilizes 
the AERISTM series pole drilling pattern. Optional terminal block, tool-less entry, and NEMA 
photocontrol receptacle are also available.

 LISTINGS 
CSA certified to U.S. and Canadian standards. Light engines are IP66 rated; luminaire is IP65 
rated. Rated for -40°C minimum ambient. U.S. and international patents pending.

 WARRANTY
Five year limited warranty. Full warranty terms located at www.acuitybrands.com/
CustomerResources/Terms_and_conditions.aspx.

 Note: Specifications subject to change without notice.

One Lithonia Way  •  Conyers, Georgia 30012  •  Phone: 800.279.8041  •  Fax: 770.918.1209  •  www.lithonia.com
© 2011 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc.  All rights reserved. Rev. 1/30/12

Lumen Output

Current (A)

Light 
Engines

Drive Current 
(mA)

System 
Watts 120 208 240 277 347 480

1
530 55 W 0.46 0.26 0.23 0.20 0.16 0.11

700 73 W 0.61 0.35 0.30 0.26 0.21 0.15

2
530 106 W 0.89 0.51 0.44 0.38 0.31 0.22

700 143 W 1.19 0.69 0.60 0.52 0.41 0.30

Electrical Load

Isofootcandle plots for the DSX1 LED 2 30B700/50K SR3. Distances are in units of mounting height (20’).

Use	these	factors	to	determine	relative	lumen	output	for	average	ambient	temperatures	
from	0-50°C	(32-122°F).

Lumen Ambient Temperature (LAT) Multipliers

Ambient Lumen Multiplier
0°C  32°F 1.02

10°C  50°F 1.01

20°C 68°F 1.00

25°C 77°F 1.00
30°C 86°F 1.00

40°C  104°F 0.99

50°C 122°F 0.98

Projected LED Lumen Maintenance
Data	references	the	extrapolated	performance	projections	for	the	DSX1 LED 2 30B700	
platform	in	a	40°C ambient,	based	on	9000	hours	of	LED	testing	(tested	per	IESNA	LM-80-
08	and	projected	per	IESNA	TM-21-11).

To	calculate	LLF,	use	the	lumen	maintenance	factor	that	corresponds	to	the	desired	number	
of	operating	hours	below.	For	other	lumen	maintenance	values,	contact	factory.

Operating Hours 0 25,000 50,000 100,000

Lumen Maintenance 
Factor 1.0 0.95 0.92 0.87

Distribution overlay comparisons to 250W and 400W metal halide.

LEGEND

DSX1,
0.5 fc

KAD,
0.5 fc

60’ W Lanes,

10’x20’ Spaces

LLDs:

KAD = 0.72

DSX1 = 0.95

Te
st

 N
o

. L
TL

20
98

5 
te

st
ed

 in
 a

cc
o

rd
an

ce
 w

ith
 

IE
SN

A
 L

M
-7

9-
08

.

4

3

2

1

0

-4

-3

-2

-1

4 3 2 1 0 4321

Te
st

 N
o

. L
TL

20
98

6 
te

st
ed

 in
 a

cc
o

rd
an

ce
 w

ith
 

IE
SN

A
 L

M
-7

9-
08

.

4

3

2

1

0

-4

-3

-2

-1

4 3 2 1 0 4321

(With House-side Shields)

LEGEND

0.1 fc

0.25 fc

0.5 fc

1.0 fc

2.0 fc

DSX1 LED 2 30B530/50K SR3,
KAD 250M R3 Pulse, 25’ Mounting Ht

 D
SX

1 
LE

D
 2

 3
0B

53
0/

50
K

 S
R

3 
(G

R
EE

N
), 

10
6W

, L
LF

=0
.8

6
 K

A
D

 2
50

M
 R

3 
(P

U
LS

E)
 (B

LU
E)

, 2
88

W
, L

LF
=0

.6
5

 S
IN

G
LE

 U
N

IT
, P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 O
F 

SI
TE

 (2
00

' L
 X

 6
0'

 W
 D

R
IV

E 
LA

N
ES

)
 2

5'
 M

O
U

N
TI

N
G

 H
EI

G
H

T
 0

.5
 F

O
O

TC
A

N
D

LE
 C

O
N

TO
U

R
 L

IN
ES

 

Sn
ap

 S
ho

t #
 3

Sc
al

e 
 1

" 
= 

50
'

KAD:
288W
 

DSX1:
106W

 DSX1 LED 2 30B700/50K SR3,
KAD 400M R3 Pulse, 30’ Mounting Ht

Sc
al

e 
 1

" 
= 

50
'

 3
0'

 M
O

U
N

TI
N

G
 H

EI
G

H
T

#5

 D
SX

1 
LE

D
 2

 3
0B

70
0/

50
K

 S
R

3 
(G

R
EE

N
), 

14
3W

, L
LF

=0
.8

6
 K

A
D

 4
00

M
 R

3 
(P

U
LS

E)
 (B

LU
E)

, 4
56

W
, L

LF
=0

.6
5

 S
IN

G
LE

 U
N

IT
, P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 O
F 

SI
TE

 (2
00

' L
 X

 6
0'

 W
 D

R
IV

E 
LA

N
ES

)
 3

0'
 M

O
U

N
TI

N
G

 H
EI

G
H

T
 0

.5
 F

O
O

TC
A

N
D

LE
 C

O
N

TO
U

R
 L

IN
ES

 

KAD:
456W
 

DSX1:
143W

 

http://www.lithonia.com
http://www.lithonia.com/commercial/DSX1.html?pt=Outdoor
www.acuitybrands.com/CustomerResources/Terms_and_conditions.aspx
www.acuitybrands.com/CustomerResources/Terms_and_conditions.aspx
http://www.lithonia.com
http://www.lithonia.com/commercial/DSX1.html?pt=Outdoor
http://www.lithonia.com/commercial/DSX1.html?pt=Outdoor


FEATURES & SPECIFICATIONS
INTENDED USE — The Contour Series LED luminaire is ideal for commercial wall-mounted applications 
where traditional metal halide luminaires are typically used. With a choice of three light levels, the lumi-
naire generates up to 80% in energy savings and can replace traditional metal halide luminaires ranging 
from175W up to 400W.

CONSTRUCTION — Rugged, die-cast, single-piece aluminum housing. Unique flow-through design for 
optimized thermal management. Modularity allows for ease of maintenance and potential for future system 
upgrades. Metallic screen covers the top of the housing, preventing debris build-up while allowing for air 
flow. Housing is completely sealed against moisture and environmental contaminants. 
Finish: Exterior parts are protected by a zinc-infused Super Durable TGIC thermoset powder coat finish (available in 
both textured and non-textured) that provides superior resistance to corrosion and weathering. A tightly controlled 
multi-stage process ensures a minimum 3 mm thickness for a finish that can withstand extreme climate changes 
without cracking or peeling. Standard Super Durable colors include dark bronze, black, natural aluminum and white. 
OPTICS — Precision-molded acrylic lenses provide optimal luminaire spacing and improved uniformity. Lenses 
are indexed to the circuit board to ensure consistent optical alignment and delivering repeatable photometric 
performance. Choice of four optimized distributions: Type II, Type III, Type IV, and Forward Throw. The optical system 
controls light above 90 degrees, eliminating wasteful up light. 

ELECTRICAL — High-efficiency 4000K, 65 CRI LEDs mounted to a metal-core circuit board and aluminum 
heat sink, ensuring optimal thermal management and long life (L85 60,000 hrs, 25oC ambient). Standard and 
dimming drivers are available in 120-277V and 347-480V; 50/60 Hz. Drivers have power factor >90% and THD 
<20%. Thermal isolation results in expected driver life of over 100,000 hours. Replaceable surge protection 
device is tested in accordance with IEEE/ANSI C62.41.2 meeting Category C Low.

INSTALLATION — Universal mounting mechanism with integral mounting support allows fixture to hinge 
down. Bubble level provides correct alignment with every installation.

LISTINGS — CSA Certified to U.S. and Canadian standards.  Light engine is IP66 rated.  Luminaire is IP65 
rated. 

WARRANTY — Five-year limited warranty.

NOTE: Specifications subject to change without notice.
All dimensions are inches (centimeters) unless otherwise specified.

Notes
1 Configured with 4000K (/40K) provides the shortest lead times.  3000K (/30K) and 5000 (/50K)are also 

available.  Please consult factory for additional information. 
2 Multi-volt driver capable of operating on any line voltage from 120V-277V.
3 May be ordered as an accessory. Prefix with CSXW (i.e. CSXWVG). Must specify finish.
4 Must be ordered with fixture; cannot be field installed. Must specify voltage (not available with MVOLT or 480V).
5 BL_ option requires DMG dimming option.  30% or 50% light output in ready state.
6 Must specify finish.

Specifications
Height: 7-1/8 (29.2)
Width:  16-3/8 (41.6)
Depth: 9-5/16 (23.6)
Weight: 30 lbs (13.6 kg)

LED Building-Mounted Luminaire

OUTDOOR CSXW-LED

Catalog  
Number

Notes

Type

CSXW LED 1

Series
Number of 
light engines

Performance 
package1 Distribution Voltage Mounting Options Finish6

CSXW LED 1 30B700/40K
30B530/40K
30B350/40K
Optional
30B700/30K
30B530/30K
30B350/30K
30B700/50K
30B530/50K
30B350/50K

SR2 Type II
SR3 Type III  

asymmetric
SR4 Type IV forward 

throw
FT Forward throw

MVOLT2

120
208
240
277
347
480

(blank) Surface mount
Shipped separately3

BBW Surface-mounted 
back box

Shipped installed in fixture
SF Single fuse (120, 

277, 347V)
DF Double fuse (208, 

240, 480V)
PE Photoelectric cell, 

button type4

DMG Dimming option
BL30 Bi-level switching 

(30% - 100%)5

BL50 Bi-level switching 
(50% - 100%)5

Shipped separately3

VG Vandal guard

WG Wire guard

DDBXD Dark bronze
DNAXD Natural aluminum
DWHXD White
DBLXD Black
DDBTXD Dark bronze textured
DNATXD Natural aluminum 

textured
DWHGXD White textured
DBLBXD Black textured

ORDERING INFORMATION Lead times will vary depending on options selected. Consult with your sales representative. Example: CSXW LED 1 30B700/40K SR3 MVOLT DDBTXD

W D

H



CSXW LED LED Building-Mounted Lighting

 CSXW-LED

OUTDOOR:    One Lithonia Way  Conyers, GA 30012    Phone:  770.922.9000    Fax: 770-918-1209 www.lithonia.com © 2011 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc.   All rights reserved.   Rev. 10/08/11

Notes
1 Tested to IESNA LM-79-80 standards.

2 Additional lighting facts available; please consult factory. 

3 Photometric data can be accessed from the Lithonia Lighting web site 
(www.lithonia.com).

PERFORMANCE DATA

Light engines
Nominal 

power (W)
120 208 240 277 347 480

1 74 0.62 0.36 0.31 0.27 0.21 0.15

Current (A)

Number of 
light engines

Performance 
package

Number of 
LEDs

Generation
Drive 

Current
CCT

 
Distribution

 
Lumens B U G

Nominal 
system  
watts1 LPW

1 30B700/40K 30 B 700 40K

SR2 5,980

74

81

SR3 6,157 1 3 1 83

SR4 6,042 1 3 2 82

FT 5,800 78



  PC 2013.01.08 
  Agenda Item # 7 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
DATE: January 3, 2013 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number ZOTA 244) – 

Miscellaneous Zoning Ordinance Revisions 
 
 
The City of Troy Zoning Ordinance was adopted in April 2011.  Prior to adoption, it was 
anticipated there would be some revisions that would be necessary once staff, the 
Planning Commission and applicants had an opportunity to use the document.  The 
revisions will fix inconsistencies, clarify provisions and generally make the document 
easier to use and understand. 
 
The Planning Commission discussed these revisions at a number of public meetings. 
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. summarizes the 
revisions. 
 
The Planning Commission is a recommending body for this amendment; the authority 
for final approval lies with City Council, following a public hearing. 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Report prepared by CWA, dated September 19, 2012. 
2. Report prepared by CWA, dated October 4, 2012. 
3. Proposed Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments - Public Hearing Draft  

 
 

G:\ZOTAs\ZOTA 244  Miscellaneous Zoning Ordinance Revisions\PC Memo 01 08 2013.doc 
 



ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT 
 
 
7. PUBLIC HEARING – ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number ZOTA 

244) – Miscellaneous Zoning Ordinance Revisions 
 
 

Proposed Resolution # PC-2013-01- 
Moved by:  
Seconded by:  
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council 
that Articles 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 12, 13 and 16 of Chapter 39 of the Code of the City of 
Troy, which includes miscellaneous Zoning Ordinance revisions, be amended as printed 
on the proposed Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment.  
 
Yes:  
No:  
Absent:  
 
MOTION CARRIED / DENIED 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\ZOTAs\ZOTA 244  Miscellaneous Zoning Ordinance Revisions\Proposed PC Resolution 01 08 2013.doc 



 

  

605 S. Main Street, Ste. 1 
Ann Arbor, MI  48104 
 
(734) 662-2200 
(734) 662-1935 Fax 

 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: R. Brent Savidant, AICP, Planning Director 
 
FROM: Ben Carlisle, AICP 
 
DATE: September 19, 2012 
 
RE: Zoning Ordinance Amendments  
 
 
The City of Troy Zoning Ordinance was adopted in April 2011.  It is common that a year or so after the 
adoption of a new zoning ordinance, staff, planning commissioners, and outside interests identify 
specific language and other clarifications that need further discussion and potential amendments.  Many 
of the proposed amendments are minor (capitalization, consistency in labeling, etc); however some 
considerations for amendments are substantive.   
 
As part of the process of reviewing the existing ordinance, we have identified twelve (12) substantive 
and fourteen (14) minor amendments changes.  Listed below are the cumulative twenty-five (26) 
amendments for consideration.  For the substantive amendments we have provided a detailed 
explanation and proposed ordinance language.  For the typographical errors we have simple listed the 
existing language and the proposed ordinance language.  If requested we can provide additional 
information.   
 

Substantive Amendments:  
 
Each amendment has three parts: 1). the ordinance section number, page number, and existing 
ordinance language; 2). details outlining the proposed text amendment and explanation as to why the 
amendment is warranted; and 3). the proposed amended language.  Removed text is struck-through and 
proposed new ordinance language is underlined.   
 
1. Section 4.13.D.4.a (CB District Page 72) : Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 

Section 4.14.D.4.a (GB District Page 76) : Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 
Section 4.15.D.4.a (O District Page 84) : Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 
Section 4.18.D.5.a (RC District Page 92) : Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 

 
Issue:  The parking requirements for districts CB, GB, O, and RC do not allow parking in the front 
yard.    Front Yard is defined as “An open space extending the full width of the lot, the depth of 
which is the minimum horizontal distance between the front lot line and the nearest line of the 
main building.”  Hence due to the definition of front yard, parking is not permitted in the front 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
2  P a g e  

of any building these districts, regardless of how far back the actual building is from the street.  
In conversations between with staff it is unclear if the intent was to preclude any parking in 
front of the building.  Irrespective of the intent, in these auto-oriented commercial and office 
districts a limited parking in front of the building, but outside of the required front yard, should 
be permitted.  Unlike form-based districts, where there is a requirement to place buildings up to 
the street in order to create pedestrian forms and street presence, developments in these 
districts are more auto-oriented.   
 
One of the primary justifications for limiting parking in front of the building is to ensure that the 
parking is does not dominate the front façade, as well as ensure that the building is able to 
create some street presence.  However, in these districts there already exists language in the 
ordinance that state “No more than fifty (50) percent of the total site’s linear feet along the 
front building line shall be occupied by parking lot.” This requirement limits the total amount of 
parking in front of the building and mitigates concerns that parking would dominate parking in 
the front yard.   

 
Please note that an amendment to the parking location for these sections will not amend any 
parking location requirement in form-based districts.  

 
Proposed Amendment Language:  
 
Section 4. Off-Street Parking Location. 
 
a. Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 
b. No more than fifty (50) percent of the total site’s linear feet along the front building line 

shall be occupied by parking lot. 
 

2. Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations Table (Page 101): Reclassify selective automotive 
limited automotive and transportation uses in the IB district from Special to Permitted.  

 
Current Ordinance: 
 

Use IB 
Vehicle, recreational vehicle sales S 
Vehicle repair stations S 
Vehicle fueling/multi-use stations S 
Vehicle washes S 
Vehicle auctions S 
Antique and classic vehicle sales S 
Ambulance facilities S 
Vehicle rental S 

 
Issue: Recognizing that some of the area devoted to manufacturing and industrial uses may be 
outdated and conductive to redevelopment of other uses, the IB District was created.   The IB 
District is intended to continue to recognize more traditional manufacturing and industrial use; 
however encourage redevelopment and reuse of existing buildings and sites by permitting other 
compatible uses.  The IB District recognizes the difficulty of certain sites for redevelopment and 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
3  P a g e  

open up the list of uses accordingly.  As such, the IB District permits a multitude of uses by-right 
ranging from multiple-family residential to shopping centers to light and medium industrial uses.  
However, automobile uses are the only category of uses that require special uses.  Many 
concerns associated with further opening the IB District Use and potential impact upon 
surrounding properties, are mitigated through the special use process for drive-through uses, 
limitation on outdoor storage, and landscape transitions between incompatible uses.    
 
We recommend that certain uses in the Automotive/Transportation category that have minimal 
exterior impacts be allowed by-right.   

 
Proposed Amendment Language: 
 

Use IB 
Vehicle, recreational vehicle sales S, P 
Vehicle repair stations S, P 
Vehicle fueling/multi-use stations S 
Vehicle washes S 
Vehicle auctions S 
Antique and classic vehicle sales S, P 
Ambulance facilities S, P 
Vehicle rental S, P 

 
 

3. Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations Table (Page 101): Add “Oil Change Facility” into 
Automotive/Transportation Use group.  Classify use as Permitted or Special based on district. 

 
Issue:  Oil change facilities are not a listed use in the Schedule of Use Regulations. In previous 
practice oil facilities were treated similar to vehicle repair.  However, oil change facilities are a 
common use that have different impacts than other vehicle repair and other automobile uses.   
In addition, vehicle repair has defined supplemental use regulations as listed in Section 6.26, of 
which are not applicable to oil change facility operations.   Oil change facilities should be added 
and classified as a Permitted or Special Use based on district. 
 
Proposed Amendment Language: 
 
Section 4.21: 
 

 R1-A 
through 
R-1E 

RT MR UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

Vehicle Repair 
Facility 

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S S NP NP NP S NP 

Oil Change Facility NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP P NP 

 
 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
4  P a g e  

4. Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations Table (Page 101): Add “Wireless Communication 
Facility (free standing tower)” into miscellaneous group.  Classify use as Permitted or Special based 
on district.  (Note: see section 6.30) 

 
Issue:  Wireless Communication Facilities are a use defined in Article 2 (definitions) and have 
specific use standards outlined in Section 6.30, but are not a listed use in the Schedule of Use 
Regulations.  Wireless Communications, both attached to existing building and free-standing 
tower, are a common use that should be added to the use table.  Due to different visual effects 
and potential for secondary impact, free standing towers should require greater regulations in 
regards to both ability to be located in certain districts and requirement to obtain special use 
approval in others.  Wireless communication facilities located on existing structures are 
permitted in all districts provided that they meet those supplemental use regulations listed in 
Section 6.30.B.1.  
 
All Wireless communication facilities still must comply with Section 6.30.   

 
Proposed Amendment Language: 
 
Section 4.21: 
 

 R1-A 
through 
R-1E 

RT MR UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

Wireless 
Communication 
Facility (complies 
with section 
6.30.B.1 ) 

P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P 

Wireless 
Communication 
Facility (free 
standing tower) 

NP NP NP NP NP S NP S S S S S S S S 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
5  P a g e  

5. Section 5.03 Form Based Districts Use Group by Category (Page 108): Add “Lodging” as use in 
Use Group 5 

 
Issue:  Lodging facilities are not a listed use in the form-based code.  Previous applications for 
lodging facility in the form-based districts have been required to go through a P.U.D. process.  
Lodging facilities are an intended use in the form-based districts.   Not including this use was an 
oversight of the previous draft.  Adding lodging to the code is consistent with the Master Plan 
and would clarify the intent of the zoning ordinance.   
 
Proposed Amendment Language: 
 

TABLE  5.03-A-1 
USE GROUPS BY CATEGORY 

PRINCIPAL USE 
Use Group 5 
Lodging 

Financial institutions 

General retail 

Retail, large-format 

Shopping centers 

Fitness, gymnastics, and exercise centers 

Theatres and places of assembly 

Indoor commercial recreation establishments 

Restaurant 

Personal services 

Business services 

Financial institutions 

General retail 

 
6. Section 5.03 Form Based Standards Applicable to All Districts (Page 110):  Add “Section C” to 

add specific landscaping requirements in the Form Based Districts.  
 

Issue:  Section 13.02 outlines Landscaping requirements.  These requirements are not district 
specific and rather apply throughout the city. These regulations include screening between uses, 
parking lot landscaping, greenbelt planting, and a requirement to provide at least 20% of the 
site landscaping.  However, as recently discussed by the Planning Commission for the Big Beaver 
PUD, a 20% landscaping requirement for developments in the more urban and pedestrian 
oriented Form-Based districts might not be appropriate.  Due to the building form requirements 
of the Big Beaver corridor, and the desire to build more “urban” style developments, obtaining 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
6  P a g e  

20% site landscaping is often difficult to obtain.   Looking at other ordinances including City of 
Omaha and the City of Chicago, we recommend reducing the total percentage of site 
landscaping to 15% with options for relief.   
 
Proposed Amendment Language:  

 
Section 5.03.C: Landscaping in Form-Based Districts 
 

1. 

a. 

In addition to landscape requirements to Section 13.02, the following landscaping 
requirements shall apply:  

b. 

Supplemental to Section 13.02.E.1.a, a minimum of fifteen percent (15%) of the 
site area shall be comprised of landscape material. 

c. 

Landscaping can consist of approved trees, shrubs, ground cover, vines, grasses, 
or other approved plan material.  Up to twenty-five (25%) of the required 
landscape area may be brink, stone, or pavers or other public plaza elements, 
but shall not include any parking area or required sidewalks.   

 

Up to twenty-five (25%) of the required landscape area may be relieved through 
the Sustainable Design Option as outlined in Section 12.01.    

 
7. Section 6.10.C.1 and C.2 (Page 170): Amend Section 6.10.C.1 and C.2 to reduce the width of 

drive-through drive-aisles from 12 feet to 10 feet. 
 
Issue:  The requirement of a 12-foot width for drive-through aisles is not necessary.  First, due to 
adjacent buildings, other cars, and necessities to stop (order menus, pick-up windows, atms, 
tellers booths, etc) cars travel slower through drive-through aisles.  Secondly, all drive-through 
aisles are one way, or separated via striping or curbs.  12-foot wide lanes are only necessary for 
two-way traffic.  Reducing the width from 12-feet to 10-feet will not cause additional traffic 
conflict, will allow additional area for both building or landscaped area, and will have the added 
effect of naturally reducing automobile speed.  The ten (10) foot drive-through aisle width is 
consistent with what was recently passed for bank uses in the Big Beaver form based district.   

 
Proposed Amendment Language:  
 
Section 6.10.C.1 and C.2: 
 
Each drive-through facility shall provide stacking space meeting the following standards: 

1. Each stacking lane shall be one-way, and each stacking lane space shall be a minimum of 
twelve (12) ten (10) feet in width and twenty (20) feet in length. 
 
  

EXAMPLE: LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENT IN FORM-BASED DISTRICT 
Site Area 15% required 

landscaping 
50% of 15% 
of required 
landscaping 
(greenscape) 

25% of 15% of 
required 
landscaping 
(hardscape) 

25% of 15% of required 
landscaping can be relived 
through sustainable design 
option 

100,000 sq/ft 15,000 sq/ft 7,500 sq/ft  3,750 sq/ft 3,750 sq/ft 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
7  P a g e  

8. Add Section 6.31 (Page 170): Add Section 6.31 to allow 1 story multi-family residential uses as 
permitted uses in the IB districts only for conversion of existing buildings.  
 

Issue:  Recognizing that some of the area devoted to manufacturing and industrial uses may be 
outdated and conductive to redevelopment of other uses, the IB District was created.   The IB 
District is intended to continue to recognize more traditional manufacturing and industrial use; 
however encourage redevelopment and reuse of existing buildings and sites by permitting other 
compatible uses.  The IB District recognizes the difficulty of certain sites for redevelopment and 
open up the list of uses accordingly.  As such, the IB District permits a multitude of uses by-right 
ranging from multiple-family residential to shopping centers to light and medium industrial uses.   
 
The current ordinance prevents the construction of one-story multi-family dwelling units. The 
intent of requiring multiple story multi-family structures is to require greater massing and scale.  
However, there are many existing one story buildings in the IB District that could be converted 
into multi-family. The proposed amendment to allow one-story multi-family dwelling units is 
only permitted for existing building in the IB district.   

 
Proposed Amendment Language: 
 
Section 6.31:     Multi-family dwelling units in the IB District.  

A. One-story multi-family dwelling building is a permitted use in the IB district only through 
the conversion of an existing building.    

 
9. Section 7.13.I.4 (Page 199):  Amend the maximum duration for outdoor special events from four 

(4) to seven (7) days.   
 
Issue:  Section 7.13.1.4 limits outdoor special events, such as grand openings and corporate, 
institutional, and community celebrations and fundraising activities, to a maximum of four (4) 
consecutive days.  These four (4) days includes on-site event preparation, setup, and cleanup.  
Often due to on-site event preparation, setup, and cleanup, a maximum of four (4) days is not 
sufficient.  Extending the time allowance from four (4) to seven (7) days would provide the 
necessary time to setup for the event, hold the event, and cleanup.  Extending the time for 
outdoor events would not significantly impact traffic or public facilities (police, fire, etc).   

 
Proposed Amendment Language: 
 
Section 7.13.I.4: 
 
The maximum duration of use shall be four (4) seven (7) consecutive days for any one (1) event, 
including setup and takedown, not to exceed four (4) events within a period of twelve (12) 
calendar months. 
 

10. Section 16.03 (page 313): Add standards for rezoning  
 
Issue:  While there are standards for conditional rezoning as outlined in Section 16.04; there are 
no standards for a straight rezoning outlined in Section 16.03.   The ordinance should include 
standards for the Planning Commission and ultimately the City Council to consider in regards to 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
8  P a g e  

rezoning.   Such standards can include consistency with Master Plan, impact upon public 
facilities, etc. 

 
Proposed Amendment Language: 
 
Section 16.03.C:  Standards for Approval.  A rezoning may only be approved upon a finding and 
determination that all of the following are satisfied: 

 
A. 

1. 

The proposed rezoning is consistent with the Master Plan.  If the current zoning is in 
material conflict with the Master Plan, such conflict is due to one of the following:  

2. 
A change in City policy since the Master Plan was adopted 

3. 
A change in conditions since the Master Plan was adopted. 

B. The proposed rezoning will not cause nor increase any non-conformity.   
An error in the Master Plan. 

C. Public services and facilities affected by a proposed development will be capable of 
accommodating service and facility loads caused by use of the development.  

D. The rezoning will not impact public health, safety, and welfare. 
E. The rezoning will insure compatibility with adjacent uses of land. 

 
11. Single-Family Districts: Amend Frontage requirements  

 
Issue:  There is not a minimum lot frontage requirement for lots in the R-1 districts.  The 
requirement of minimum lot frontage, in combination with minimum lot size, depth, width, and 
setback ensures that newly created lots will be able to comply with all site development 
standards.  Requiring a minimum lot frontage would ensure that the creation of new lots have 
the necessary access with the extension of a road that meets City of Troy requirement.  A lack of 
minimum lot frontage requirement would allow the creation of a new lot by extending the road 
as a driveway.  Furthermore, requiring a minimum lot frontage eliminates the creation of flag 
lots.   

 
Proposed Amendment Language: 
 
• Add Lot Frontage Definition to Article 2: 
 
Lot Frontage: The frontage of any lot shall be the horizontal distance between the side lot lines 
measured between the points where said lot lines intersect the street right-of-way.  Said 
frontage shall be continuous and unbroken and shall be measured along the constructed portion 
of the right-of-way only.   
 
• Amend Table 4.06.C: 
 

Minimum Lot Size Per Dwelling Unit Maximum Height Minimum Yard Setback (R) (Per Lot in 
Feet) 

Minimum 
Floor Area 
Per Unit 
(Square Feet) 

Maximum % 
of Lot Area 
Covered by 
Buildings Use 

District 

Area 
in 

Sq.Ft 
(1) 

Width in 
Ft. (1) 

Frontage 
in Ft. (1) 

In Stories 
(2) 

In Feet 
(2) 

Front Sides Rear 

(3) 
Least 
One 
(4) 

Least 
Two 
(4) 

(5) 

R-1A 
No Sewer 30,000 150 150 2 ½ 

30 
40 15 30 45 1,400 30% 

Sewer 21,780 120 120 2 ½ 40 15 30 45 1,400 30% 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
9  P a g e  

R-1B 
No Sewer 21,780 110 110 2 ½ 

30 
40 15 30 45 1,400 30% 

Sewer 15,000 100 100 2 ½ 40 10 25 45 1,400 30% 
R-1C 
No Sewer 21,780 110 110 2 ½ 

30 
30 15 30 40 1,200 30% 

Sewer 10,500 85 85 2 ½ 30 10 20 40 1,200 30% 
R-1D 
No Sewer 21,780 110 110 2 ½ 

30 
25 15 30 40 1,000 30% 

Sewer 8,500 75 75 2 ½ 25 8 20 40 1,000 30% 
R-1E 
No Sewer 21,780 110 110 2 ½ 

30 
25 15 30 35 1,000 30% 

Sewer 7,500 60 60 2 ½ 25 5 15 35 1,000 30% 

 
• Amended Section 4.06.D Supplemental District Standards to add frontage language 

regarding corner lots and cul-de-sacs: 
 

Section 4.06.D.6:  Lot Frontage on Corner Lots, Curved Roads, and Cul-de-Sacs 
a. On all corner lots, the frontage set forth shall be measured on one (1) street only.   
b. For lots on curved streets that have curvilinear frontages, frontage shall be determined 

by measuring the linear distance along the curve. 
c. In the event that the lot is situated on a cul-de-sac, the frontage, shall be measured 

along the minimum setback line for the zone in which said lot is located.   
 

12. Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations (p.100): Add Extended Stay Facilities as a use to the 
schedule of use regulations.   

 
Issue:  There are a least two extended stay facilities in Troy.  One is controlled by a consent 
judgment, and the other is in the MR, Multiple Family zoned district.  While it is defined in 
Article 2 (Definitions), extended stay facilities are not a listed use in the ordinance.  Previous 
practice considered these facilities most similar to hotel.  However, hotel is not a permitted use 
in the multiple family districts.  Thus this extended stay facility is considered non-conforming.   
 
The table of uses should be amended to add extended stay facilities as a use.    In consideration 
of similar uses, hotel uses is not most appropriate use to compare such use too.   Rather, due to 
similar operations and impacts, these facilities are more similar to multiple-family and 
apartments uses, and should be regulated in a similar manner.   

 
Proposed Amendment Language:  
 

Section 4.21: 
 

 R1-A 
through 
R-1E 

RT MR UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

Multiple Family 
Dwelling Unit (2-
8 stories) 

NP NP P P NP NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP NP NP 

Multiple Family 
Dwelling Unit (9 
stories + )  

NP NP NP P NP NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP NP NP 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
10  P a g e  

Lodging NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S P P NP S NP NP NP 
Extended Stay 
Facility 

NP NP P P NP NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP NP NP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
11  P a g e  

Minor: 
 
1. Section 3.10.C.1.c and d (page 41): Remove mention that the Planning Commission is the 

recommending body for Site Condominiums as the Planning Commission is the approving body, as 
outlined in Section 3.10.C.2. 

 
2. Section 4.07 Table (page 51): Amend “5,000 without sewers “to “5,000 with sewers” and reduce 

side yard to 5’ for least one and 15’ for least two.  Reducing side yard setbacks is consistent with R-
1E lot requirements.   

 
Minimum Lot Size Per Dwelling Unit Maximum Height Minimum Yard Setback  Minimum 

Floor Area 
Per Unit 
(Square 
Feet) 

Maximum % of 
Lot Area Covered 
by Buildings 

Area in 
Sq.Ft (1) 

Width in 
Ft. (1) 

Frontage in 
Ft.  

In 
Stories 

(2) 
In Feet (2) 

Front Sides Rear 
  

(3) 
Least 

One (4) 
Least 

Two (4) 
(5) 

15,000 
without 
sewers 

75 N/A 
2 ½ 

 
30 25 

10  
5 

20 
15 

35 
1,000 

 
30% 

 5,000 
without 
sewers 

40 40 

 
3. Section 4.14 Graphic (page 75): Amend graphic to include an additional building mid-block (no 

substantive change to regulations).  New Graphic:  

 
 
 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
12  P a g e  

4. Section 4.06-4:18 (pgs. 47, 51, 55, 59,65, 71, 53, 75, 79, 83, 87, and 91): Amend all district 
regulation tables so that legend icon is consistent in both graphic and tables.  Example below:  

 

 
 
 
5. Section 4.21 Schedule of Regulations Table (page 98): Amend “R-T” to “RT” 
 
6. Section 4.21 Schedule of Regulations Table (Page 99): Add “P” to Retail, large-format for CB 

district 
 
7. Section 5.03 Form Based Districts Use Groups by Category Table (Page 108): Remove bold 

and underline from “Drive-through facilities” 
 
8. Section 5.04, Section 5.05, and Section 5.06 Form Based District Use Groups Permitted 

Table (Page 133, 143, and 158): Amend “Table 5.03-1” to “Table 5.03-A-1”   
 
9. Section 6.26, Section 6.27, and Section 6.28 (Page 179): Change text color to black for “Vehicle 

Repair”, “Vehicle Sales –New, Used, and Vintage”, and “Vehicle Fueling / Multi-Use Station”  
 
10. Section 6.30.B.2 (Page 182): Amend “Section 6.29.B.1” to “6.30.B.1” 
 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
13  P a g e  

11. Section 10.04.E.2 (Page 225): Amend “Section 10.04.E.2” to refer to “Section 10.04.D”  
 
12. Section 12.04.F.1 and 2.a.i (Page 251): Amend “R-1T” to “RT” 
 
13. Section 13.02 (Page 276): Add the following label to table: “Table 13.02-C: Minimum Size and 

Spacing Requirements for Landscaping Materials” 
 
14. Section 13.05.C.3 (Page 282): Amend Section 13.05.C.3: Amend “in an industrial district where” 

to say “in the IB or PV districts when” 
 
Please contact me if you have any questions.   
 
 

 
  
 



 

  

605 S. Main Street, Ste. 1 
Ann Arbor, MI  48104 
 
(734) 662-2200 
(734) 662-1935 Fax 

 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: R. Brent Savidant, AICP, Planning Director 
 
FROM: Ben Carlisle, AICP 
 
DATE: October 4, 2012 
 
RE: Zoning Ordinance Amendments  
 
 
At the September 25, 2012 meeting the Planning Commission considered twelve (12) substantive and 
fourteen (14) minor amendments changes to the April 2011 adopted Zoning Ordinance.  The Planning 
Commission requested changes to amend language for three (3) of the proposed substantive 
amendments.  This memo is a follow up to that discussion.  Listed below is the revised language to those 
three (3) amendments.  Please refer to our September 19, 2012 memo for details regarding the entire 
list of proposed amendments.  After the Planning Commission considers the following amendments, a 
public hearing will be scheduled.  
 

Substantive Amendments:  
 
1. Section 4.13.D.4.a (CB District Page 72) : Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 

Section 4.14.D.4.a (GB District Page 76) : Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 
Section 4.15.D.4.a (O District Page 84) : Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 
Section 4.18.D.5.a (RC District Page 92) : Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 

 
Previous Planning Commission Consideration:  
 
The Planning Commission agreed that up to 50% of a building’s frontage should be allowed as parking in 
the CB, GB, O, and RC districts.  Furthermore, the Planning Commission felt that in order to exceed the 
50% limitation, applicants can apply for additional parking through the Sustainable Design Option.  The 
Planning Commission felt that the “stick and carrot” approach is appropriate.  In addition, based on 
comments from the Planning Commission, we have amended the language regarding linear building 
frontage to be clearer.  
 
A question that came up while preparing the revisions is: Does the parking area need to be located 
directly in front of the building (i.e. along the building’s linear frontage)?  In other words, if there is at 
least 50% open space in the front yard, does it matter where it is located?  Being less prescriptive would 
give the petitioner the ability to be more creative with site design, and design the parking and open 
space areas more in line with specific needs.  However, requiring that any parking in front of a building 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
2  P a g e  

be adjacent to such building would likely reduce the overall amount of parking in front of the building 
and ensure that parking does not dominate the front façade.   
 
With this in mind, we have provided two options: Option 1 limits parking to within buildings’ linear 
frontage only, Option 2 permits parking anywhere within the front yard.  Both options limit the portion 
of area than can be dedicated to parking.       
 
Proposed Amendment Language Option 1: Parking Permitted in Front of Building Only  
 
Section 4. Off-Street Parking Location. 

 
a. Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 

 
a. No more than fifty (50) percent of a total site’s linear feet along the front building line shall 

be occupied by parking lot.  

b. 

building’s linear frontage that is parallel to a public right-of-way 
shall be occupied by parking.  The remaining fifty (50) percent of a building’s linear frontage 
cannot be striped asphalt but shall be a curbed sidewalk, landscaped area, plaza, outdoor 
dining area, or any combination thereof.     
Through the Sustainable Development Option as set forth in Section 12.01 of the Ordinance, 
relief may be granted to allow greater than fifty (50) percent of a building’s linear frontage 
that is parallel to a public right-of-way as parking

 
.   

Proposed Amendment Language Option 2: Parking Permitted Anywhere In Front Yard:  
 
Section 4. Off-Street Parking Location. 

 
b. Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 

 
c. No more than fifty (50) percent of a total site’s linear feet along the front building line shall 

be occupied by parking lot.  

d. 

building’s front yard may be occupied by parking and entry 
drive.  The remaining fifty (50) percent of a building’s front yard shall be comprised of 
curbed sidewalk, landscaped area, plaza, outdoor dining area, or any combination thereof.     
Through the Sustainable Development Option as set forth in Section 12.01 of the Ordinance, 
relief may be granted to allow greater than fifty (50) percent of a building’s front yard as 
parking

 
.   

 
 

2. Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations Table (Page 101): Reclassify selective automotive 
limited automotive and transportation uses in the IB district from Special to Permitted.  

 
The Planning Commission agreed that certain uses in the Automotive/Transportation category that have 
minimal secondary impacts be allowed by-right.  However, as noted as a goal of the Master Plan, the 
Planning Commission wanted to ensure protection of adjacent single-family residential.  As such, vehicle 
sales will remain a special use and additional provisions were added so that Automobile Uses within 300 
feet of single family residential use or district be required to be reviewed as a special use.   



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
3  P a g e  

Proposed Amendment Language: 
 
Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations Table (Page 101): 
 

Automobile Use IB 
Vehicle, recreational vehicle sales S 
Vehicle repair stations S, P 
Vehicle fueling/multi-use stations S 
Vehicle washes S 
Vehicle auctions S 
Antique and classic vehicle sales S, P 
Ambulance facilities S, P 
Vehicle rental S, P 

 
Section 6.26.F. Vehicle Repair (Page 179): 
 
F. Any proposed vehicle repair use within three hundred (300) feet (measured from the 

nearest lot line to the nearest lot line on a straight-line basis) to any residential 
zoning district or any parcel used for residential purposes shall be reviewed as a 
special use as set forth in Article 9.  
 

Section 6.31. Antique Vehicle Sale, Ambulance Facility, and Vehicle Rental: 
 

A. Any proposed antique vehicle sale, ambulance facility, and vehicle rental use within 
three hundred (300) feet (measured from the nearest lot line to the nearest lot line on a 
straight-line basis) to any residential zoning district or any parcel used for residential 
purposes shall be reviewed as a special use as set forth in Article 9.  
 

3. Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations (p.100) and Section 6.16 Lodging (Page 174): Add 
Extended Stay Facilities as a use to the schedule of use regulations and add Extended Stay Facilities 
to the special use provisions of Lodging Facilities.   

 
The Planning Commission felt that extended stay facilities should be treated more like a hotel/lodging 
use than a multiple family use.  As such, we have amended the following language to mirror the use 
regulations of extended stay similar to hotel uses.   In addition, we recommend amending Section 6.16 
Lodging Facilities special use provisions to add Extended Stay Facilities so that theses uses follow the 
same provisions as lodging facilities.   
 

Proposed Amendment Language:  
 

Section 4.21: 
 

 R1-A 
through 
R1-E 

RT MR UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

Multiple Family 
Dwelling Unit (2-

NP NP P P NP NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP NP NP 



Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
4  P a g e  

8 stories) 
Multiple Family 
Dwelling Unit (9 
stories + )  

NP NP NP P NP NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP NP NP 

Lodging NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S P P NP S NP NP NP 
Extended Stay 
Facility 

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S P P NP S NP NP NP 

 
Section 6.16. Lodging Facilities (Page 174): 
 
SECTION 6.16 LODGING FACILITIES / 
 

EXTENDED STAY FACILITIES 

Lodging that includes a restaurant, bar/lounge, auditorium, exhibition, or public meeting space shall 
provide parking to accommodate all uses on the site, in accordance with the standards set forth in 
Section 13.06. 
 
Please contact me if you have any questions.   
 
 

 
  



     

CITY OF TROY 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND 
CHAPTER 39 OF THE CODE 

OF THE CITY OF TROY 
CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DRAFT 

 
The City of Troy ordains: 
 
Section 1.  Short Title 
 
This Ordinance shall be known and may be cited as an amendment to Chapter 39, Zoning 
Ordinance, of the Code of the City of Troy.  
 
Section 2.  Amendment 
 
Chapter 39 of the Code of the City of Troy is amended as follows: 
 
1.  Amend Section 2.02 to read as follows: 
 

LOT FRONTAGE:  The horizontal distance between the side lot lines measured 
between the points where said lot lines intersect the street right-of-way.  Said 
frontage shall be continuous and unbroken and shall be measured along the 
constructed portion of the right-of-way only.   

 
2.  Add Section 3.02.H to read as follows:  
 

H.  

 

Enforce and interpret the meaning and applicability of all provisions and 
requirements of the ordinance.    

3.  Amend Section 3.10.C.1.c to read as follows: 
 

c. The recommendation of approval to City Council of all preliminary plats 
subdividing land, site condominium plans, planned unit developments,  some 
special use approval applications, and any amendments or alterations 
thereof. 

 
4.  Amend Section 3.10.C.1.e to read as follows  
 

e. Acting as the approval authority on site plans, site condominiums, and most 
special use approval applications. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



5.  Amend Table 4.06.C to read as follows: 
 

Minimum Lot Size Per Dwelling Unit Maximum Height Minimum Yard Setback (R) (Per Lot 
in Feet) 

Minimum 
Floor Area 
Per Unit 
(Square 
Feet) 

Maximum % 
of Lot Area 
Covered by 
Buildings Use 

District 

Area 
in 

Sq.Ft 
(1) 

Width 
in Ft. 
(1) 

Frontage 
in Ft. (1) 

In 
Stories 

(2) 

In 
Feet 
(2) 

Front Sides Rear 

(3) 
Least 
One 
(4) 

Least 
Two 
(4) 

(5) 

R-1A 
No 

Sewer 30,000 150 150 2 ½ 30 40 15 30 45 1,400 30% 

Sewer 21,780 120 120 2 ½ 40 15 30 45 1,400 30% 
R-1B 

No 
Sewer 21,780 110 110 2 ½ 30 40 15 30 45 1,400 30% 

Sewer 15,000 100 100 2 ½ 40 10 25 45 1,400 30% 
R-1C 

No 
Sewer 21,780 110 110 2 ½ 30 30 15 30 40 1,200 30% 

Sewer 10,500 85 85 2 ½ 30 10 20 40 1,200 30% 
R-1D 

No 
Sewer 21,780 110 110 2 ½ 30 25 15 30 40 1,000 30% 

Sewer 8,500 75 75 2 ½ 25 8 20 40 1,000 30% 
R-1E 

No 
Sewer 21,780 110 110 2 ½ 30 25 15 30 35 1,000 30% 

Sewer 7,500 60 60 2 ½ 25 5 15 35 1,000 30% 
 

 
6.  Add Section 4.06.D.6 Supplemental District Standards to read as follows: 

 
6. LOT FRONTAGE ON CORNER LOTS, CURVED ROADS, AND CUL-DE-

SACS: 
 

a. On all corner lots, the frontage set forth shall be measured on one (1) 
street only.   

b. For lots on curved streets that have curvilinear frontages, frontage shall be 
determined by measuring the linear distance along the curve. 

c. In the event that the lot is situated on a cul-de-sac, the frontage, shall be 
measured along the minimum setback line for the zone in which said lot is 
located.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7.  Amend Section 4.06-4:18 so that legend icon is consistent in both graphic and 
tables (eExample below):  
 

 
 
8.  Amend Section 4.07 Table to read:  
 
Minimum Lot Size Per Dwelling 
Unit 

Maximum Height Minimum Yard Setback  Minimum 
Floor 
Area Per 
Unit 
(Square 
Feet) 

Maximum % of 
Lot Area 
Covered by 
Buildings 

Area in 
Sq.Ft 

(1) 

Width in 
Ft. (1) 

Frontage in 
Ft.  

In 
Stories 

(2) 
In Feet (2) 

Front Sides Rear 

  (3) 
Least 
One 
(4) 

Least 
Two 
(4) 

(5) 

15,000 
without 
sewers 

75 N/A 
2 ½ 

 30 25 10 5 20 15 35 1,000 
 

30% 
 5,000 

without 
sewers 

40 40 

 
 
 
 
9.  Amend Section 4.13.D.4.a and b, Section 4.14.D.4.a and b, Section 4.16.D.4.a 

and b, Section 4.18.D.5.a and b to read as follows:  
 



a. Parking shall not be located in the front yard. 
a. No more than fifty (50) percent of the total a site’s linear feet along the 

front building line shall be occupied by parking lot required parking as set 
forth in Section 4.21 may be located in a front yard.

b. 
   

 

Through the Sustainable Development Option as set forth in Section 12.01 
of the Ordinance, relief may be granted to allow greater than fifty (50) 
percent of a site’s required parking to be located in a front yard.     

 
 
10.  Amend Section 4.14 to replace the existing graphic with the following 
graphic:  

 
11.  Amend Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations Table to read as follows:  
 
 

Automobile Use IB 
Vehicle, recreational vehicle 
sales 

S 

Vehicle repair stations S P 
Vehicle fueling/multi-use stations S 
Vehicle washes S 
Vehicle auctions S 
Antique and classic vehicle sales S P 
Ambulance facilities S P 
Vehicle rental S P 

 



12.  Amend Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations to read as follows: 
 

 R1-A 
through 
R1-E 

RT MR UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

Extended Stay 
Facility 

NP NP S S NP NP NP S P P NP S NP NP NP 

 
13.  Amend Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations Table to read as follows: 

 
 R1-A 

through 
R-1E 

RT MR UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

Oil Change 
Facility 

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP P NP 

 
14.  Amend Header for Section 4.21 Schedule of Regulations Table to read as 
follows: 
 

Uses Districts 
 R-1A 

through  
R-1E 

R-1T MR 
RT 

UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

 
15.  Amend Section 4.21 Schedule of Regulations Table to read as follows: 
 

Uses  Districts 

 R-1A 
through 

R-1E 

RT MR UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

Retail,  
Large- 
Format 

              

 

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP N
P 

NP 

 
 
16.  Amend Section 4.21 Schedule of Use Regulations Table to read as follows: 

 
 R1-A 

through 
R-1E 

RT MR UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

Wireless 
Communication 
Facility 
(complies with 
section 
6.30.B.1 ) 

P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P 

Wireless 
Communication 
Facility (free 
standing tower) 

NP NP NP NP NP S NP S S S S S S S S 

 
 



17.  Amend Section 5.03 Form Based Districts Use Group by Category to read as 
follows:  
 

 
TABLE 5.03-A-1 

USE GROUPS BY CATEGORY 
 

PRINCIPAL USE 
Use Group 5 
Retail, Entertainment, and Service Uses: 
Lodging 

Financial institutions 
General retail 
Retail, large-format 
Shopping centers 
Fitness, gymnastics, and exercise centers 
Theatres and places of assembly 
Indoor commercial recreation establishments 
Restaurant 
Personal services 
Business services 

 
18.  Amend Section 5.03 Form Based Districts Use Groups by Category to read as 
follows:  

 
TABLE 5.03-A-1 

USE GROUPS BY CATEGORY 
 

PRINCIPAL USE 
Use Group 6 
Miscellaneous Commercial Uses: 
Building & lumber supply 

Garden centers, nurseries 
Outdoor commercial recreation 
Indoor commercial recreation 
Self-Storage 
Commercial kennels / pet day care 
Drive-through facilities 

 
 
19.  Add Section 5.03.C to read as follows:  
 

C. Landscaping In Form-Based Districts 
 
1. 

a. 

In addition to landscape requirements to Section 13.02, the following 
landscaping requirements shall apply:  

Supplemental to Section 13.02.E.1.a, a minimum of fifteen percent (15%) 
of the site area shall be comprised of landscape material. 



b. 

c. 

Landscaping can consist of approved trees, shrubs, ground cover, vines, 
grasses, or other approved plan material.  Up to twenty-five (25%) of the 
required landscape area may be brink, stone, or pavers or other public 
plaza elements, but shall not include any parking area or required 
sidewalks.   

 

Up to twenty-five (25%) of the required landscape area may be relieved 
through the Sustainable Design Option as outlined in Section 12.01.    

20.  Amend Section 6.10.C.1 to read as follows: 
 
1.  Each stacking lane shall be one-way, and each stacking lane space shall be a 

minimum of twelve (12) ten (10) feet in width and twenty (20) feet in length. 
 
21.  Amend Section 6.16 Lodging to read as follows: 
 

Lodging/Extended Stay Facilities that includes a restaurant, bar/lounge, 
auditorium, exhibition, or public meeting space shall provide parking to 
accommodate all uses on the site, in accordance with the standards set forth in 
Section 13.06. 

 
22.  Add Section 6.26.F. Vehicle Repair to read as follows:  
 

F. Any proposed vehicle repair use within three hundred (300) feet (measured 
from the nearest lot line to the nearest lot line on a straight-line basis) to any 
residential zoning district or any parcel used for residential purposes shall be 
reviewed as a special use as set forth in Article 9.  
 

23.  Amend Section 6.26, Section 6.27, and Section 6.28 (Page 179) to change text 
color from blue to black for “Vehicle Repair”, “Vehicle Sales – New, Used, and 
Vintage”, and “Vehicle Fueling / Multi-Use Station”  

 
24.  Amend Section 6.30.B.2 to read as follows 
 

2. If it is demonstrated by an applicant that a wireless communication facility is 
required to be established outside an area identified in Section 6.29.B.1  
6.30.B.1, then, wireless communication facilities may be applied for 
elsewhere in the City and must follow the district specific criteria and is 
subject to the criteria and standards set forth in this Ordinance. 

 
25.  Add Section 6.31. Antique Vehicle Sale, Ambulance Facility, and Vehicle 

Rental to read as follows:  
 

SECTION 6.31: ANTIQUE VEHICLE SALE, AMBULANCE FACILITY, AND 
VEHICLE RENTAL  

 
A. Any proposed antique vehicle sale, ambulance facility, and vehicle rental use 

within three hundred (300) feet (measured from the nearest lot line to the 
nearest lot line on a straight-line basis) to any residential zoning district or any 



parcel used for residential purposes shall be reviewed as a special use as set 
forth in Article 9.  

 
26.  Add Section 6.32 to read as follows: 

 
SECTION 6.32:     MULTI-FAMILY DWELLING UNITS IN THE IB DISTRICT  
 
A. One-story multi-family dwelling building is a permitted use in the IB district 

only through the conversion of an existing building.    
 
27.  Amend Section 7.13.I.4 to read as follows:   
 

4. The maximum duration of use shall be four (4) seven (7) consecutive days for 
any one (1) event, including setup and takedown, not to exceed four (4) 
events within a period of twelve (12) calendar months. 

 
28.  Amend Section 10.04.E.1 to read as follows:  
 

1.  Overall density shall not exceed the number of residential cluster units 
determined in Section 10.05.D 10.04.D, unless a density bonus has been 
granted by City Council. 

 
29.  Amend Section 12.04.F.1.a to read as follows:   
 

1. Setbacks 
 

a. The distance between a WECS or TMT and the nearest property line shall be 
at least the one and a half (1.5) times the height of the WECS or TMT for all 
zoning districts except R1-A, R1-B, R1-C, R1-D, R-1E, CR-1 and R-1T  RT 
Districts. For R1-A, R1-B, R1-C, R1-D, R-1E, CR-1 and R-1T RT

 

 Districts, the 
distance between a WECS or TMT and the nearest property line shall be at 
least the two (2) times the height of the WECS or TMT. This shall include 
property lines that abut a public right-of-way. 

30.  Amend Section 12.04.F.2.a.i to read as follows:  
 

i.  In R1-C, R1-D, R-1E, CR-1 and R-1T RT Districts, on-site WECS and TMTs 
shall not exceed twenty-five (25) feet in height. 

 
31.  Add Section 13.02 add the following title to Table 13.02-C:  
 

Table 13.02-C: Minimum Size and Spacing Requirements for Landscaping 
 Materials 
 
32.  Amend Section 13.05.C.3:  
 

3.  Height. The maximum height of a base, a pole and fixtures shall be twenty-
five (25) feet. A maximum height of thirty (30) feet may be permitted in an 



industrial district the IB or PV districts where fixtures are no closer than two 
hundred (200) feet to any residential district. 

 
33.  Add Section 16.03.C to read as follows:  

 
C.  Standards for Approval.  A rezoning may only be approved upon a finding and 

determination that all of the following are satisfied: 
 

1. 

 

The proposed rezoning is consistent with the Master Plan.  If the current 
zoning is in material conflict with the Master Plan, such conflict is due to 
one of the following:  

a. 
 
A change in City policy since the Master Plan was adopted 

b. 
 
A change in conditions since the Master Plan was adopted. 

c. 
 

An error in the Master Plan. 

2. The proposed rezoning will not cause nor increase any non-conformity.   
 

3. Public services and facilities affected by a proposed development will be 
capable of accommodating service and facility loads caused by use of the 
development.  
 

4. The rezoning will not impact public health, safety, and welfare. 
 

5. The rezoning will insure compatibility with adjacent uses of land. 
 
 
Section 3.  Savings 
 
All proceedings pending, and all rights and liabilities existing, acquired or incurred, at the 
time this Ordinance takes effect, are hereby saved.  Such proceedings may be 
consummated under and according to the ordinance in force at the time such proceedings 
were commenced.  This ordinance shall not be construed to alter, affect, or abate any 
pending prosecution, or prevent prosecution hereafter instituted under any ordinance 
specifically or impliedly repealed or amended by this ordinance adopting this penal 
regulation, for offenses committed prior to the effective date of this ordinance; and new 
prosecutions may be instituted and all prosecutions pending at the effective date of this 
ordinance may be continued, for offenses committed prior to the effective date of this 
ordinance, under and in accordance with the provisions of any ordinance in force at the 
time of the commission of such offense. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Section 4.  Severability Clause 
 
Should any word, phrase, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance be held invalid 
or unconstitutional, the remaining provision of this ordinance shall remain in full force and 
effect. 
 
Section 5.  Effective Date 
 
This Ordinance shall become effective ten (10) days from the date hereof or upon 
publication, whichever shall later occur. 
 
This Ordinance is enacted by the Council of the City of Troy, Oakland County, Michigan, at 
a regular meeting of the City Council held at City Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver, Troy, MI, on the 
_______ day of _____________, 2013. 
 
 
  ______________________________ 
  Dane Slater, Mayor 
 
 
  ______________________________ 
 Aileen Bittner, City Clerk  
 
 



  PC 2013.01.08 
  Agenda Item # 8 
 

 
 
 
 
DATE: January 4, 2013 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW – Proposed Beachview Estates Site 

Condominium, 8 units/lots, West side of Beach Road, 1000’ South of Long Lake, 
Section 18, Currently Zoned R-1A (One Family Residential) District 

 
 
The petitioner Mondrian Properties initially submitted the above referenced Preliminary Site Plan 
Approval application for an 8-unit site condominium.  The property is currently zoned R-1A (One 
Family Residential) District.  The Planning Commission originally considered this item at the 
June 26, 2012 Special/Study meeting and postponed the item for two weeks for the petitioner to 
come back with an alternate plan that takes into consideration comments made at the meeting.  
The petitioner investigated the One-Family Cluster Option (Section 10.04), but was unable to 
make it work.  Therefore the petitioner seeks approval for an 8-unit site condominium. 
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. (CWA), the City’s Planning 
Consultant, summarizes the project.  CWA prepared the report with input from various City 
departments including Planning, Engineering, Public Works and Fire.  City Management 
supports the findings of fact contained in the report and recommends approval of the project, as 
noted.   
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps 
2. Report from Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 

 
 
cc: Applicant 
 File/Beachview Estates Site Condominium 
 
 
G:\SUBDIVISIONS & SITE CONDOS\Beachview Estates Site Condominium  Sec 18\Preliminary Review PC Memo 01 08 
13.docx 



PROPOSED RESOLUTION 
 
 
PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW – Proposed Beachview Estates Site Condominium, 
8 units/lots, West side of Beach Road, 100’ South of Long Lake, Section 18, Currently 
Zoned R-1A (One Family Residential) District 
 
Proposed Resolution # PC-2013-01- 
Moved by: 
Seconded by: 
 
RESOLVED, That Preliminary Site Condominium Approval, pursuant to Article 8 and 
Section 10.02 of the Zoning Ordinance, as requested for Beachview Estates Site 
Condominium, 8 units/lots, West side of Beach Road, South of Long Lake, Section 18, 
within the R-1A (One Family Residential) District, be granted, subject to the following: 
 

1. Submit a revised Preliminary Site Plan that includes the following revisions: 
a. Reconfigured unit five building footprint. 
b. Identify proposed lot coverage. 
c. Show the required 25’ x 25’ corner clearance on both sides of the new 

intersection of Beachview Court and Beach Road.  
d. Show access drive to the detention basin. 

 
2. Provide a 5-foot wide sidewalk along Beach Road or seek a waiver from the 

Traffic Committee.    
 

3. Obtain all appropriate wetland permits MDEQ, Oakland County Soil Erosion, 
Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner, City of Troy, and any other 
appropriate body prior to final site plan approval. 

 ) or 
 
(denied, for the following reasons:  ) or 
 
(postponed, for the following reasons:  ) 
 
 
Yes: 
No: 
 
MOTION PASSED / FAILED 
 
 



Beachview Estates Site Condominium

4/27/2012

Legend

1: 1,685

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1400281 281Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75
Road Centerline

Major Road
Industrial Road
Local Road

Ponds and Basins
Streams and Creeks
Parcels
Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:    Band_1
Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



Beachview Estates Site Condominium

4/27/2012

Legend

1: 1,685

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1400281 281Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75
Road Centerline

Major Road
Industrial Road
Local Road

Current Zoning Ordinance
(PUD) Planned Unit Development
(CF) Community Facilities District
(EP) Environmental Protection District
(BB) Big Beaver Road (Form Based)
(MRF) Maple Road (Form Based)
(NN) Neighborhood Nodes (A-U)
(CB) Community Business
(GB) General Business
(IB) Integrated Industrial Business District
(O) Office Building District
(OM) Office Mixed Use
(P) Vehicular Parking District
(R-1A) One Family Residential District
(R-1B) One Family Residential District
(R-1C) One Family Residential District
(R-1D) One Family Residential District
(R-1E) One Family Residential District
(RT) One Family Attached Residential District
(MR) Multi-Family Residential
(MHP) Manufactured Housing
(UR) Urban Residential
(RC) Research Center District
(PV) Planned Vehicle Sales

Ponds and Basins
Streams and Creeks
Parcels
Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:    Band_1
Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
April 4, 2012 
PEA Project No. 2011-150 
 
Mondrian Properties 
50215 Schoenher 
Shelby Township, MI 48315 
 
RE: WETLAND DELINEATION 
 BEACHVIEW ESTATES  
 CITY OF TROY, OAKLAND COUNTY, MI 
 
 
On March 28, 2012, Professional Engineering Associates evaluated the subject property for the field 
indicators of the presence of wetlands as defined by the State of Michigan.  Pink wetland survey ribbons 
were used to delineate a wetland boundary on the 5.5 acre site when all three wetland indicators were 
present (wetland hydrology, hydric soils, and hydrophytic vegetation) as defined by USACE wetland 
delineation manual (1987) and the Interim Regional Supplement, Midwest Manual (2008).  
 
The site is located on the west side of Beach Road  between Long Lake and Wattles Roads in the City of 
Troy. The property is undeveloped but previously disturbed. There are areas of rubble and evidence of 
past clearing and grading. The site is currently vegetated including fields at the east end of the site, scrub 
brush and wooded areas at the west end of the site.   
 
At the time of the delineation, one wetland was identified on the property. This wetland consisted of a 
stream that transects the southwest corner of the site. The following report summarizes the 
characteristics of the wetlands on the property as it appeared at the time of the delineation. 
 
WETLAND AREA ‘A’- FLAG # A-1 TO A-4 
 
This wetland is located at the southwest corner of the site and is approximately 2800 sf on the site, but 
extends off the site. It consists of an unnamed stream that has evidence of bed, bank, and flow and the 
fringe area on either side of the stream. On the west side of the stream the wetland extends only to the 
top of bank. On the east side the wetland extends up to 20’ past the top of bank of the stream. The 
stream itself varies in depth from 6” to 24” and exhibited almost no flow on the day of the site inspection. 
The wetland consisted of all three wetland indicators. The hydrology indicators include water stained 
leaves, sediment deposits, saturation, water marks, and surface water.  A soils evaluation revealed 
hydric soil was present (thick dark surface, A12). Hydrophytic vegetation was dominant including box 
elder (Acer negundo), red twig dogwood (Cornus stolonifera), Bluegrass (Poa pratensis). The wetland 
boundary was defined by the change in hydrology. 
 
 
 
 



BEACHVIEW ESTATES APRIL 4, 2012 
CITY OF TROY, MI  PEA PROJECT: 2011-150 
RE: WETLAND DELINEATION PAGE  2 
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo of wetland & stream near sample 
point location at southwest corner of wetland 
 
 
 
 
 
MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY WETLAND REGULATIONS 
 
Wetlands within 500’ of an inland lake, pond, river, or stream, as defined by Part 303 of the Wetlands 
Protection Act are considered a regulated wetland.  
 
Wetlands that are not within 500’ of an inland lake, pond, river, or stream but are more than 5 acres in 
size, are considered regulated wetlands.   
 
The MDEQ reserves the right to regulate wetlands less than 5 acres in size and more than 500 feet from 
an inland lake, pond, river, or stream if the MDEQ has determined that these wetlands are essential to 
the preservation of the State’s natural resources. 
 
The MDEQ requires that any wetland alterations that total over 1/3 of an acre in size must be mitigated. 
The MDEQ can also require mitigation of smaller areas of disturbance, if they believe the wetland to be 
of high environmental significance for habitat or water quality.  The preference of the MDEQ is that 
wetland mitigation takes place on the project property.   
 
 
 



BEACHVIEW ESTATES APRIL 4, 2012 
CITY OF TROY, MI  PEA PROJECT: 2011-150 
RE: WETLAND DELINEATION PAGE  3 
        
 
OPINION OF REGULATORY STATUS 
 
Many factors influence the extent of a wetland boundary, including weather patterns, drainage, changes 
in vegetation, and activities on the site or on adjacent properties at the time of the investigation.  The 
wetland observations completed by PEA for the subject parcel are based on the conditions of the site at 
the time of our investigation and current policy regarding the procedures used to delineate wetlands. 
 
Please be advised that the MDEQ, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency regulate wetlands and ultimately reserve final judgment on the extent of wetlands on 
any given site. The determination of a wetland on a specific site can vary depending on the conditions 
offered above, as well as on the agency representative conducting the determination, and current 
wetland regulations.   
 
The following regulatory status of the wetlands is the opinion of Professional Engineering Associates, 
Inc. based on the field conditions at the time of the wetland delineation and verification on March 28 , 
2012.  
 
Wetland Area ‘A’ - Regulated due to its location within 500’ of a stream 
  
 
 
Prepared by: 
 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 
Jeffrey T. Smith, RLA, LEED A.P. 
Senior Landscape Architect 
 

 







 
 
 

 Date:  June 14, 2012 
 December 27, 2012 

 
 

Site Condominium Review 
For 

City of Troy, Michigan 
 
 
 
 
Applicant: Joe Maniaci 
 
Project Name: Beachview Estates 
 
Plan Date: December 14, 2012 
 
Location: West side of Beach Road, south of W. Long Lake Road  
 
Zoning: R1-A, One-family Residential District 
 
Action Requested: Site Condominium Approval 
 
Required Information: Deficiencies noted 
 
 
PROJECT AND SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
We are in receipt of a site condominium application which includes a site plan, landscape plan, 
topographic survey, tree preservation plan, wetlands letter, and application forms.  The 5.3 acre site is 
currently unimproved and encumbered with regulated a wetland and tree cover.  
 
The applicant is resubmitting their 8-unit conventional layout single family detached site condominium 
project that was first introduced in June.  In previous submittals, the applicant had submitted a 10-unit 
redesign as a “Cluster” development; however that development option has been removed by the 
applicant.   The proposed 8-unit residential use is permitted by right in the R-1A District. 
 
 



Beachview Estates 
December 27, 2012 

2 

 
Location of Subject Property: 
West side of Beach Road, south of W. Long Lake Road. 
 
 
 

 
 
Size of Subject Property: 
The parcel is 5.3 net acres in area. 
 
Proposed Uses of Subject Parcel: 
Eight (8) detached, single family homes.     
 
Current Use of Subject Property: 
The subject property is currently vacant. 
 
Current Zoning: 
The property is currently zoned R-1A, One-family Residential District.  
 
Surrounding Property Details: 
 

Direction Zoning Use 
North  R-1A, One-family Residential District. Single-family homes 
South R-1A, One-family Residential District. Single-family homes 
East R-1B, One-family Residential District Single-family homes 
West R-1A, One-family Residential District. Single-family homes 

Approximate Location of Site Development  



Beachview Estates 
December 27, 2012 

3 

 

SITE ARRANGEMENT 
 

The proposed site condominium consists of 8-units with lot sizes ranging between 19,605 square feet 
and 29,584 square feet.  The average lot size is 21,819 square feet.   The layout proposed by the 
applicant is a conventional cul-de-sac layout and allows for a simple distribution of the eight (8) units 
over the property.  Access to all units will be via a new public street off Beach Road.    The southwest 
corner of the site will be used for stormwater management.   
 
The proposed lots are regular in shape, allow for adequate setbacks, and permit sufficient space for the 
homes and ingress and egress for each unit. The applicant is applying the lot size averaging option, 
permitted and regulated by Section 10.01.  All proposed average lot width and average lot areas are 
within the permitted range described by Section 10.01.  
 
Items to be Addressed: None.   
 
AREA, WIDTH, HEIGHT, SETBACKS 
 
Required and Provided Dimensions: 
Table 4.06.C establishes the requirements for the R-1A District. The requirements and the proposed 
dimensions are as follows: 
 

*The lot size average option has been applied and Section 10.02 standards have been met. 
 
The house footprint exceeds the building envelope on unit 5. It should be removed and replaced with a 
house designed to meet setbacks.  While the applicant appears to comply with the maximum lot area 

  Required: Provided: Compliance: 

Front 40 foot setback 40 foot setback Complies 

Rear 45 foot setback Lot Five has 28 foot setback Building footprint 
for Lot 5 
encroaches into 
rear yard setback 

Side 15 foot minimum for least 
side setback, 30 foot 
minimum combined setback 

15 foot minimum for least 
side setback, 30 foot 
minimum combined setback 

Complies 

Lot Size per Unit 21,780 square feet (for 
projects with sewer) 

19,605 square feet smallest* 
21,818 square feet average 

Complies 

Maximum Height 30 feet, 2.5 story 29 feet, 6 inches Complies  

Lot Width 120 feet 108 feet smallest*,                             
124 feet average 

Complies 

Maximum Lot Area 
Covered by Buildings 

30 percent Not identified Not enough 
information 

Minimum Floor Area 
per Unit 

1,400 square feet + 3,000 square feet Complies 



Beachview Estates 
December 27, 2012 

4 

covered by buildings, detailed calculations have not been provided.  The applicant should confirm these 
calculations as part of the final site plan submittal.  
 
Items to be addressed: 1). Reconfigure lot five building footprint; and 2). Identify maximum proposed lot 
area covered by buildings.   
 
SITE ACCESS AND CIRCULATION 
 
Vehicular access: 
 
Access to all eight (8) lots will be from a newly constructed private road off Beach Road aptly named 
“Beachview Court”.  The proposed Beachview Court meets all public road requirements; however the 
City Traffic Engineering Department notes that: 

1. The applicant shall show and maintain the 25’ x 25’ corner clearance on both sides of the new 
intersection of Beachview Court and Beach Road. 

2. Show an access drive to the detention basin. 
 
Pedestrian access:  
 
The applicant is providing a 5-foot wide sidewalk along the entire length of the newly created Beachview 
Court. In previous submittals, the applicant did show a 5-foot wide sidewalk along Beach Road.  This 
sidewalk has been removed.  If they are not providing a sidewalk they must seek a waiver from the 
Traffic Committee.     
 
Items to be Addressed:   1). Show the required 25’ x 25’ corner clearance on both sides of the new 
intersection of Beachview Court and Beach Road; 2). Show an access drive to the detention basis; and 3).  
Provide a 5-foot wide sidewalk along Beach Road or seek a waiver from the Traffic Committee.    
 
 
NATURAL RESOURCES 
 
The subject property is currently unimproved and is encumbered with one regulated wetland and tree 
stands.  
 
Wetlands:  
 
Wetland “A” is located in the southwest corner of the lot, adjacent to the area proposed for stormwater 
management.  Based a submitted letter from Professional Engineering Associates, Wetland “A” is a 
regulated wetland due to its location within 500’ of a stream.  As a result, the applicant is required to 
take the appropriate measures to protect this wetland.  Prior to final site plan approval the applicant is 
required to receive the appropriate permits from MDEQ, Oakland County Soil Erosion, Oakland County 
Water Resources Commissioner, City of Troy, and any other appropriate body.    
 
Trees:  
 
The applicant has provided a tree preservation plan which notes that outside of a few select trees in the 
southeast corner of the site, select trees within the parkway, and trees preserved subject to selective 
clearance by the builder, all site trees will be removed.  The applicant has removed the proposed 



Beachview Estates 
December 27, 2012 

5 

retaining wall along the southern property line.  Eliminating the retaining wall will allow the preservation 
of a 41-inch Red Oak.  We encourage the applicant to selectively clear only those trees necessary and 
attempt to preserve as many significant trees as possible.  
 
Items to be Addressed: 1.) Obtain all appropriate wetland permits from MDEQ, Oakland County Soil 
Erosion, Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner, City of Troy, and any other appropriate body 
prior to final site plan approval. 
 
LANDSCAPING 
 
The Landscape Plan includes thirty-three (33) Norway Spruces to be planted as screening along Beach 
Road and a combination of six (6) Sugar Maples, eight (8) Cleveland Pear, and five (5) Red Oak along the 
newly created Beachview Court.  All proposed species fall within Troy regulations and are not 
prohibited. 
 
Though not required by ordinance, the applicant has shown the installation of twenty (20) Norway 
Spruces along the southern property line as part of an agreement with the adjacent property owner.   
 
Site condominium and subdivision landscaping are regulated by Section 13.02.F.2.  
 
 Required: Provided: Compliance: 

Frontage Screening  
 
 

Beach Road: One 
evergreen tree for 
every 10 lineal feet = 33 
trees 

20 new Spruce and 1 
existing Scotch Pine 

Complies 

Greenbelt Street Trees Beachview Court: 1 tree 
for every 50 linear feet 
= 19 trees 

19 streets (6 Sugar 
Maples, 8 Cleveland 
Pear, and 5 Red Oak)  

Complies 

 
The applicant has provided the required evergreen screen along Beach Road and the required greenbelt 
planting along Beachview Court.  The applicant complies with all landscaping requirements.   
 
Items to be Addressed: None 
 
STORMWATER DETENSION 
 
The applicant’s stormwater detention will connect to a storm sewer approximately 240 feet south of the 
site through the adjacent southern property.  The applicant has received an easement from the adjacent 
south side property owner.    
 
Items to be Addressed:  none 
 
SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
Section 10.02.C requires that all site condominium projects shall comply with the standards and 
procedures set forth in Article 8, Site Plan Review and several unique standards.  The only standard for 
the preliminary plan is that the street pattern and fully dimensioned residential parcel layout, including 



Beachview Estates 
December 27, 2012 

6 

proposed building configurations, as well as preliminary sanitary sewer, storm sewer, and water main 
layout must also be submitted.  This submittal includes all the required information, with the exception 
of the proposed building configurations.  No building information is provided with this submittal. 
 
Section 10.02.E. regulates physical improvements associated with condominium projects.  It requires the 
following:  
 
1. Principal access and circulation through a site condominium shall be provided by public streets 
constructed to City standards, within sixty (60) foot wide rights-of-way. Secondary access and circulation 
through such developments, on which some of the residential parcels may have their sole frontage, may 
be provided by twenty-eight (28) foot wide streets constructed to City public street standards, within 
forty (40) foot private easements for public access. Satisfied. 
 
2. Principal access to site condominium of five (5) acres or less in area may be provided by way of 
twenty-eight (28) foot wide streets constructed to City public street standards, within forty (40) foot 
private easements for public access, when in the opinion of the City Council the property configuration is 
such that the provision of conforming dwelling unit parcels is impractical. Not applicable. 
 
3. All entrances to major or secondary thoroughfares shall include deceleration, acceleration and passing 
lanes as required by Engineering Standards of the City of Troy. Not applicable. 
 
4. Sidewalks shall be constructed, in accordance with City Standards, across the frontage of all dwelling 
unit parcels. Utilities shall be placed within street rights-of-way, or within easements approved as to size 
and location by the City Engineer. Satisfied. 
 
5. All shall be served by public water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer and detention/retention systems 
constructed to City standards, at the expense of the developer. Easements over these systems shall be 
conveyed and recorded before occupancy permits are issued for dwelling units. The applicant has 
proposed full utilities, but all proposed configurations and easements are subject to approval by the 
City engineering department. 
 
As noted above, all condominium projects are subject to Section 8.05.A.7, which establishes the 
requirements for a preliminary site plan submittal, which is required under the site condominium 
regulations.  Three additional requirements are specifically identified for residential projects. The three 
additional requirements, identified in 8.05.A.7.o, include: 
 
i. Calculation of the dwelling unit density allowable and a statement of the number of dwelling units, by 
type, to be provided. Satisfied. 
 
ii. Topography on site and fifty (50) feet beyond, drawn at two (2) foot contour intervals, with existing 
drainage courses, flood plains, wetlands, and tree stands indicated. Satisfied. 
 
iii. The typical floor plans and elevations of the proposed buildings, with building height(s). Satisfied. 
 
Items to be Addressed: none 
 
 



Beachview Estates 
December 27, 2012 

7 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
We support the proposed project and believe the project meets ordinance requirements.   Most of the 
items that need to be further addressed by the applicant are engineering and utility related, which are 
worked out through the final engineering process.  As such, we recommend that the Planning 
Commission approve the preliminary site condominium application, as conditioned on the applicant 
satisfying the following requirements as part of the final site plan submittal: 

1. Reconfigure lot five building footprint. 
2. Identify proposed lot coverage. 
3. Show the required 25’ x 25’ corner clearance on both sides of the new intersection of Beachview 

Court and Beach Road.  
4. Show access drive to the detention basin. 
5. Provide a 5-foot wide sidewalk along Beach Road or seek a waiver from the Traffic Committee.    
6. Obtain all appropriate wetland permits MDEQ, Oakland County Soil Erosion, Oakland County 

Water Resources Commissioner, City of Troy, and any other appropriate body prior to final site 
plan approval. 
 

 
























	1. ROLL CALL
	2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	December 11, 2012 Regular Meeting

	4. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	5. PUBLIC HEARING – CONDITIONAL REZONING APPLICATION (File Number CR 008)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps (2)
	City of Troy Master Plan (pgs 13-20)
	Planning Consultant Report 01/02/2013 (pgs 21-34) 
	Planning Consultant Report 05/10/2012 (pgs 35-38 ) 
	Correspondence to Burt Kassab, 04/10/2012
	Minutes of Planning Commission, 05/22/2012
	Public Comment (2)
	Site Plan Application

	6. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SU 398)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps (2)
	Planning Consultant Report
	Site Plan Application

	7. PUBLIC HEARING – ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number ZOTA 244)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Planning Consultant Report dated 09/19/2012
	Planning Consultant Report dated 10/04/2012
	Public Hearing Draft

	8. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps (2)
	Wetlands Report
	Planning Consultant Report 12/27/2012
	Site Plan Application 

	9. ELECTION OF OFFICERS FOR 2013
	10. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	11. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS

	Series: 
	Color/Lumens: 
	Aperture/Trim: 
	Finish: 
	Voltage: 
	Driver: 
	Options: 
	Catalog Number: 
	Notes: 
	Type: 
	Lumen output: 
	Color temperature: 
	Reflector: 
	Accessories: 
	Catalog Number2: 
	Notes2: 
	Type2: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 
	4: 
	5: 
	Text1: 
	Text2: 
	Text3: 
	Text4: 
	Text5: 
	Text6: 
	Text7: 
	Text8: 
	Text9: 
	Text10: 
	Button 38: 
	Page 169: 
	Page 121: 

	Button 39: 
	Page 169: 
	Page 121: 

	Button 36: 
	Page 172: 
	Page 122: 

	Button 37: 
	Page 172: 
	Page 122: 



